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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) summarizes Concordia International Corp.’s (formerly known as 
Concordia Healthcare Corp.) (“Concordia” or the “Company”, or “we” or “us” or “our”) consolidated operating results and cash flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the Company’s balance sheets as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. The MD&A was 
prepared as of March 15, 2017 and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto 
as at and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. Financial information in this MD&A is prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and amounts are stated in 
thousands of U.S. Dollars, which is the reporting currency of the Company, unless otherwise noted. The significant exchange rates used in 
the translation to the reporting currency are:

US$ per Great British pound (£)
As at, and for the periods ended Spot Average
October 21 to December 31, 2015 1.4745 1.5042
January 1, 2016 to March 31, 2016 1.4395 1.4321
April 1, 2016 to June 30, 2016 1.3395 1.4354
July 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016 1.3008 1.3136
October 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 1.2305 1.2438

Certain prior period financial information has been presented to conform to the current period presentation.

Some of the statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities 
legislation and forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
(collectively, “forward-looking statements”).  See “Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of certain risks, uncertainties, and 
assumptions relating to forward-looking statements. Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual 
Information Form, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.  The results of operations, business prospects 
and financial condition of Concordia will be affected by, among other things, the “Risk Factors” set out in Concordia’s Annual Information 
Form dated March 15, 2017 available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, Concordia’s Annual Report on form 40-F and other documents filed 
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), available on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

Certain measures used in this MD&A do not have any standardized meaning under IFRS.  When used, these measures are defined in such 
terms as to allow the reconciliation to the closest IFRS measure.  See “Results of Operations”, "Selected Annual Financial Information", 
“Selected Quarterly Financial Information”,  and “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 

Forward-looking Statements
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute “forward looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws (collectively, 
“forward-looking statements”), which are based upon the current internal expectations, estimates, projections, assumptions and beliefs of 
the Company’s management (“Management”). Statements concerning the Company’s objectives, goals, strategies, intentions, plans, beliefs, 
assumptions, projections, predictions, expectations and estimates, and the business, operations, future financial performance and condition of 
the Company are forward-looking statements. This MD&A uses words such as “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “intend”, “may”, 
“will”, “would”, “could”, “plan”, “create”, “designed”, “predict”, “project”, “seek”, “ongoing”, “increase”, “upside” and similar expressions 
and the negative and grammatical variations of such expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-
looking statements contain these identifying words. Such forward-looking statements reflect the current beliefs of Management based on 
information currently available to them, and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. These statements are not guarantees 
of future performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ 
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. In addition, this MD&A may contain forward-looking statements attributed 
to third-party industry sources. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks and uncertainties, both general and 
specific, that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts, projections or other characterizations of future events or circumstances 
that constitute forward-looking statements will not occur. Such forward-looking statements in this MD&A speak only as of the date of this 
MD&A. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 
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• the ability of the Company to compete against companies that are larger and have greater financial, technical and human resources 
than that of the Company, as well as other competitive factors, such as technological advances achieved, patents obtained and new 
products introduced by competitors;

• the performance of the Company’s business and operations;
• the Company’s capital expenditure programs;
• the future development of the Company, its growth strategy and the timing thereof;
• the acquisition strategy of the Company;
• the Company’s ability to achieve all of the estimated synergies from its acquisitions as a result of cost reductions and/or integration 

initiatives;
• the estimated future contractual obligations of the Company;
• the Company’s future liquidity and financial capacity;
• the Company's ability to satisfy its financial obligations in future periods;
• the supply and market changes in demand for pharmaceutical products within the Company’s portfolio of pharmaceutical products;
• cost and reimbursement of the Company’s products;
• expectations regarding the Company’s ability to raise capital;
• the availability and extent to which the Company’s products are reimbursed by government authorities and other third party payors, 

as well as the impact of obtaining or maintaining such reimbursement on the price of the Company’s products;
• changes in regulatory rules or practices in the U.S., United Kingdom or in other jurisdictions in which the Company sells products;
• the inclusion of the Company’s products on formularies or the Company’s ability to achieve favourable formulary status, as well as 

the impact on the price of the Company’s products in connection therewith; and 
• the acquisition, in-licensing and/or launch of new products including, but not limited to, the acceptance and demand for new 

pharmaceutical products, and the impact of competitive products and prices.

With respect to the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A, the Company has made assumptions regarding, among other factors:

• the ability of the Company to comply with its contractual obligations, including, without limitation, its obligations under debt 
arrangements;

• the successful licensing of products to third parties or to the Company, as applicable, to market and distribute such products on terms 
favourable to the Company;

• the ability of the Company to maintain key partnerships, and licensing and partnering arrangements, now and in the future; 
• the ability of the Company to maintain its distribution networks and distribute its products effectively despite significant geographical 

expansion;
• the general regulatory environment in which the Company operates, including the areas of taxation, environmental protection, 

consumer safety and health regulation;
• the tax treatment of the Company and its subsidiaries and the materiality of legal proceedings;
• the timely receipt of any required regulatory approvals;
• the general economic, financial, market and political conditions impacting the industry and countries in which the Company operates;
• the ability of the Company to sustain or increase profitability, fund its operations with existing capital, and/or raise additional capital 

to fund its operations or future acquisitions;
• the ability of the Company to meet its financial forecasts and projections over the next twelve months and beyond;
• the ability of the Company to acquire or in-license any necessary technology, products or businesses and effectively integrate such 

acquisitions or such in-licensed technology or products;
• the development and clinical testing of products under development;
• the ability of the Company to obtain necessary approvals for commercialization of the Company’s products from the U.S. Food and 

Drug Administration (“FDA”), the U.K. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, the EMA or other regulatory 
authorities;

• future currency exchange and interest rates;
• reliance on third party contract manufacturers to manufacture the Company’s products on favourable terms;
• the ability of the Company to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and to access existing and proposed credit facilities and 

the capital markets to meet its future obligations on acceptable terms;
• potential competition to the Company’s pharmaceutical products;
• the availability of raw materials and finished products necessary for the Company’s products;
• the impact of increasing competition;
• the impact of the entry of competitive products, including the timing of the entry of such products in the market place;
• the ability of the Company to obtain and retain qualified staff, equipment and services in a timely and efficient manner;
• the ability of the Company to maintain and enforce the protection afforded by any patents or other intellectual property rights;
• the ability of the Company to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner; 
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• the results of continuing and future safety and efficacy studies by industry and government agencies related to the Company’s 
products; 

• the ability of the Company to retain members of the senior management team, including but not limited to, the officers of the 
Company;

• the ability of the Company to successfully market its products and services; 
• the impact of the United Kingdom's referendum through which voters supported a proposal to withdraw from the European Union. 

A significant portion of the Company’s business is in the United Kingdom pharmaceutical industry and a significant portion of the 
Company's contract manufacturers are in mainland Europe.  The United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union could result in 
a number of developments, including, without limitation, regulatory changes in the pharmaceutical industry, cross-border tariff and 
cost structure changes or loss of access to European Union global trade markets.  Therefore, the United Kingdom’s exit from the 
European Union could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, the United Kingdom's exit from the European Union may result in a period of uncertainty while the terms of such exit are 
being negotiated; and

• the Company’s operating results, financial condition and financial forecasts may fluctuate from period to period for a number of 
reasons, including as a result of events or occurrences disclosed in the Company’s public filings (including, without limitation, under 
the heading “Risk Factors” in the Annual Information Form dated March 15, 2017).  As a result, the Company believes that quarter-
to-quarter comparisons of results from operations or financial forecasts, or any other similar period-to-period comparisons, should 
not be construed as reliable indicators of the Company’s future performance. The events or occurrences described in the Company’s 
public filings, including, without limitation, under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Annual Information Form dated March 15, 
2017, may cause the Company’s operating results and/or financial forecasts to fluctuate and such events or occurrences could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In any period, the Company’s 
results may be below the expectations of market analysts and investors, which could cause the trading price of the Company’s 
common shares to decline.

Forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based on the key assumptions described herein. Readers are cautioned that such 
assumptions, although considered reasonable by the Company, may prove to be incorrect. Actual results achieved during the forecast period 
will vary from the information provided in this MD&A as a result of numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other factors. 
The Company cannot guarantee future results.

Risks related to forward-looking statements include those risks referenced herein and in the Company’s other filings with the Canadian 
Securities Regulators and the SEC. Some of the risks and other factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed 
in the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, the risk factors described herein and included under 
the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Information Form dated March 15, 2017, which is available on SEDAR, online at 
www.sedar.com and on EDGAR, online at www.sec.gov.

Forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based on Management’s current plans, expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs 
and opinions and the assumptions relating to those plans, expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions may change. Management 
has included the summary of assumptions and risks related to forward-looking statements included in this MD&A for the purpose of assisting 
the reader in understanding Management’s current views regarding those future outcomes. Readers are cautioned that this information 
may not be appropriate for other purposes. Readers are cautioned that the lists of assumptions and risk factors contained herein are 
not exhaustive.  Neither the Company nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the forward-
looking statements contained herein.

Such forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this MD&A and the Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update 
publicly any such forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise, other than as 
required by applicable securities laws. 

All of the forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements and other cautionary 
statements or factors contained herein, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments will be realized or, even 
if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on, the Company.

Actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, any forward-looking statement 
in this MD&A, and, accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statement.  New factors emerge from 
time to time and the importance of current factors may change from time to time and it is not possible for Management to predict all of such 
factors, or changes in such factors, or to assess in advance the impact of each such factors on the business of Concordia or the extent to which 
any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement 
contained in this MD&A.

Refer to the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Lending Arrangements and Debt" sections of this MD&A for a further discussion on 
the Company's financial position, liquidity and future outlook.
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Trademarks
This MD&A includes trademarks that are protected under applicable intellectual property laws and are the property of  Concordia or its affiliates 
or its licensors. Solely for convenience, the trademarks of Concordia, its affiliates and/or its licensors referred to in this MD&A may appear 
with or without the ® or TM symbol, but such references or the absence thereof are not intended to indicate, in any way, that the Company 
or its affiliates or licensors will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their respective rights to these trademarks. Any other 
trademarks used in this MD&A are the property of their respective owners.
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Business Overview and Segments
Concordia is an international specialty pharmaceutical company, owning or licensing, through its subsidiaries, a diversified portfolio of branded 
and generic prescription products. Concordia has three reportable operating segments, which consist of Concordia North America, Concordia 
International and Orphan Drugs, in addition to its Corporate cost centre. 

The registered and head office of the Company is located at 277 Lakeshore Rd. East, Suite 302, Oakville, Ontario, L6J 1H9. The Company’s 
records office is located at 333 Bay St., Suite 2400, Toronto, Ontario, M56 2T6. The Company’s common shares are listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “CXR” and on the NASDAQ Global Select Market® under the symbol “CXRX”.

Concordia North America
The Concordia North America segment has a diversified product portfolio that focuses primarily on the United States pharmaceutical market. 
These products include, but are not limited to, Donnatal® for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome; Zonegran® for the treatment of partial 
seizures in adults with epilepsy; Nilandron® for the treatment of metastatic prostate cancer; Lanoxin® for the treatment of mild to moderate 
heart failure and atrial fibrillation; and Plaquenil® for the treatment of lupus and rheumatoid arthritis. Concordia North America’s product 
portfolio consists of branded-products and authorized generic contracts. The segment’s products are manufactured and sold through an out-
sourced production and distribution network.

Concordia International
Concordia International is comprised of the Concordia International (Jersey) Limited (formerly known as Amdipharm Mercury Limited) group 
of companies ("Concordia International") acquired by Concordia on October 21, 2015, which consists of a diversified portfolio of branded 
and generic products that are sold to wholesalers, hospitals and pharmacies in over 90 countries. Concordia International specializes in the 
acquisition, licensing and development of off-patent prescription medicines, which may be niche, hard to make products. The segment’s over 
200 products are manufactured and sold through an out-sourced manufacturing network and marketed internationally through a combination 
of direct sales and local distribution relationships.  Concordia International mainly operates outside of the North American marketplace.

Orphan Drugs
The Orphan Drugs segment's primary focus is its sole product Photofrin®, that has FDA approval and orphan drug status in respect of esophageal 
cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett’s esophagus. In addition, Photofrin® is FDA approved for the treatment of non-small cell lung 
cancer. Concordia's Orphan Drug segment uses a third party supply chain to produce and distribute Photofrin®, except for distribution in the 
U.S. territory, which distribution is completed by an affiliate of the Company. The Company is currently focusing on the use of Photofrin® 
for the treatment of lung cancer in line with its approved indication.

Corporate 
The Corporate cost centre represents certain centralized costs including costs associated with the Company's head office in Canada and costs 
associated with being a public reporting entity. 
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Recent Events
Senior Secured Notes Offering
On October 13, 2016, the Company issued $350 million of Senior Secured First Lien Notes at par (the “Secured Notes”). The Secured Notes 
have a term of five and a half years maturing on April 1, 2022. The Secured Notes bear an interest rate of 9% per annum paid semi-annually. 
Refer to the "Lending Arrangements and Debt" section of this MD&A for further detail on the Secured Notes.

Cross Currency Swaps
On August 17, 2016, the Company entered into a cross currency swap agreement (the "August Swap Agreement") in order to reduce the 
Company’s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations between the Great British pound (“GBP” or “£”) and the US dollar (“USD”). The pay fixed 
GBP / receive fixed USD cross currency swap has a principal amount of USD$382 million and effectively converts this amount of Concordia’s 
USD debt obligations into a GBP obligation in the amount of approximately GBP 297 million. The maturity date of the August Swap Agreement 
is April 15, 2023.

On November 3, 2016, the Company entered into a second cross currency swap agreement (the "November Swap Agreement") in order to 
reduce the Company’s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations between GBP and the USD. The pay fixed GBP / receive fixed USD cross 
currency swap has a principal amount of USD$350 million and was entered into to effectively convert Concordia’s USD debt obligation 
associated with the Secured Notes into a GBP obligation in the amount of approximately GBP 287 million. The maturity date of the November 
Swap Agreement is April 1, 2022.

Asset Impairments
During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company recorded total impairments of $562,105, of which $306,938 related to its North America 
segment product portfolio and $255,167 related to its International segment product portfolio.  The International segment impairment included 
$196,697 related to its acquired product rights and manufacturing processes and $58,470 related to acquired in-process research and 
development ("IPR&D") from a business combination where certain projects have either been abandoned or there are updated forecasts 
reflecting changes in the competitive environment.  

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company recorded impairments of $567,076 related to certain intangible asset product rights associated 
with its North America segment.

Refer to the "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this MD&A for further details of the impairments.

Management and Board of Director Change
On November 2, 2016, the Company announced that its board of directors (the "Board") appointed Allan Oberman as the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company and appointed Jordan Kupinsky as the non-executive Chairman of the Board. The new appointments were effective 
November 8, 2016.

On December 28, 2016, the Company announced that the President of the Concordia International segment, John Beighton, would retire from 
his management position, but would continue to act as a member of the board of directors of a significant subsidiary within the Concordia 
International segment, where he would continue to be available to provide strategic advice to the Company's international business. The 
Managing Director for the Concordia International segment, Graeme Duncan, replaced Mr. Beighton becoming President of the Concordia 
International segment effective January 1, 2017.

UK's Health Service Medical Supplies (Costs) Bill
On September 16, 2016, Concordia announced the introduction of the Health Service Medical Supplies (Costs) Bill (the "Bill") into the U.K. 
House of Commons. The Bill would amend and extend existing provisions of the National Health Service Act 2006 to help manage the cost 
of health service medicines. The Company continues to monitor the Bill and evaluate its timing and impact on its business. 

Dividend Suspension 
On August 11, 2016, the Board unanimously agreed to suspend the $0.075 dividend per common share, payable quarterly. The Company 
believes that the capital used to make such dividend payments can be better allocated towards long-term value-creating initiatives or debt 
repayment.

Business Impact in Relation to Brexit
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On June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom held a referendum and voted to withdraw from the European Union ("Brexit"). The Company's 
Concordia International segment has significant operations within the United Kingdom and other parts of the European Union, and therefore 
continues to monitor developments related to the outcome of Brexit, including the impact resulting from currency market movements. Refer 
to the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Lending Arrangements and Debt" sections of this MD&A for further details on the Company's 
current assessment of the foreign currency impact to the Company's financial operations as a result of the Brexit vote. In addition, please refer 
to the "Risk Factors" section of the Company's Annual Information Form dated March 15, 2017.

Product Acquisitions
On May 12, 2016, Concordia International, through certain of its subsidiaries, entered into an agreement to acquire four products and the 
associated global product rights (the "Products Acquisition"). The products acquired included Sodium Feredetate oral solution for the treatment 
of anemia, Trazadone oral solution for the treatment of depression, and antihistamine Alimemazine oral solution and tablets. The Company 
paid £21 million, funded through cash on hand on closing of the Products Acquisition. In addition, £7 million in earn-out payments based on 
certain performance and supply targets were accrued at December 31, 2016 and subsequently were paid on February 6, 2017. The transaction 
closed on June 1, 2016.

Corporate Name Change 
At the annual general and special meeting of shareholders of the Company held on April 29, 2016, shareholders of the Company approved 
the name change of the Company from "Concordia Healthcare Corp." to "Concordia International Corp.", which name change was effected 
by the Company on June 27, 2016. The name change is a part of the rebranding of the Company, given the growth and portfolio diversification 
of Concordia which operates internationally in over 90 countries. 

The Amdipharm Mercury Limited Acquisition
On October 21, 2015 (the “Closing Date”) the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, completed the acquisition of 100% of the 
outstanding shares of Amdipharm Mercury Limited (the “Concordia International Acquisition”) from Cinven, a European private equity 
firm, and certain other sellers (collectively the “Vendors”). For a description of Concordia International, please see “Business Overview and 
Segments – Concordia International” section of this MD&A.

The Concordia International Acquisition provided Concordia with a diversified portfolio of more than 190 off-patent products, entry into new 
therapeutic areas such as endocrinology, ophthalmology and urology, and an international platform with access to over 90 countries.

Concordia, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired Concordia International for total consideration of $3.12 billion including cash 
consideration of approximately £800 million (with a value on the closing date of $1.24 billion), 8.49 million common shares of the Company 
(with a value on the closing date of $230.8 million) and daily interest of £272,801 (with a value on the closing date of $47.7 million) that 
accrued from June 30, 2015 to October 21, 2015.  In addition, the Company agreed to pay to the Vendors a maximum cash earn-out of £144 
million (with a fair value at closing of $206.5 million) based on Concordia International’s future gross profit over a period of 12 months from 
October 1, 2015.  On September 30, 2016 the Company exercised its option to defer the payment of one-half of this earn-out to February 1, 
2017, which deferred amount accrued interest from the date of deferral on a daily basis at a rate of 8% per annum. On December 19, 2016 
and February 1, 2017, the Company paid £72 million and approximately £73.5 million, respectively, to the Vendors to satisfy the Company's 
obligation to make the earn-out payments. For further information regarding the Concordia International Acquisition, refer to Note 5 of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The Covis Acquisition
On April 21, 2015, the Company, through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, completed the acquisition of substantially all of the commercial 
assets of privately held Covis Pharma S.à.r.l and Covis Injectables, S.à.r.l (together “Covis”) for $1.2 billion in cash (the “Covis Acquisition”). 
 The drug portfolio acquired from Covis (the “Covis Portfolio”) included products that address medical conditions in various therapeutic 
areas including cardiovascular, central nervous system, oncology and acute care markets. On October 5, 2015, three of the injectable products 
acquired from Covis, Fortaz®, Zantac® and Zinacef®, were sold for $10 million and $1 million for purchased inventory.  

The Covis Acquisition was structured as an all-cash transaction with a purchase price of $1.2 billion for the Covis Portfolio. The acquisition 
was financed through a mix of term loans, bonds and equity issuances. 
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Results of Operations
For the year ended

Dec 31,
2016

Dec 31,
2015

Revenue 816,159 394,224
Gross profit 594,957 299,930
Gross profit % 73% 76%
Adjusted gross profit (1) 616,369 333,862
Adjusted gross profit % (1) 76% 85%
Total operating expenses 1,537,264 219,479
Operating (loss) income from continuing operations (942,307) 80,451

Income tax recovery (33,852) (22,011)
Net loss from continuing operations (1,314,093) (29,425)

Loss per share, from continuing operations
Basic (25.76) (0.81)
Diluted (25.76) (0.81)

Loss per share, including discontinuing operations
Basic (25.79) (0.87)
Diluted (25.79) (0.87)

EBITDA (1) (885,117) 152,682
Adjusted EBITDA (1) 468,144 265,687
Adjusted EPS (1) 3.56 4.38

Amounts shown above are results from continuing operations, excluding discontinued operations, unless otherwise noted.

Notes:
(1)  Represents a non-IFRS measure.  For the relevant definitions and reconciliation to reported results, see “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of this 

MD&A. Management believes non-IFRS measures, including Adjusted EBITDA, provide supplementary information to IFRS measures used in 
assessing the performance of the business.

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $421,935, or 107%, compared to the corresponding period in 2015. This 
increase was primarily due to a $441,793 increase in revenue for the year from the Concordia International segment acquired on October 
21, 2015 and, therefore, was only included in the comparative period for a portion of the fourth quarter. The increase was mainly offset by a 
$20,064 decrease in revenue from the Concordia North America segment as a result of generic product launches and other competitive 
marketplace pressures associated with the Concordia North America product portfolio. Refer to the "Segment Revenue and Gross Profit" 
section of this MD&A for a further discussion on segmental and product specific performance.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $295,027, or 98%, compared to the corresponding period in 2015. This 
increase was primarily due to a $318,503 increase in gross profit for the year from the Concordia International segment acquired on 
October 21, 2015 and, therefore, was only included in the comparative period for a portion of the fourth quarter. The increase was partially 
offset by a $21,933 decrease in gross profit from the Concordia North America segment. The gross profit decrease within the Concordia 
North America segment was larger than the revenue decrease primarily due to a higher proportion of full year revenue being earned from 
lower margin authorized generic sales.  Gross profit in both 2016 and 2015 was negatively impacted by non-cash inventory fair value 
adjustments in the amount of $21,412 and $33,932, respectively, arising as a result of acquired inventory from business acquisitions. 
Adjusted gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2016, removing the impact of the non-cash fair value adjustments as described 
above, increased by $282,507, or 85%, compared to 2015, which is lower than the gross profit increase due to the higher non-cash 
inventory fair value adjustment in 2015.
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The change in gross profit and adjusted gross profit as a percentage of revenue in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015 
reflects the impact of lower margins within the Concordia International segment and a change in product sales to lower margin authorized 
generic products lowering gross profit margins from the Concordia North America segment.

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $1,317,785, compared to 2015. Operating expenses were higher 
primarily due to impairment charges of $1,132,243 recorded during 2016 (refer to the "Asset Impairments" section on page 14 of this 
MD&A) , as well as the increased size of the Company's business after the completion of the Covis Acquisition and the Concordia 
International Acquisition. For a detailed description of operating expenses, refer to the "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this 
MD&A.

Operating (loss) income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 reflects the increased operating expenses 
compared to 2015, primarily due to impairment charges recorded during 2016, partially offset by the increased gross profit from the 
Concordia International segment.

The current income tax expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $27,884, compared to 2015. Income taxes 
were higher primarily due to the increased taxable income from the Concordia International segment. The deferred income tax net 
recoveries recorded for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $39,725, and are mainly the result of the reversal of certain 
deferred tax liabilities recorded at the prior period end.  The reversals were primarily due to the reduction of taxable temporary differences 
in respect of assets recorded as a result of purchase price accounting; changes to the carrying value of certain items due to the impairment 
of assets and/or changes in the applicable foreign exchange rate; and changes to the tax rates expected to apply when certain temporary 
differences are expected to reverse.

The net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,314,093, and EPS loss was $25.76 per share. 
Significant components comprising the net loss in 2016 are impairment charges of $1,132,243, net foreign exchange losses of $124,948, 
and the deduction of other significant cash and non-cash expenses which include, but are not limited to, amortization expense and interest 
and accretion expenses. Refer to the "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this MD&A for further information related to expenses 
impacting net loss. 

EBITDA is higher than the net loss from continuing operations as it excludes: interest and accretion expense; interest income; income 
taxes; depreciation; and amortization of intangible assets (refer to the "Non-IFRS Financial Measures" section of this MD&A for a full 
reconciliation). EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $1,037,799, compared to 2015. The decrease in EBITDA was 
primarily due to impairment charges of $1,132,243 recorded during 2016, offset by the timing of the Concordia International Acquisition 
during the fourth quarter of 2015.  

Adjusted EBITDA is higher than EBITDA, as it excludes: impairments; fair value adjustments to acquired inventory; acquisition related, 
restructuring and other costs (which includes onerous contract costs and direct costs associated with contract terminations); share-based 
compensation; initial exchange listing expenses; change in fair value of purchase consideration; foreign exchange loss (gain); unrealized 
foreign exchange loss (gain); unrealized loss on derivative contract liabilities; and legal settlements and related legal costs (refer to the 
"Non-IFRS Financal Measures" section of this MD&A for a full reconciliation and description of these expenses). Adjusted EBITDA for 
the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $202,457, or 76%, compared to 2015 primarily due to a full year of operating results from 
the Concordia International segment. Adjusted EBITDA in 2016 of $468,144, by segment, was $177,381 from Concordia North America, 
$319,603 from Concordia International, offset by a loss of $9,020 from Orphan Drugs. In addition the Company incurred $19,820 of 
Corporate costs related to the Corporate Head Office.
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Segment Revenue and Gross Profit
Concordia North America 

For the year ended
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Revenue 248,235 268,299
Cost of sales 36,294 34,425
Gross profit 211,941 233,874
Gross profit % 85% 87%
Adjusted Gross Profit (1) 211,941 244,573
Adjusted Gross Profit %(1) 85% 91%

Notes:

(1) Represents a non-IFRS measure.  For the relevant definitions and reconciliation to reported results, see “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of this 
MD&A.

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $20,064, or 7%, compared to 2015. This was primarily due to a $26,884 
decrease in revenue from Donnatal®, resulting from a loss of market share and competitive pressures, as well as a $17,563 decrease in 
revenue from Dibenzyline® due to the full year impact of a generic product entering the market and other competitive pressures 
experienced with respect to the product. These decreases were partially offset by a $17,354 increase in revenue from Plaquenil® AG and a 
$8,881 increase in revenue from Lanoxin®.  Plaquenil® AG revenue had a positive impact in the first half of 2016, however increased 
competition and pricing pressures emerged in the second half of 2016, resulting in a year over year declining revenue trend by the end of 
the year. These market factors in the second half of 2016 impacting Plaquenil® AG, Nilandron® and certain other branded products led to 
impairments recorded as further described in the "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this MD&A. 

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $1,869, or 5%, compared to 2015. The increase in cost of sales, when 
compared with the decrease in revenue, is primarily due to a higher proportion of 2016 revenue from authorized generic sales, which earn a 
lower gross margin. In 2016 the proportion of revenue from authorized generic sales was 26% of revenue from the Concordia North 
America segment compared with 14% in 2015.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased by $21,933, primarily due to lower revenue as described above, as well as an 
increase in cost of sales as described above.

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased by 200 bps for the year. The decrease was due to a product mix impact attributed to 
stronger performance in lower profit margin authorized generics and branded sales to certain customers eligible for higher rebates and 
therefore lower margins in 2016 compared with 2015.
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Concordia International  

For the year ended
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Revenue 557,514 115,721
Cost of sales 181,239 57,949
Gross profit 376,275 57,772
Gross profit % 67% 50%
Adjusted Gross Profit (1) 397,687 81,006
Adjusted Gross Profit %(1) 71% 70%

Notes:

(1) Represents a non-IFRS measure.  For the relevant definitions and reconciliation to reported results, see “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of this 
MD&A.

The Concordia International segment represents the results of Concordia International. Concordia International was acquired on October 
21, 2015 and therefore only a partial period of operating results were recorded in the 2015 fourth quarter for the Concordia International 
segment. 

A further description and details of the business segment is included in the "Selected Quarterly Financial Information" section of this 
MD&A. 

Orphan Drugs 

For the year ended
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Revenue 10,410 10,204
Cost of sales 3,669 1,920
Gross profit 6,741 8,284
Gross profit % 65% 81%

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $206, or 2% higher compared to 2015 as a result of higher Photofrin® sales volumes.

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $1,749, or 91% higher compared to 2015. This is primarily due to increased 
quality assurance stability and validation testing costs, as well as increased product and laser testing and recalibration costs associated with 
the addition of new customer accounts during 2016.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,543, or 19% lower in 2016, reflecting the net impact of the revenue and cost of 
sales factors described above. 
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Corporate and Other Costs
The following table details expenses from the Company's Corporate cost centre and other operating expenses from the business segments:

For the year ended
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
General and administrative 56,455 29,697
Selling and marketing 51,133 23,486
Research and development 40,637 14,992
Acquisition related, restructuring and other 35,968 57,207
Share-based compensation 30,753 16,198
Exchange listing expenses — 1,051
Amortization of intangible assets 182,819 75,810
Impairments 1,132,243 —
Depreciation expense 1,939 477
Change in fair value of purchase consideration (8,929) 561
Interest and accretion expense 299,741 128,142
Interest income on derivative financial instrument (21,671) (311)
Fair value loss on derivative contracts 2,620 —
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (3,626) 4,056
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 128,574 —
Litigation settlements 14,246 —
Total 1,942,902 351,366

Notes: Amounts shown above are expenses from continuing operations, excluding discontinued operations.

General and Administrative Expenses 
General and administrative expenses reflect costs related to salaries and benefits, professional and consulting fees, ongoing public company 
costs, travel, facility leases and other administrative expenditures. General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 
2016 increased by $26,758, or 90%, compared to 2015 due to the increased size of the Company. General and administrative expenses for 
the year as a percentage of revenue were 7%, compared with 8% in 2015.

Selling and Marketing Expenses 
Selling and marketing expenses reflect costs incurred by the Company for the marketing, promotion and sale of the Company’s broad 
portfolio of products across the Company's segments. Selling and marketing costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by 
$27,647, or 118%, compared to 2015. These costs have increased due to the expansion of Concordia’s product portfolio from 6 core 
products in the first quarter of 2015 to currently over 200 products.

The Concordia International segment's selling and marketing expenses were $27,126 in 2016 compared with $6,700 in 2015, resulting in a 
$20,426 increase. This increase is due to only a portion of the segment's selling costs from October 21, 2015 being included in the prior 
year whereas 2016 represents a full year of the segment's costs.

Concordia North America segment's selling and marketing expenses were $20,618 in 2016 compared with $14,220 in 2015, resulting in a 
$6,398 increase, mainly due to increased costs in 2016 associated with the Donnatal® contract sales force.
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Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses reflect costs for clinical trial activities, product development, professional and consulting fees and 
services associated with the activities of the medical, clinical and scientific affairs, quality assurance costs, regulatory compliance and drug 
safety costs (Pharmacovigilence) of the Company. Research and development costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by 
$25,645, or 171%, compared to 2015. This is due to costs incurred at the Concordia International segment for product expansion efforts and 
the costs associated with the Concordia North America segment. In December 2016, the Company terminated a phase 3 trial for 
Photodynamic Therapy with Photofrin® which resulted in $4,490 of previously capitalized costs being recorded as research and 
development expenses. The Photodynamic Therapy trial was cancelled for a number of reasons but primarily due to challenges enrolling 
patients in line with the requirements of the clinical trial.

Acquisition Related, Restructuring and Other Costs
Acquisition related, restructuring and other costs during the year ended December 31, 2016 were $35,968, representing a decrease of 37% 
compared to 2015. The decrease from 2015 was primarily due to 2015 including specific acquisition related costs associated with the 
Concordia International Acquisition and the Covis Acquisition. 

Significant costs incurred during 2016 include $13,608 within the Concordia International segment primarily due to costs associated with 
the Products Acquisition and other integration costs related to alignment of contract manufacturing and distribution arrangements. The 
Concordia North America segment incurred costs of $2,900 during 2016 of which $1,625 is primarily due to the termination of its contract 
sales force. The Orphan Drugs segment incurred costs of $2,937 primarily due to $2,756 related to the termination of its clinical trial 
contract, including the wind-up of sites and the termination of its contract research organization. The corporate cost center incurred costs of 
$16,523 during 2016 primarily comprised of: $2,840 related primarily to legal and advisory costs associated with the special committee 
formed to assess strategic alternatives for the Company, originally announced on April 21, 2016 and subsequently concluded on October 
13, 2016 with the closing of the Secured Notes offering; $4,123 related to separation payments to former executives and other employees of 
the Company; $5,488 related to an onerous lease contract with respect to the corporate jet no longer being used by employees of the 
Company; and with the remaining related to other restructuring initiatives.

Share Based Compensation
The share based compensation expense relates to the fair value of share-based option and restricted share unit (“RSU”) awards to 
employees, management and directors of the Company. Share based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2016 was $30,753. 
The increase in the expense of $14,555 for the year is primarily due to the impact of a grant of 1,009,000 stock options to Concordia 
International senior management on December 11, 2015 as part of a long term compensation and retention program and other RSUs issued 
in the first quarter of 2016. Also impacting the higher expense is accelerated vesting of RSUs and certain stock options in connection with 
the departure of a former executive of the Company. The accounting treatment requires an expense be recognized in the current period 
based on terms of the original grant value. This increased expense is offset by the reversal of expenses related to RSUs and stock options 
forfeited by certain employees of the Company, including a former executive of the Company.  There was no cash compensation paid to 
executives related to the unvested stock options. 

The Company authorized for issuance a total of 1,027,803 performance based RSUs on January 7, 2016 and February 3, 2016 with market 
prices on the date of grant of $37.17 and $26.37, respectively. On August 8, 2016 the Board resolved to cancel 828,430 of these 
performance based RSUs (and a corresponding 6,584 RSUs paid as dividend equivalent amounts). Subsequently, the Board resolved to 
convert 116,893 of these remaining performance based RSUs to RSUs with no performance conditions with vesting terms over 3 years. In 
addition, 23,891 of these performance based RSUs vested in connection with the departure of the Company's former CFO and 58,589 have 
been canceled in connection with the departure of other employees of the Company.

The fair value of stock options is derived using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and a Monte Carlo simulation model is used for 
calculating the fair value of certain performance based RSUs with market based vesting conditions.  Assumptions that affect the application 
of the fair value model include the determination of volatility of the Company’s common shares, risk-free interest rate, expected life of 
options, share price on the date of grant and estimates of financial results for certain performance based RSUs.

Amortization of Intangible Assets
Amortization of intangible assets was $107,009 higher for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to 2015 due to the additional 
amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of the Covis Acquisition, the Concordia International Acquisition and the Products 
Acquisition. The expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $182,819 is comprised of the following amounts:

• Amortization related to acquired product rights and manufacturing processes for the year ended December 31, 2016 was 
$149,827. The Company amortizes acquired product rights on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range 
from seven to thirty-five years;
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• Amortization related to intellectual property for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,640. Intellectual property is amortized 
on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of 20 years;  

• Amortization related to distribution and supplier contracts for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $30,934. Distribution and 
supplier contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years; and

• Amortization related to other intangibles for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $418.

Asset Impairments
In-process research and development ("IPR&D") - Concordia International segment

As part of the Company's annual impairment test on IPR&D it was determined that an impairment charge on these assets was required in the 
amount of $58,470 related to specific projects. This impairment relates to projects that were abandoned largely due to a decision not to pursue 
further development, or certain IPR&D projects with lower future forecasts compared with those at the time of the Concordia International 
Acquisition. 

Intangible assets - Concordia North America segment

During the second quarter of 2016, Management concluded that certain triggering events had occurred with respect to two Concordia North 
America segment products, Nilandron® and Plaquenil®. The triggering events included pricing pressure, increased competition, the July 
2016 launch of a generic competitive product for Nilandron® and notification during the second quarter of 2016 from the Company's 
authorized generic partner regarding market competitive pressure associated with sales volumes and pricing with respect to Plaquenil® AG. 

During the fourth quarter of 2016, Management concluded that certain triggering events had occurred with respect to seven North America 
segment products, Donnatal®, Plaquenil®, Uroxatral®, Dyrenium®, Dibenzyline®, Ulesifa® and Parnate®. These triggering events 
require Management to perform a test for impairment. The triggering events included pricing pressure and increased competition resulting 
in a decreased forecast of future net cash inflows from previous budgets as well as notification from the Company's authorized generic 
partner regarding market competitive pressure associated with sales volumes and pricing with respect to Plaquenil® AG. An impairment 
charge was recorded on all products identified except for Donnatal® as its recoverable amount was in excess of its carrying value.

In accordance with IAS 36 - Impairments, Management performed an impairment test whereby the recoverable amount was determined by 
the greater of a value in use model and a fair value less cost to sell model. The recoverable amount was then compared to the carry value of 
the intangible asset to determine the extent of the impairment to record in the period. 

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $306,189 with respect to Nilandron® and $260,887 
with respect to Plaquenil® which have been recorded in the statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company recorded impairment charges of: $219,354 with respect to Plaquenil®; $38,544 with 
respect to Uroxatral®; $23,056 with respect to Dyrenium®; $7,457 with respect to Ulesfia®; $10,518 with respect to Dibenzyline®; and 
$8,009 with respect to Parnate®. 

Goodwill - Concordia North America segment

During the third quarter of 2016, the Company recorded an impairment of $3,062 primarily related to goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
the Covis Portfolio.

Intangible assets - Concordia International segment

During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company recorded a total impairment charge of $188,028, where Management concluded that 
triggering events had occurred with respect to certain products. The main products included Levothyroxine Sodium, Prednisolone, 
Hydrocortisone, Carbimazole, Nefopam, Dicycloverine, Tranylcypromine Sulphate, Dipipanone Cyclizine and other minor products. The 
triggering events required Management to perform a test for impairment. The triggering events included market based competitive 
pressures which resulted in lower forecasts of future expected cash flows from the products. Additionally, Management recorded an 
impairment of $8,669 related to intangible assets associated with the manufacturing of these products.

Changes in Fair Value Adjustments
The change in the fair value of purchase consideration recorded during the year ended December 31, 2016 was a gain of $8,929. This gain 
was primarily due to a reduction in the contingent purchase consideration payable to the former owners of Pinnacle Biologics Inc. as a 
result of canceling certain clinical trials during the fourth quarter of 2016 as well as revised sales forecasts for Photofrin®. This gain was 
offset by the impact of discounting and certain other changes in estimates and expected payouts. 

Interest and Accretion 
Interest and accretion expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $299,741, representing an increase of $171,599 compared to 
2015. The interest and accretion expenses for the year were comprised primarily of the following amounts:
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• Interest expenses payable in cash for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $246,204, which was higher than 2015 due to the 
increases in long term debt obligations arising from the Covis Acquisition, the Concordia International Acquisition and the 
Secured Notes offering;

• Total non-cash accretion and amortization of deferred financing costs of $30,064. This expense represents the Company's 
amortization of debt issuance costs with respect to the Company’s debt facilities; and

• Interest expense related to the cross currency swaps of $20,337, that were entered into during the third and fourth quarters of 
2016 (refer to the "Interest Income on Derivative Financial Instrument" section of this MD&A for offsetting interest income).

Interest Income on Derivative Financial Instrument
Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $21,671. The interest income is a result of the August Swap Agreement and 
November Swap Agreement that were entered into during the third and fourth quarters of 2016, respectively. The interest income on the 
cross currency swaps is related to the interest expense described above of $20,337 on the cross currency swaps, resulting in a net $1,334 of 
interest income from these contracts.

Fair value loss on Derivative Contracts
The fair value loss on derivative contracts for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $2,620. The fair value loss is a result of the August 
Swap Agreement and November Swap Agreement that were entered into during the third and fourth quarters of 2016, respectively. The net 
fair value loss is a net result from a gain on the August Swap Agreement offset by a loss on the November Swap Agreement primarily due 
to USD forward rates relative to GBP.

Foreign Exchange Gain and Unrealized Foreign Exchange Loss
Foreign exchange gain for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $3,626. 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $128,574.  The primary component of the unrealized foreign 
exchange loss is the recognition of accumulated unrealized foreign exchange losses on certain inter-company loans associated with the 
Company's investment in the Concordia International segment. Prior to the entering into the cross currency swaps contracts, which are 
discussed further under Liquidity and Capital Resources, foreign exchange translation gains and losses on these inter-company loans were 
not included in the statement of loss given the loans were considered to form part of the permanent investment in those subsidiaries, all 
such loans are eliminated on consolidation. In entering into the cross currency swaps, certain inter-company loans became designated as 
hedged items, and subject to on-going repayment. Accordingly, the inter-company loans were no longer considered to be permanent 
investments in the related subsidiaries. The unrealized foreign exchange losses represent the total loss on translation of these loans from the 
date of the International segment acquisition.

The foreign exchange translation impact of Concordia International is recorded within other comprehensive loss. During the year ended 
December 31, 2016, there was a total of $343,529 foreign exchange losses, net of tax, associated with the translation of entities with a 
different functional currency, primarily within the Concordia International segment, offset by $105,559 of foreign exchange gains 
associated with the translation of the GBP denominated loan. This off-set demonstrates that a portion of the Company's foreign currency 
translation is naturally hedged through the relationship described above. 

Litigation settlement and associated legal costs
Litigation settlement and associated legal costs during the year to date relate to the settlement amounts of $13.2 million plus legal costs of 
$1.0 million. Refer to the "Litigation and Arbitration" section of this MD&A for further details. 
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Selected Annual Financial Information
For the year ended (in $000’s, except per share amounts) Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Dec 31,

2014
Revenue 816,159 394,224 104,941
Net income (loss), continuing operations (1,314,093) (29,425) 8,895
Net income (loss), including discontinued operations (1,315,694) (31,568) 11,590

Total assets 3,731,574 5,282,259 592,700
Total long-term liabilities 3,686,088 3,616,679 253,341

Earnings (Loss) per share, continuing operations
     Basic (25.76) (0.81) 0.34
     Diluted (25.76) (0.81) 0.33

Adjusted (1) 3.56 4.38 1.75

Earnings (Loss) per share, including discontinued operations
     Basic (25.79) (0.87) 0.45
     Diluted (25.79) (0.87) 0.43

Dividends per share (2) 0.15 0.30 0.30

Amounts shown above are results from continuing operations, excluding discontinued operations, except for total assets, long-term liabilities and total 
liabilities amounts, unless otherwise noted.

Notes:  
(1) Represents a non-IFRS measure.  For the relevant definitions and reconciliation to reported results, see the “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of 
this MD&A.

(2) The Company made dividend payments on a quarterly basis representing a $0.075 per common share distribution each quarter.  Dividends per share for 
the year ended December 31, 2016 reflect dividends distributed for the first quarter and second quarter of 2016, prior to the Board's decision to suspend 
dividend payments on August 11, 2016.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Information
For the three months
ended (in $000’s, except
per share amounts)

Q4-2016 Q3-2016 Q2-2016 Q1-2016 Q4-2015 Q3-2015 Q2-2015 Q1-2015

Revenue 170,408 185,504 231,712 228,535 191,908 93,005 75,198 34,113
Gross profit 120,464 137,034 177,607 159,852 115,727 84,953 68,966 30,284
Adjusted Gross profit (1) 120,858 138,540 178,476 178,495 149,659 84,953 68,966 30,284
Operating income (538,425) 42,636 (501,468) 54,950 1,852 44,520 24,274 9,805
Net income (loss),
continuing operations (663,761) (75,147) (570,384) (4,801) (31,455) 1,496 (3,252) 3,786

Cash 397,917 162,616 145,341 178,516 155,448 670,548 137,250 32,639
Total assets 3,731,574 4,229,695 4,349,554 5,197,586 5,282,259 2,460,116 1,938,452 582,927
Total liabilities 4,109,147 3,928,646 3,982,125 4,111,596 4,126,051 1,430,919 1,378,661 321,232

EBITDA (1) (569,997) 30,213 (454,285) 108,952 50,087 53,368 31,387 17,840
Adjusted EBITDA (1) 80,508 104,444 142,344 140,848 120,121 71,376 54,924 19,266

Earnings (Loss) per
share
     Basic (13.00) (1.47) (11.18) (0.09) (0.64) 0.04 (0.10) 0.13
     Diluted (13.00) (1.47) (11.18) (0.09) (0.64) 0.04 (0.10) 0.12
     Adjusted (1) 0.13 0.69 1.38 1.35 1.24 1.37 1.11 0.54

Amounts shown above are results from continuing operations, excluding discontinued operations, except for total assets and liabilities amounts.

Notes:  
(1) Represents a non-IFRS measure.  For the relevant definitions and reconciliation to reported results, see the “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of 
this MD&A. 

During the periods, from the first quarter of 2015 to the first quarter of 2016, presented within the table above, the business has undergone 
significant growth due to the business acquisitions as described within the "Recent Events" section of this MD&A. This has resulted in 
significant growth trends in the quarters presented above. In the following paragraphs below, Management has focused their analysis on 
comparing to the most recent quarters presented above in order to describe current trends that have occurred within the business.

Revenues in the fourth quarter of 2016 were $170,408 which consisted of $39,322 from the Concordia North America segment, $128,686 
from the Concordia International segment and $2,400 from the Orphan Drugs segment. The decrease in revenue when compared to the 
third quarter of 2016 was driven by a $6,152, or 14%, decrease in revenue from the Concordia North America segment, an $8,752, or 6%, 
decrease in revenue from the Concordia International segment and a $192 or 7%, decrease in revenue from the Orphan Drugs segment. The 
Concordia North America segment continues to experience competitive pressures on its key products including Donnatal®, Nilandron®, 
Plaquenil® and Lanoxin®. Donnatal® experienced continued pressure from a non-FDA approved product being distributed by a third 
party.  As previously communicated in the second and third quarters of 2016, Nilandron® was impacted in the second half of the year by a 
generic market entrant in July 2016.  In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2016, our Plaquenil® and Lanoxin® authorized generics 
experienced further pricing erosion resulting in shelf-stock adjustments which were offset by higher authorized generic revenue 
adjustments received from the Company's authorized generic partner. Revenue from the Concordia International segment decreased 
primarily due to foreign currency translation from GBP relative to USD from an average rate of 1.3136 during the third quarter of 2016 to 
1.2438 during the fourth quarter of 2016. In local currency Concordia International revenue was £106,023 in the fourth quarter of 2016 
compared with £104,623 during the third quarter of 2016. However, the Concordia International segment also experienced competitive 
pressure on a number of products. This competitive pressure was primarily experienced on Levothyroxine®, the segment's treatment for 
hypothyroidism, which had a competitor enter the market during the fourth quarter of 2016. This competitive pressure resulted in 
downward pressure on product performance toward the end of the year for the Concordia International segment. 

Gross profit and adjusted gross profit in the fourth quarter of 2016 decreased by $16,570 and $17,682, respectively, compared to the third 
quarter of 2016. The adjusted gross profit decrease is lower than the gross profit decrease as the fourth quarter of 2016 includes $394 of 
inventory fair value adjustments related to the Products Acquisition, compared with $1,506 recorded during the third quarter of 2016. Gross 
profit as a percentage of revenue in the fourth quarter of 2016 of 71% compared with the third quarter of 2016 of 74% was primarily due to 
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additional price competition resulting in higher returns and the change in product mix within the Concordia North America segment and the 
inventory fair value adjustment described above. Adjusted gross profit percentage was 71% in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to 75% 
in the third quarter of 2016 with the decline due to volume and product mix changes described in the revenue paragraph above.

Net loss from continuing operations for the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of 2016, increased by $588,614. The 
increase in net loss is due to higher operating expenses of $551,028 primarily due to impairment charges of $562,105 recorded during the 
fourth quarter of 2016. Refer to the "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this MD&A for further details with respect to these 
impairments.

Net loss from continuing operations in the fourth quarter of 2016 was $663,761 compared to Adjusted EBITDA of $80,508. Significant 
components comprising the difference between these two amounts is a result of $562,105 of impairment charges, $90,793 of interest and 
accretion expense, $41,148 amortization of intangible assets, $3,438 of share based compensation expense, $20,309 of acquisition related, 
restructuring and other costs, and $82,672 of unrealized foreign exchange loss (refer to the "Non-IFRS Financial Measures" section of this 
MD&A for a full reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA).

Adjusted EBITDA in the fourth quarter of 2016 of $80,508 consisted of $23,712 related to Concordia North America, $68,490 related to 
Concordia International, $(7,232) related to Orphan Drugs and $(4,462) related to Corporate expenses. The decrease of $23,936 compared 
to the third quarter of 2016 is primarily due to lower Concordia North America segment gross profit as described above and the lower 
Concordia International segment revenue and gross profit due to the decline in foreign exchange rates described above. The decrease is 
offset by $755 lower Corporate expenses incurred in the fourth quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of 2016.
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Balance Sheet Analysis

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Change

$ %
Working capital 517,297 290,980 226,317 78 %
Long-lived assets 3,017,550 4,800,064 (1,782,514) (37)%
Other current liabilities 226,332 318,157 (91,825) -29 %
Long-term liabilities 3,686,088 3,616,679 69,409 2 %
Shareholder's (deficit) equity (377,573) 1,156,208 (1,533,781) -133 %

Working capital
Concordia defines working capital as current assets less accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and provisions. The $226,317 increase in 
working capital from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 is primarily due to the following factors:

• Cash and cash equivalents increased by $242,469 primarily due to cash received on the closing of the Secured Notes offering and 
operating activities offset by cash outflows used in financing activities, which includes the £72 million partial payment of the 
£144 million earn-out payable to the Vendors of Concordia International, as further discussed in the "Liquidity and Capital 
Resources" section of this MD&A;

• Other current assets increased by $20,444 due to interest receivable on the cross currency swaps entered into during 2016 (which 
is offset with interest payable of $20,337 on the cross currency swaps); and

• Provisions decreased by $5,495. The decrease is primarily due to the processing of certain provisions, change in sales mix during 
the period and lower revenue within the Concordia North America segment.

Offset primarily by:

• Accounts receivable decreased by $10,702 primarily due to the Concordia North America segment. Concordia North America 
accounts receivable decreased by $9,475 primarily as a result of lower sales during the fourth quarter of 2016 when compared to 
the fourth quarter of 2015;

• Inventory decreased by $7,806. The Concordia International segment inventory decreased by $22,265 primarily due to the 
previously recorded non-cash fair value adjustment to inventory being recorded in cost of goods in respect of product sold during 
the first quarter of 2016. This decrease in inventory is offset by Concordia North America’s inventory holdings increasing by 
$11,723 as a result of receiving certain large deliveries of products, including active pharmaceutical ingredients, during the 
second and third quarters of 2016, as well as a $2,735 increase in inventory within the Orphan Drugs segment; 

• Prepaid expenses and other current assets decreased by $10,818 primarily due to the receipt of outstanding indirect taxes as well 
as a reduction of inventory related vendor deposits within the Concordia North America segment; and

• Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased by $11,007. The increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is 
primarily due to interest payable of $20,337 on the cross currency swaps entered into during 2016 offset by $11,796 lower 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities within the Corporate cost center due to lower legal and professional fees incurred in 
connection with the Concordia International Acquisition in 2016 compared with 2015.

Long-lived assets
Long-lived assets consist of fixed assets, intangible assets, goodwill, derivative financial instruments and deferred income tax assets. 
During 2016 the Company recorded certain measurement period adjustments primarily as a result of finalizing certain valuation 
assumptions related to the Concordia International Acquisition. This resulted in a decrease in intangible assets and an increase to deferred 
income tax liabilities, with a corresponding increase in Goodwill, with no overall net impact to long-lived assets. The $1,782,514 decrease 
in long-lived assets from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 is primarily due to the following factors:

• Impairments of $1,132,243 recorded in 2016. Refer to "Corporate and Other Costs" section of this MD&A for further 
information;

• A $531,213 decrease due to foreign exchange translation of the Intangible assets and Goodwill within the Concordia International 
segment as a result of the movement in the GBP/USD exchange rate from 1.4745 as at December 31, 2015 to 1.2305 as at 
December 31, 2016; and

• Intangible amortization recorded during 2016 of $182,819.
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Offset primarily by:

• Intangible asset additions during 2016 of $41,633, which primarily relate to the Products Acquisition.

Other current liabilities
Other current liabilities consist of dividends payable, income taxes payable, the current portion of long-term debt and purchase 
consideration payable. The $91,825 decrease from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 is primarily due to the following factors:

• The current portion of purchase consideration payable decreased by $149,561 during the year ended December 31, 2016 due to 
$147,207 of payments made related to the purchase consideration payable in respect of the Concordia International, Focus 
Pharma Holdings Limited and Primegen Limited acquisitions (refer to Note 21 of the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2016), offset by $31,837 of purchase consideration now presented as a current liability as this amount 
is due within twelve months and $8,691 associated with the Products Acquisition, which was paid on February 6, 2017, and the 
impact of foreign exchange; and

• Dividends payable has decreased by $3,825 as a result of the suspension of the Company's dividend announced on August 12, 
2016.

Offset primarily by:

• The current portion of long-term debt increased by $57,747 as the Company's two year equity bridge loan, with an outstanding 
principal balance of $33,611, is due for repayment during the fourth quarter of 2017 and is therefore presented as a current 
liability, as well as required principal repayments due on the Company’s term loans increases from 0.25% to 0.625% in the first 
quarter of 2017; and

• A $3,814 income taxes payable increase primarily due to the expense of $37,795 incurred for 2016, offset primarily by $20,283 
of income taxes paid during 2016 and the impact of foreign exchange.

Long term liabilities
Long-term obligations consist of long-term debt, notes payable and purchase consideration payable, derivative financial instruments, other 
liabilities and deferred income tax liabilities. The $69,409 increase in long term liabilities from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016 
is primarily due to the following factors:

• The long-term portion of debt increased by $166,704 due to $334,787 of additional long term debt as a result of the Secured 
Notes offering and the impact of $29,371 accretion of deferred financing costs, offset by approximately $18,193 of principal 
repayments, an increase of $57,747 to the current portion as a result of increased contractual repayments on the Company’s term 
loans and principal repayment of the Company's two year equity bridge loan during the fourth quarter of 2017, thereby reducing 
the long term debt balance, and $121,514 foreign exchange impact on the Company’s GBP term loan; and

• An increase of $27,854 in the foreign currency forward contract liability as a result of the cross currency swaps entered into 
during the third and fourth quarters of 2016.

Offset primarily by:

• A $92,864 decrease to the deferred income tax liability primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in recent 
business combinations and the impact of foreign exchange; and

• A decrease of $31,837 in purchase consideration payable in 2017 now presented as a current liability, offset by the non-cash 
amortization of the discount on the long term liability.

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity decreased by $1,533,781 from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2016. The decrease is primarily related to:

• A $26,393 net change in equity for share based compensation expense, issuance of options, vesting of RSUs and related reversal 
of deferred income tax assets.

Offset primarily by:

• A net loss for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $1,315,694;
• A net foreign exchange impact of $239,531 from the translation of the Concordia International segment, the cross currency swaps 

and the GBP denominated term loan; and 
• Dividends paid during 2016 of $7,652.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company manages its capital structure to fund its ongoing operations and service our obligations which the Company manages 
through a process of budgeting and forecasting cash flows. The Company defines capital mainly as shareholders’ equity and long-term 
debt. In addition to the cash flows generated by operations, the Company relies on existing cash resources, debt and equity financing to 
operate its business.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s liquidity was substantially comprised of $398 million of cash and cash equivalents and $60 
million under an undrawn revolving credit facility.

The Company incurred a loss from operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $1.3 billion, and had a shareholders’ deficiency of 
$378 million.  Cash flows from operating activities was $408 million in 2016, which is expected to decline in 2017 due a number of factors 
including competitive pressures in the Concordia North America segment.

Since inception, the Company has expanded significantly through acquisitions to become an international pharmaceutical company with a 
large portfolio of products in the North American, United Kingdom and other international markets with a total of approximately $3.7 
billion of long-term debt. The Company’s long-term debt arrangements (refer to the "Lending Arrangements and Debt" section of this 
MD&A), are not currently subject to financial maintenance covenants. The Company currently has up to $60 million available to it in a 
revolving credit facility before it is subject to financial maintenance covenants.  Principal payments of approximately $34 million are due 
in October 2017 on the maturity of the equity bridge loan and a total of approximately $43 million of mandatory term loan facilities 
payments are due in 2017 through the required quarterly principal payments. No other principal payments are required through to maturity 
on the Company's extended bridge facility,  unsecured notes and secured notes.  The long term debt arrangements reach maturity during the 
period commencing October 21, 2021 for the term loan facilities through to April 21, 2023 for the extended bridge facility and three senior 
notes.

In October 2016, the Company determined it was important to improve its liquidity position to provide more capital to support its business 
and to increase its cash reserves. Accordingly, the Company issued $350 million of Secured Notes on October 13, 2016.  These cash 
resources provided the Company with additional liquidity as it deals with some of the challenges posed by the decline in its operating 
performance, high leverage, foreign exchange risks and business environment challenges in both the North American and international 
markets. Funds from ongoing operations, cash on hand and a portion of the proceeds from the Secured Notes offering were used to fund 
cash earn-out payments of approximately $206.5 million (GBP 144 million) to the Vendors of Amdipharm Mercury Limited, whereby one 
half of the earn-out was settled in December 2016 and the other half was paid in February 2017 along with accrued interest.

Given the declining performance of the Concordia North America segment, and related product impairments which contributed to the net 
loss from operations in the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company now has significantly greater reliance on the Concordia 
International segment’s cash flows to fund its long-term debt interest and principal payments which exposes the Company to significant 
currency risk. The majority of the Company’s long-term debt of approximately $3.7 billion is denominated in US dollars other than the 
GBP term loan, which as at December 31, 2016 had an outstanding balance of £495 million. To mitigate the risk of GBP/USD fluctuations, 
the Company entered into cross currency swaps as economic hedges of certain cash flows from its Concordia International segment 
denominated in GBP which will be used to fund certain interest and principal payments denominated in USD. These cross currency swaps 
have terms through to 2022 and 2023 and fix certain interest and principal payments over their term.

Management has evaluated whether material uncertainties exist impacting the business and has considered the following factors: 

(a) The Company’s current operating budget and cash flows from operating activities in 2017 are expected to decline compared with 
2016, however, the Company believes it will continue to generate positive cash flow from operations, which, when combined with its 
estimated cash and cash equivalents, the Company believes will provide liquidity that is in excess of required interest and principal 
payments due on its long-term debt for at least, but not limited to, the next twelve months. If the Company is able to achieve its 
operating budget for 2017, and after considering total purchase consideration payments of $105 million in February 2017, expected 
principal repayments of approximately $77 million in 2017 and considering interest payment obligations, the Company believes that 
its cash resources should exceed an estimated $200 million as at December 31, 2017.  Furthermore, this estimated cash balance is 
exclusive of the up to $60 million of cash currently available to the Company under the revolving credit facility before the Company is 
subject to financial maintenance covenants.

(b) The Company’s business faces certain significant risks and uncertainties, which may impact its ability to achieve its 2017 operating 
budget. In addition to currency risk exposures referred to above and in Note 20, the Company continues to monitor the Bill for impacts 
to the business and has certain ongoing investigations being conducted by the UK Competition and Markets Authority (CMA), the 
outcome of which may impact pricing practices in its International segment, as well as impose penalties on the Company.  The 
Company is also incurring legal costs to defend the class action proceedings which were commenced against the Company (refer to 
the "Contingencies" section of this MD&A). While the outcome of both of these legal actions are unknown at this time, Management 
recognizes that it imposes certain risks and uncertainties on the Company’s operations and cash flows, which may, in turn, impact its 
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operating budget in 2017 and beyond.  The Company believes that as at December 31, 2016, these developments are not expected to 
result in a material uncertainty with respect to its cash requirements for at least, but not limited to, the next 12 months.

(c) If the Company does not generate sufficient cash to service its long-term debt obligations, it may be required to refinance or 
restructure its debt, sell assets or seek to raise additional capital, which may be at less favourable terms. The Company’s first 
significant debt maturities are not due until October 2021. Notwithstanding the above factors, the Company is highly levered at the 
present time, and cannot currently provide any assurance with respect to its ability to refinance its long-term debt obligations when 
they become due in 2021 and beyond. The Company believes it will have adequate liquidity over the next twelve months to operate its 
business and meet its cash requirements based on current market conditions, but that a reduction of its long-term debt may be 
necessary prior to October 2021. However, the need to refinance or restructure the Company's debt at some point in the future does not 
constitute a material uncertainty at this time.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company has a net leverage ratio of 7.1x, calculated on the basis of total long term principal outstanding of 
$3.7 billion less cash and cash equivalents $397,917 (refer to the "Lending Arrangements and Debt" section of this MD&A) to 2016 
Adjusted EBITDA of $468,144 (refer to the “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” section of this MD&A). 

Sources and Uses of Cash 

 For the years ended (in $000’s) Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Cash from Operating Activities 408,290 122,005
Cash used in Investing Activities (31,592) (3,799,208)
Cash (used in) from Financing Activities (94,765) 3,799,310
Total 281,933 122,107

The Company's business continues to generate cash flows from operating activities. Cash flows from operations represent net income 
adjusted for changes in working capital, non-cash items and excludes interest paid as this is recorded within cash used in financing 
activities. The Company intends to use cash on hand and cash flows generated from operating activities in order to make mandatory loan 
amortization principal repayments and equity bridge debt repayments in the next twelve months, and to service long-term debt interest 
payments and other obligations as they become due, over at least the next twelve months as described in the "Lending Arrangements and 
Debt" section of this MD&A. 

Cash used in investing activities represents primarily cash used for the Products Acquisition completed during the second quarter of 2016 
and capital asset additions within the Concordia International segment.

Cash used in financing activities is comprised of $334,787 net cash received from the Secured Notes offering completed in October 2016, 
$251,734 of interest payments during the year, $143,170 for payments of contingent consideration, $18,193 of long term debt principal 
repayments, a $5,062 payment of deferred financing fees incurred as part of financing the Concordia International Acquisition and dividend 
payments in the aggregate of $11,477 representing a total $0.15 per common share distribution.

Cash and Capital Management
As discussed in the preceding section, at the present time, the Company believes that cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2016, 
along with positive cash flows from operations and availability of certain amounts of its undrawn revolving credit facility, will be sufficient 
to meet current liquidity needs over at least the next twelve months.

As at December 31, 2016, the Company held cash of $91,937 and cash equivalents of $305,980 subject to compliance with certain 
incurrence covenants under the Company's debt agreements, the Company currently has up to $60 million available to it in a revolving 
credit facility before it is subject to financial maintenance covenants. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulty meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  The Company 
manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure. 

The purpose of liquidity management is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet all the financial commitments and obligations of 
Concordia as they come due.  Since inception, Concordia has financed its cash requirements primarily through the issuances of securities, 
short-term borrowings, long-term debt as well as cash flows generated from operations. 

During 2016 the Company generated net cash of $281,933. Excluding the impact of the net cash received as part of the Secured Notes 
offering, and the contingent consideration paid during the year associated with previous business acquisitions, the Company generated 
$99,415 of cash after making all contractual interest and principal repayments on its long-term debt and after satisfying its purchase 
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consideration obligations. During 2017, the principal repayments on debt will increase by approximately $58,299 which includes a 
repayment of $33,611 associated with the Company's two year equity bridge loan.

In managing the Company’s capital, Management estimates future cash requirements by preparing financial forecasts for review and 
approval by the Board. The financial forecasts are reviewed and updated periodically and establish approved activities for the next twelve 
months and estimates the costs associated with those activities. Forecast to actual variances are prepared and reviewed by Management and 
are presented regularly to the Board.

The Company is currently not subject to the financial maintenance covenants under its credit agreement dated October 21, 2015, as 
amended (the “Credit Agreement”). These financial maintenance covenants are applicable only in the event that the aggregate principal 
amount of outstanding revolving loans under the Credit Agreement is greater than 30 per cent of the aggregate amount of the available 
revolving facility. As the Company has not drawn on the revolving facility, the financial maintenance covenants under the Credit 
Agreement do not apply at this time. Notwithstanding the aforementioned the Company is required to comply with customary non-financial 
covenants and each agreement that governs the Company’s debt contains cross default provisions in the event of non-compliance. 



Concordia Management's Discussion and Analysis Page 25

Lending Arrangements and Debt
(in $000’s) Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Term Loan

- USD term loan 1,089,000 1,100,000
- GBP term loan 609,099 737,258
- Revolver — —

Bridge Facilities 134,444 135,000
9.5% Senior Notes 790,000 790,000
7% Senior Notes 735,000 735,000
9% Secured Notes 350,000 —
Total principle balance outstanding 3,707,543 3,497,258

On October 13, 2016, the Company closed the Secured Notes offering, issued pursuant to a note indenture between the Company, certain of 
its subsidiaries and U.S. Bank National Association. Pursuant to the terms and provisions of a note purchase agreement by and among the 
Company, certain of its subsidiaries and certain underwriters, the Secured Notes were priced at 100% of their face amount and bear interest 
at a rate of 9%, payable on April 1st and October 1st of each year, beginning on April 1, 2017 and will mature on April 1, 2022. Prior to October 
1, 2019, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the Secured Notes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at a premium plus accrued 
and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Prior to October 1, 2019, the Company may also redeem the Secured Notes in whole or in part 
upon payment of a make-whole premium plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. On and after October 1, 2019, the Company 
may redeem the Secured Notes in whole or in part at certain specified redemption prices. If certain assets are sold or in the event of a change 
of control, the Company may be required to repurchase some or all of the Secured Notes. The Secured Notes are guaranteed, jointly and 
severally, on a senior secured basis by certain of the Company's existing and future direct and indirect subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"). The 
Secured Notes and the guarantees are secured, subject to permitted liens, by the same first priority liens that secure the Guarantors’ obligations 
under the Company's Credit Agreement, and rank senior in right of payment to all of the Company's subordinated indebtedness, as well as the 
subordinated indebtedness of the Guarantors, and equal in right of payment with all of the Company's and the Guarantors’ existing and future 
senior indebtedness, including indebtedness under the Company's Credit Agreement. The Secured Notes and the guarantees are effectively 
pari passu with the Company's and the Guarantors’ existing and future indebtedness secured by a first priority lien on the collateral, including 
the Company's Credit Agreement, and senior to all of the Company's and the Guarantors’ existing and future unsecured indebtedness and 
secured indebtedness that is not secured by a lien on the collateral securing the Secured Notes or that is secured by junior liens, in each case 
to the extent of the value of the collateral securing the Secured Notes. The Secured Notes and guarantees also are structurally subordinated to 
all existing and future obligations, including indebtedness and trade payables, of any of the Company's subsidiaries that do not guarantee the 
Secured Notes. 

As at December 31, 2016, approximately 53% of the Company’s debt had a maturity date beyond 5 years assuming an estimate of the minimum 
required annual excess cash flow sweep. 

As at December 31, 2016, approximately 84% of total long term debt is denominated in USD (December 31, 2015 - 79%) and 16% denominated 
in GBP (December 31, 2015 - 21%). After including the impact of the August Swap Agreement and November Swap Agreement, the effective 
amount of long term debt denominated in USD is 63% and in GBP is 37%. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company's free cash flow was used to make $18,193 of principal repayments and pay $251,734
of cash interest expense incurred during 2016. As a result of the Company's combined positive cash flows from operations, and the Company's 
overall financial capacity, the Company believes it will have the ability to service its long term debt obligations over the next twelve months.

Details of the lending arrangements are further disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2016.
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The following table presents repayments of long-term debt principal, interest payments on long-term debt, net interest payments on cross 
currency swaps and purchase consideration on an undiscounted basis:

(in $000's) < 3 months 3 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 5
years

Thereafter Total

Long-term debt (1) 10,720 10,720 55,052 42,881 1,612,335 1,975,835 3,707,543
Interest on long-term debt 26,623 104,337 140,466 261,298 744,511 181,220 1,458,455
Derivative financial 
instruments(2) — (2,056) 1,707 7,019 150 — 6,820
Purchase consideration 105,072 — 503 2,503 6,295 7,377 121,750
Total 142,415 113,001 197,728 313,701 2,363,291 2,164,432 5,294,568

(1) Long-term debt cash flows include an estimate of the minimum required annual excess cash flow sweep (as described in Note 14 (a) of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016).

(2) Derivative financial instruments reflects the interest income, interest expense and notional amounts payable to and receivable from the counterparty under 
the applicable swap agreements.

Included in purchase consideration due within less than three months in the table above is the second half of the £144 million earn-out payable 
to the Vendors of Concordia International. The Company serviced payment of this obligation through cash on hand. The six months to one 
year classification of long term debt includes $33,611 related to the two year equity bridge loan due in the fourth quarter of 2017 and therefore 
presented as a current liability.

Included within derivative financial instruments is the interest obligation offset with interest income and the settlement of the notional amounts 
on the August Swap Agreement and November Swap Agreement.
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Contractual Obligations and Purchase Consideration 
Contractual Obligations
The Company had the following commitments under operating leases, relating to rental commitments for its international office locations, 
aircraft lease and computer and electronic equipment leases:

$
2017 4,148
2018 3,969
2019 3,413
2020 1,242
2021 638
Thereafter 296
Total 13,706

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into agreements that include indemnities in favour of third parties, such as 
purchase and sale agreements, confidentiality agreements, engagement letters with advisors and consultants, leasing contracts, license 
agreements, information technology agreements and various product, service, data hosting and network access agreements. These 
indemnification arrangements may require the applicable Company entity to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the 
counterparties as a result of breaches in representations, covenants and warranties provided by the particular Company entity or as a result 
of litigation or other third party claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparties as a consequence of the relevant 
transaction.

In connection with the acquisition of Zonegran®, the Company guaranteed the payment, performance and discharge of the purchaser's 
payment and indemnification obligations under the asset purchase agreement and each ancillary agreement entered into by the purchaser in 
connection therewith that contained payment or indemnification obligations. Pursuant to the terms of the Covis Acquisition purchase 
agreement the Company guaranteed the purchaser's obligations under the purchase agreement. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement 
entered into by the Company in connection with the Concordia International Acquisition, the Company guaranteed the obligations of the 
purchaser under the agreement and related transaction documents.

All directors and officers of the Company are indemnified by the Company for various items including, but not limited to, all costs to 
defend lawsuits or actions due to their association with the Company, subject to certain restrictions.  The Company holds directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any potential future lawsuits or actions. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
Other than the contractual obligations under operating leases described in the "Contractual Obligations" section of this MD&A, the Company 
has not engaged in any off balance sheet arrangements.

Purchase Consideration 

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Due to former owners of Concordia International 88,000 199,661
Concordia International purchase consideration 15,383 63,353
Orphan Drugs purchase consideration 8,161 29,928
Total 111,544 292,942

The purchase consideration due to the Vendors of Concordia International was part of the consideration paid for the acquisition of 
Concordia International. The Company agreed to pay to the Vendors a maximum cash earn-out of £144 million (with a fair value at closing 
of $206.5 million) based on Concordia International’s future gross profit over a period of 12 months from October 1, 2015.  On September 
30, 2016 the Company exercised its option to defer the payment of one-half of this earn-out to February 1, 2017, which deferred amount 
accrued interest from the date of deferral on a daily basis at a rate of 8% per annum. On December 19, 2016 and February 1, 2017, the 
Company paid £72 million and approximately £73.5 million, respectively, to the Vendors to satisfy the Company's obligation to make the 
earn-out payments. For further information regarding the Concordia International Acquisition, refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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The Concordia International purchase consideration as at December 31, 2016 includes additional purchase consideration as a result of the 
Products Acquisition that was completed during the second quarter of 2016. As part of the consideration paid, the Company was obligated 
to pay the counter-party to the Products Acquisition a maximum cash earn-out of £7 million if certain performance and supply targets were 
achieved. This earn-out was paid in full on February 6, 2017. 

Prior to the Concordia International Acquisition, the legacy businesses of the Company and the Concordia International segment had 
certain purchase consideration liabilities associated with prior acquisitions. These arrangements are described in Note 21 of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 by each type of arrangement. Management makes estimates and 
uses key assumptions in arriving at the fair value of purchase consideration at each reporting period and records changes in fair value in the 
statement of income in the period the changes occur.
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Related Party Transactions
The Company paid legal fees, including professional services for advice relating to intellectual property matters, to a firm affiliated with a 
director of the Company in the amount of $30 during the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $53). As at February 9, 2016, the firm 
affiliated with the director ceased providing legal services to the Company, apart from clerical and administrative work related to the 
transfer of files.

Certain current employees of the Concordia International segment had an equity interest in the Concordia International segment at the time 
of its sale to the Company.  As a result, pursuant to the share purchase agreement entered into by the Company in connection with the 
Concordia International Acquisition, these employees received a portion of the consideration paid by the Company to the Vendors of the 
Concordia International segment (including the earn-out consideration paid in December 2016 and February 2017, respectively).

Compensation for directors and key management, consisting of salaries, bonuses, other benefits, severance and director fees for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $7,928 (2015 - $7,549). Share based compensation expense recorded for key management and 
directors, for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $11,465 (2015 - $8,842).
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Non-IFRS Financial Measures
This MD&A makes reference to certain non-IFRS measures.  These non-IFRS measures are not recognized measures under IFRS and do 
not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies.  When used, these measures are defined in such terms as to allow the reconciliation to the closest IFRS measure.  These 
measures are provided as additional information to complement those IFRS measures by providing further understanding of the Company’s 
results of operations from Management’s perspective.  Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute  analysis 
of the Company’s financial information reported under IFRS.  Management uses non-IFRS measures such as EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, 
Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS to provide investors with supplemental information of the Company’s 
operating performance and thus highlight trends in the Company’s core business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on 
IFRS financial measures.  Securities analysts, investors and other interested parties frequently use non-IFRS measures in the evaluation of 
issuers.  Management also uses non-IFRS measures in order to facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period, prepare 
annual operating budgets, and to assess its ability to meet future debt service requirements, in making capital expenditures, and to consider 
the business's working capital requirements. 

During the year, the Company amended its definition of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income to adjust for costs associated with 
legal settlements (net of insurance recoveries, where applicable) and related legal costs. Management believes that these costs should be 
adjusted to provide analysts, investors and other interested parties with results reflecting the core business. This amendment had no impact 
on previously issued non-IFRS measures as these expenses did not exist in previous periods for the Company.

The definition and reconciliation of Adjusted Gross Profit, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS used and 
presented by the Company to the most directly comparable IFRS measures follows below.

Adjusted Gross Profit
Adjusted Gross Profit is defined as gross profit adjusted for non-cash fair value increases to the cost of acquired inventory from a business 
combination. Under IFRS, acquired inventory is required to be written-up to fair value at the date of acquisition. As this inventory is sold 
the fair value adjustment represents a non-cash cost of sale amount that has been excluded in adjusted gross profit in order to normalize 
gross profit for this non-cash component.

 For the years ended (in $000’s)
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Gross profit per financial statements 594,957 299,930
Add back: Fair value adjustment to acquired inventory 21,412 33,932
Adjusted Gross profit 616,369 333,862

EBITDA
EBITDA is defined as net income adjusted for net interest and accretion expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization.  
Management uses EBITDA to assess the Company’s operating performance.  

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA adjusted for certain charges including costs associated with acquisitions, restructuring initiatives, 
and other costs (which includes onerous contract costs and direct costs associated with contractual terminations), initial exchange listing 
expenses on the NASDAQ, non-operating gains/losses, integration costs, legal settlements (net of insurance recoveries) and related legal 
costs, non-cash items such as unrealized gains / losses on derivative instruments, share based compensation, fair value changes including 
purchase consideration and derivative financial instruments, asset impairments, fair value increases to inventory arising from purchased 
inventory from a business combination, gains / losses from the sale of assets and unrealized gains / losses related to foreign exchange.  
Management uses Adjusted EBITDA, among other Non-IFRS financial measures, as the key metric in assessing business performance 
when comparing actual results to budgets and forecasts.  Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of operating 
performance and cash flow, and provides useful information to investors because it highlights trends in the underlying business that may 
not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on IFRS measures.
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 For the years and quarters ended (in $000’s) Q4-2016 Q4-2015
Dec 31,

2016
Dec 31,

2015
Net (loss) from continuing operations (663,761) (31,455) (1,314,093) (29,425)

Interest and accretion 90,793 64,295 299,741 128,142
Interest income (16,628) (311) (21,671) (311)
Income taxes (22,061) (24,444) (33,852) (22,011)
Depreciation 512 372 1,939 477
Amortization of intangible assets 41,148 41,630 182,819 75,810
EBITDA (569,997) 50,087 (885,117) 152,682
Impairments 562,105 — 1,132,243 —
Fair value adjustment to acquired inventory 394 33,932 21,412 33,932
Acquisition related, restructuring and other 20,309 37,560 35,968 57,207
Share-based compensation 3,438 5,967 30,753 16,198
Fair value changes of purchase consideration and derivatives (20,599) (1,343) (6,309) 561
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 1,403 (6,233) (3,626) 4,056
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 82,672 — 128,574 —
Legal settlements and related legal costs 783 — 14,246 —
Exchange listing expenses — 151 — 1,051
Adjusted EBITDA 80,508 120,121 468,144 265,687
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Adjusted Net Income and EPS
Adjusted EPS is defined as adjusted net income divided by the weighted average number of fully diluted shares outstanding. Adjusted net 
income is defined as net income (loss) adjusted for certain charges including costs associated with acquisitions, restructuring initiatives, 
and other costs (which includes onerous contract costs and direct costs associated with contractual terminations), initial exchange listing 
expenses on the NASDAQ, non-operating gains/losses, integration costs, legal settlements (net of insurance recoveries) and related legal 
costs, non-cash items such as unrealized gains / losses on derivative instruments, share based compensation, fair value changes including 
purchase consideration and derivative financial instruments, asset impairments, fair value increases to inventory arising from purchased 
inventory from a business combination, gains / losses from the sale of assets and unrealized gains / losses related to foreign exchange, non-
cash accretion expense and the tax impact of the above items.  Management believes Adjusted EPS is an important measure of operating 
performance and cash flow, and provides useful information to investors. 

In $000’s, except per
share amounts FY 2016 Q4-2016 Q3-2016 Q2-2016 Q1-2016 FY 2015 Q4-2015 Q3-2015 Q2-2015 Q1-2015

Weighted average number 
of fully diluted shares (1) 51,798,382 51,623,190 51,862,590 52,081,161 51,762,381 37,457,561 49,752,148 35,248,353 33,950,472 30,584,951
Net income (loss),
continuing operations (1,314,093) (663,761) (75,147) (570,384) (4,801) (29,425) (31,455) 1,496 (3,252) 3,786
Adjustments
Fair value adjustment to
acquired inventory 21,412 394 1,506 869 18,643 33,932 33,932 — — —
Share-based
compensation 30,753 3,438 10,069 8,889 8,357 16,198 5,917 5,264 4,120 897
Exchange listing costs — — — — — 1,051 151 326 574 —
Acquisition, restructuring
and other 35,968 20,309 4,251 7,860 3,548 57,207 37,560 6,691 10,102 2,854
Depreciation 1,939 512 528 469 430 477 372 33 30 42
Amortization of intangible
assets 182,819 41,148 42,715 52,361 46,595 75,810 41,630 14,260 14,885 5,035
Impairments 1,132,243 562,105 3,062 567,076 — — — — — —
Foreign exchange losses
(gains) 124,948 84,075 55,666 (7,816) (6,977) 4,056 (6,233) 5,445 7,802 (2,958)
Fair value changes of
purchase consideration
and derivatives (6,309) (20,599) (323) 6,288 8,325 561 (1,343) 287 984 633
Interest accretion 30,064 7,453 7,348 7,692 7,571 34,409 9,802 16,251 2,541 5,815
Legal settlement and 
related legal cost (3) 14,246 783 — 13,463 — — — — — —
Tax adjustments (2) (69,819) (29,125) (14,047) (15,052) (11,595) (30,341) (28,877) (1,885) (39) 460
Adjusted net income,
continuing operations 184,171 6,732 35,628 71,715 70,096 163,935 61,456 48,168 37,747 16,564

Adjusted EPS diluted,
continuing operations 3.56 0.13 0.69 1.38 1.35 4.38 1.24 1.37 1.11 0.54

Amounts shown above are results from continuing operations, excluding discontinued operations.

Notes:  
(1) Weighted average number of fully diluted share calculation for the fourth quarter of 2015 includes 8,000,000 common shares of Concordia issued on 
September 30, 2015, pursuant to a prospectus offering and in connection with the Concordia International Acquisition. Net income from Concordia 
International has been included since the date of acquisition on October 21, 2015. The impact to adjusted EPS if the offering had occurred on October 21, 
2015, the Closing Date, would be an additional $0.05 cents per common share for the fourth quarter of 2015.

(2) The Company has included in tax adjustments the current and deferred income taxes presented in the consolidated statements of income (loss) to the 
extent that these relate to adjustments made to net income (loss) from continuing operations.  The income taxes presented in the consolidated statements of 
income (loss), after including the tax adjustments, represents the Company’s estimate of the income taxes in respect of adjusted net income (“Tax on 
Adjusted Net Income”).  Tax on Adjusted Net Income does not represent the Company’s expectation of its current cash income tax obligations as such 
obligations are further impacted by: (i) the tax impact of certain adjustments made to net income (loss) from continuing operations but which do impact 
current cash income tax obligations, e.g., the tax impact of adjustments for stock based compensation, depreciation and amortization; and (ii) when such 
income tax obligations are required to be paid, which is a function of the laws applicable in the jurisdiction to which the payment is due. 

(3) Represents legal settlements of $13.2 million discussed in the "Litigation and Arbitration" section of this MD&A and $1.0 million of related legal 
representation costs. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates
In preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements, Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods.  

Significant estimates made by Management include: gross to net deductions; allowance for doubtful accounts; inventory reserves; useful 
lives of amortizable tangible and intangible assets; recoverability of long lived assets and related impairments; fair value of assets acquired 
in a business combination; fair value of contingent consideration; fair value of foreign currency financial instruments; weighted average 
cost of capital; determining the fair value of share-based payments and the income tax expense and the ability to realize deferred income 
tax assets. On an ongoing basis, Management reviews its estimates to ensure that these estimates appropriately reflect changes in the 
Company’s business and new information as it becomes available.  If historical experience and other factors used by Management to make 
these estimates do not reasonably reflect future activity, the Company’s consolidated financial statements could be materially impacted.

Chargebacks
The provision for chargebacks is an estimate used in the recognition of revenue. The Concordia North America segment sells mainly in the 
United States whereby these sales are directly to wholesale distributors. The wholesale distributors sell directly to independent pharmacies, 
managed care organizations, hospitals and group purchasing organizations (“indirect customers”). The difference between the price that 
Concordia sells to wholesalers and the price the wholesaler sells to indirect customers is referred to as a chargeback. The provision for 
chargebacks is calculated based upon historical experience. As sales are made to large wholesale customers, Concordia continually 
monitors the provision for chargebacks and makes adjustments when actual chargebacks differ from estimated provision amounts.

Returns
The provision for returns is an estimate used in the recognition of revenue. Concordia has a returns policy that allows wholesalers to return 
the product within a specified period prior to and subsequent to the expiration date. Provisions for returns are recognized in the period in 
which the underlying sales are recognized, as a reduction of sales revenue. Concordia estimates provisions for returns by using historical 
experience and other factors, in order to determine Management’s best estimate of potential future returns.  Concordia continually monitors 
provisions for returns and makes adjustments when actual product returns differ from established reserves.

Rebates
The provision for rebates is an estimate used in the recognition of revenue. Rebates are granted to healthcare authorities and under 
contractual arrangements with certain customers. Products sold in the United States are covered by various programs (such as Medicaid and 
Medicare) under which products are sold at a discount.  Concordia estimates its provisions for rebates based on current contractual terms 
and conditions as well as the historical experience, changes to business practices and credit terms.  Concordia continually monitors the 
provision for rebates and makes adjustments when it believes that actual rebates may differ from established provisions. All rebates are 
recognized in the period in which the underlying sales are recognized as a reduction of sales revenue.

Other Price Adjustments
The provision for other price adjustments is a significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of revenue. Other price adjustments 
are credits issued by the wholesaler to reflect various decreases in the selling price. The price that Concordia sells to the wholesaler is 
known as the Wholesale Acquisition Cost (“WAC”).  Decreases to WAC are discretionary decisions made by the wholesalers to reflect 
competitive market conditions. Amounts recorded for other price adjustments are based upon estimated declines in market prices. 
Concordia regularly monitors these and other factors and re-evaluates the provision as additional information becomes available.

Share-based compensation
IFRS 2 requires that each installment of options and RSUs be treated as a separate grant with graded-vesting features. Forfeitures are 
estimated at the time of grant and revised if actual forfeitures are likely to differ from previous estimates. Options granted to parties other 
than employees are measured at their fair values.   Share-based compensation for options is recognized as compensation in the statement of 
income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) based on the fair values of the underlying options at the time of the grant, with the 
compensation expense amortized over the vesting period for the grantee. Share based compensation for RSUs is recognized as 
compensation in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) based on changes in Management’s estimate of the 
number of RSUs that are expected to vest and changes in the market value of Concordia’s common shares. The Company has also issued 
certain performance based RSUs subject to market based and Company specific performance vesting conditions. Concordia uses the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to price its options and uses Monte Carlo option pricing models to price its performance based RSUs in 
computing share based compensation, which requires certain assumptions on variables including, but not limited to, the stock price 
volatility rate for a publicly held corporation and estimates of future earnings.  The selection of different option pricing models and 
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different assumptions of volatility and future earnings could produce different values for share based compensation, which could impact 
results. 

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Company reviews amortized non-financial assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of the assets may be impaired. The Company also reviews, on an annual basis, non-financial assets with indefinite life for 
impairment. If the recoverable amount of the respective non-financial assets is less than its carrying amount, it is considered to be impaired. 
In the process of measuring the recoverable amount, Management makes assumptions about future events and circumstances. The actual 
results may vary and may cause significant adjustments. 

Income taxes
The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. The integrated nature of the Company’s global operations gives rise to 
many transactions in the ordinary course of business in respect of which the determination of income for tax purposes may be uncertain. 
The Company uses judgment to determine its income for tax purposes, which may impact the recognized amount of assets or liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities or the reported amount of revenue or expense during the reporting period. The Company evaluates these 
judgements based upon historical experience, current and expected future outcomes, third-party evaluations and various other assumptions 
believed to be reasonable in the circumstances.

The evaluation by the Company may result in an unrealized tax benefit in connection with taxation years that have not yet been reviewed 
by the relevant tax authority. If appropriate, an unrealized tax benefit will be realized in the reporting period in which the Company 
determines that realization is not in doubt. Where the finally determined outcome is different from the Company’s estimate, such difference 
will impact the Company’s income taxes in the reporting period during which such determination is made.

Acquisition-Related Purchase Consideration
Certain acquisitions completed by Concordia, or its subsidiaries, include purchase consideration that may be paid based on the occurrence 
of certain future events, such as sales performance and the achievement of certain future developments, regulatory, supply and sales 
milestones.

Acquisition-related purchase consideration associated with an acquisition is initially recognized at fair value and then re-measured each 
reporting period, with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss). The 
estimates of fair value contain uncertainties as they involve assumptions about the likelihood of achieving specified milestone criteria, 
projections of future financial performance, and assumed discount rates. Changes in the fair value of the acquisition-related purchase 
consideration obligations result from several factors including changes in discount periods and rates, changes in the timing and amount of 
revenue estimates and changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving specified milestone criteria. A change 
in any of these assumptions could produce a different fair value, which could impact results.

Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company’s cross currency swaps dated August 17, 2016 and November 3, 2016 are carried at fair value at each reporting date. As 
observable prices are not available, fair values are determined using valuation techniques that refer to observable data. The critical 
estimates involved in calculating the fair value are USD forward rates relative to GBP, credit spreads and credit default rates.

Going Concern
The assessment of material uncertainties related to events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern involves significant judgment.  In making this assessment, management considers all relevant information, 
(refer to "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section of this MD&A) “Assessment of Liquidity and Management's Plans". Management has 
determined that there are no material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for at least the next twelve months.

Current and Future Accounting Pronouncements
Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2016 includes current and future significant 
accounting policies applicable to the Company.
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Contingencies 
Royalties
The Company has a commitment to pay royalties on certain products acquired from Shionogi Inc. in May 2013 and certain products 
acquired in the Covis Acquisition on April 21, 2015, at certain prescribed rates. These royalties are payable on a quarterly basis. During the 
year ended December 31, 2016 the royalty expense was $4,522.

Litigation and Arbitration 
From time to time, the Company becomes involved in various legal and administrative proceedings, which include product liability, 
intellectual property, commercial, antitrust, government and regulatory investigations, related private litigation and ordinary course 
employment-related issues. From time to time, the Company also initiates actions or files counterclaims. The Company could be subject to 
counterclaims or other suits in response to actions it may initiate. The Company believes that the prosecution of these actions and 
counterclaims is important to preserve and protect the Company, its reputation and its assets. Certain of these proceedings and actions are 
described below.

Unless otherwise indicated the Company cannot reasonably predict the outcome of these legal proceedings, nor can it estimate the amount 
of loss, or range of loss, if any, that may result from these proceedings. An adverse outcome in certain of these proceedings could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations, and could cause the market value of its 
common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

The Company, and certain of its former and current executive officers are the subject of various class action complaints relating to the 
Company’s August 12, 2016 press release, whereby the Company revised its 2016 guidance.  The complaints allege that the Company 
issued false and misleading statements to investors and/or failed to disclose that: the Company was experiencing a substantial increase in 
market competition against its drug Donnatal®, and other products; as a result, Concordia’s financial results would suffer, and Concordia 
would be forced to suspend its dividend; and as a result Concordia’s statements about its business, operations and prospects were materially 
false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis at all relevant times. The class action lawsuits have been consolidated into a single 
case and a motion to dismiss this action was filed by the Company on February 20, 2017.

The Company and certain of its former and current executive officers are also subject to a class action complaint alleging that the Company 
made false and/or misleading statements, as well as, failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company's business operations and 
prospects, in the Company's Registration Statement, Prospectus and Supplemental Prospectus issued in connection with the Company's 
secondary offering on September 30, 2015. Specifically, the claim alleges that the statements were false and/or misleading and/or failed to 
disclose that: (i) the Company was experiencing a substantial increase in market competition against Donnatal®, and other products; (ii) 
consequently the Company's financial results would suffer and the Company would be forced to suspend its dividends; and (iii) as a result 
of the foregoing, the defendant's statements about the Company's business operations and prospects were false and misleading and/or 
lacked a reasonable basis. The Company has filed a motion to have this matter transferred to the Federal court hearing the class actions 
described immediately above.

The Company and certain of its former and current executive officers and certain members of the Board of Directors are subject to a 
securities class action filed in Quebec, Canada. The statement of claim alleges that the Company made materially false and misleading 
statements, and failed to disclose material information, from November 12, 2015 to August 11, 2016. This class action has not yet been 
certified nor has leave to bring a statutory claim under securities legislation yet been granted.  

In all of the above class actions, the Company has retained counsel and intends to vigorously defend itself.

On October 25, 2016, the Company announced that the UK Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) commenced an investigation into 
various issues in relation to the UK pharmaceutical sector, and that the Concordia International segment was part of the inquiry. The CMA’s 
investigation includes matters that pre-date Concordia’s ownership of the Concordia International segment and relates to the Company’s 
pricing of certain products. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation and the CMA has not reached a view as to whether or 
not it may proceed with its investigation to any finding of a competition law violation.  

On March 3, 2017, the Company announced that the CMA issued a statement of objections to a third party and one of the Company’s 
subsidiaries in relation to the supply of 10mg hydrocortisone tablets in the UK between 2013 and 2016. A statement of objections is a 
formal statement by the CMA that it considers that a competition infringement may have occurred. The Company intends to respond in 
detail to the statement of objections and continues to cooperate fully with the CMA in the investigation. This investigation includes matters 
that pre-date the Company’s ownership of the Concordia International segment.  

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company agreed to settle a previously disclosed arbitration proceeding commenced by a former 
financial advisor to the Company, whereby the financial advisor had claimed it was owed approximately $12.3 million in connection with 
the Covis Acquisition and $26 million in connection with the Concordia International Acquisition, plus accrued interest on such amounts. 
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As part of the settlement, the financial advisor released all claims against the Company and the Company agreed to pay a settlement 
amount of $12.5 million, which has been recorded in litigation settlement along with $0.96 million associated legal costs.

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company became aware that a third party had notified wholesalers, through listing services, of its 
intent to distribute and sell in certain US regions what the Company believes is an illegal copy of Donnatal® that has not been approved by 
the FDA. On January 6, 2016, the Company commenced a lawsuit against the third party and its principal owner claiming damages from 
such conduct, and on April 29, 2016 and May 3, 2016 commenced proceedings against two listing services for the continued listing of the 
products in their database. In May 2016, this non-FDA approved product was introduced into certain US regions. In a similar lawsuit 
commenced against Method Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Method") and its principal owner, the Company received a favorable jury verdict on 
April 21, 2016 and was awarded damages in the amount of $733. On March 2, 2017, the United States District Court - Western District of 
Virginia, Charlotteville Division, granted the Company's motion for enhanced damages in part, to amend the judgment against Method and 
its principal owner to reflect an award of damages in the total amount of approximately $2.2 million. On October 4, 2016 and November 
16, 2016, the Company dismissed its claims against the listing services on a without prejudice basis, respectively. The Company continues 
to pursue the undismissed lawsuit vigorously, and believes that this product has no right to be on the market given the regulatory history of 
Donnatal®. Donnatal® is one phenobarbital and belladonna alkyloid product that has a right to a DESI hearing and has distinct legal rights 
to be actively marketed. 
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Outstanding Share Data
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares. As at December 31, 2016 and March 15, 2017, 
the Company had, respectively, 51,089,556 and 51,089,556 common shares issued and outstanding. As at December 31, 2016 and March 15, 
2017, there were, respectively, 2,134,685 and 1,934,685 stock options outstanding that entitle the holders thereof to purchase one common 
share of the Company per stock option held.

As at December 31, 2016 and March 15, 2017, the Company had, respectively, 1,264,162 and 1,224,346 unvested RSUs outstanding. Each 
RSU can be settled either in cash or common shares issued from treasury or a combination of cash and common shares issued from treasury 
at the sole discretion of the Company.

On March 7, 2017, pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement entered into between the Company and the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer, the Board approved an equity grant to the Chief Executive Officer with an aggregate value of $2,500,000, which is expected to be 
issued in the form of RSUs, stock options and/or other equity incentives (the “Granted Securities”). As this individual was under a blackout 
period imposed by the Company at the time of the approval of the grant of the Granted Securities and continues to be in a blackout period as 
at the date of this MD&A, the Granted Securities will not be issued until 24 hours after the expiration of the then imposed blackout period.

On January 24, 2017, the Board approved an aggregate grant of 113,000 RSUs to certain senior managers of Concordia International. As these 
individuals were under a blackout period imposed by the Company at the time of the approval, and continue to be in a blackout period as at 
the date of this MD&A, these RSUs will not be issued until 24 hours after the expiration of the then imposed blackout period. 

On March 7, 2017, the Board approved an aggregate grant of 4,000 RSUs to an employee of Concordia International. As this individual 
was under a blackout period imposed by the Company at the time of the approval, and continues to be in a blackout period as at the date of 
this MD&A, these RSUs will not be issued until 24 hours after the expiration of the then imposed blackout period. 

The Company did not issue any Deferred Share Units ("DSUs") under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan during the Company's most 
recently completed financial year. With the advice of independent compensation consultants, on March 7, 2017, the Board approved an 
aggregate grant of 23,089 DSUs to the non-executive members of the Board in respect of their annual fees and compensation. As these 
individuals were under a blackout period imposed by the Company at the time of the approval, and continue to be in a blackout period as at 
the date of this MD&A, these DSUs will not be issued until 24 hours after the expiration of the then imposed blackout period.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Disclosure Controls and 
Procedures
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate Internal Control over Financial Reporting and disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)). Internal control is a framework designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with IFRS. The Company's internal control over financial reporting framework includes those policies and 
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial  statements in accordance with IFRS, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure controls and procedures form a broader framework designed to provide reasonable assurance that other financial information 
disclosed publicly fairly presents in all material respects the financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows of the Company for 
the periods presented in the Company's MD&A. The Company's disclosure controls and procedures framework included processes 
designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
management by others within those entities to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. 

Together, the internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedure frameworks provide internal control over 
financial reporting and disclosure. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, 
including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective 
disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Further, the effectiveness of 
disclosure controls and internal control is subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with policies or proceedings may change.

Under their supervision and with the participation of Management, including the CEO and CFO, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
design and operations of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016 was conducted based on the 
framework and criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) as issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this evaluation, Management has concluded that the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2016. 

The Company's management report on internal control over financial reporting and the integrated audit report of the Company’s auditors 
for the year ended December 31, 2016 will be included in the Company's year end 2016 consolidated financial statements and its 2016 
Form 40-F on file with the US SEC and Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting which occurred during the three months ended 
December 31, 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Concordia International Corp. (“Concordia”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. Concordia’s management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016. Concordia’s management used criteria established  
in the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO) to evaluate the effectiveness of Concordia’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Based on management’s assessment, management concluded that Concordia’s internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as at December 31, 2016.

The effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016 has been audited 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Independent Auditor, as stated in their report which appears herein.

March 15, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Concordia International Corp. 

We have completed an integrated audit of Concordia International Corp. and its subsidiaries’ (together, the "Company") 
2016 consolidated financial statements and their internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016 and 
an audit of their 2015 consolidated financial statements. Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below. 

Report on the consolidated financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Concordia International Corp. and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and the 
consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, changes in equity (deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audit as at December 31, 2016 and for the year then ended in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). We conducted our audit of the company’s consolidated financial statements 
as at December 31, 2015 and for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Canadian generally accepted auditing standards also require 
that we comply with ethical requirements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence, on a test basis, about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles and policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Concordia International Corp. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Emphasis of matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has assessed its liquidity position and 
related risks, evaluated uncertainties related to this assessment, and described management's current plans to address 
these risks and uncertainties.
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Report on internal control over financial reporting 

We have also audited Concordia International Corp. and its subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Management’s responsibility for internal control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of 
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects.

An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the 
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our audit opinion on the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Definition of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

Inherent limitations

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

Opinion

In our opinion, Concordia International Corp. and its subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
March 15, 2017 
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As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 397,917 155,448
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 182,492 193,194
Inventory (Note 7) 92,807 100,613
Prepaid expenses 6,837 10,820
Income taxes recoverable 4,417 6,175
Interest receivable (Note 13) 20,444 —
Other current assets 9,110 15,945

714,024 482,195
Intangible assets (Notes 5 & 8) 2,279,720 3,961,742
Goodwill (Notes 5 & 9) 707,930 824,529
Fixed assets 5,366 5,053
Deferred income tax assets (Note 12) 979 2,271
Derivative financial instruments (Note 13) 23,555 —
Other assets — 6,469
Total Assets 3,731,574 5,282,259

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 169,493 158,486
Provisions (Note 11) 27,234 32,729
Dividend payable — 3,825
Income taxes payable 45,801 41,987
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 14) 76,492 18,745
Current portion of purchase consideration payable (Note 21) 104,039 253,600

423,059 509,372
Long-term debt (Note 14) 3,469,285 3,302,581
Purchase consideration payable (Note 21) 7,505 39,342
Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 12) 181,238 274,102
Derivative financial instruments (Note 13) 27,854 —
Other liabilities 206 654
Total Liabilities 4,109,147 4,126,051

Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity
Share capital (Note 15) 1,277,175 1,274,472
Contributed surplus 49,949 23,556
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (343,824) (104,293)
Deficit (1,360,873) (37,527)
Total Shareholders' (Deficit) Equity (377,573) 1,156,208
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 3,731,574 5,282,259

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 14, 2017.

"Rochelle Fuhrmann" "Allan Oberman"

Director (Signed) Director (Signed)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended
Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Revenue (Note 11) 816,159 394,224
Cost of sales (Notes 7 & 25) 221,202 94,294
Gross profit 594,957 299,930

Operating expenses (Note 25)
General and administrative 56,455 29,697
Selling and marketing 51,133 23,486
Research and development 40,637 14,992
Acquisition related, restructuring and other 35,968 57,207
Share-based compensation (Note 17) 30,753 16,198
Exchange listing expenses — 1,051
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 8) 182,819 75,810
Impairments (Notes 8 & 9) 1,132,243 —
Depreciation expense 1,939 477
Change in fair value of purchase consideration (8,929) 561
Litigation settlements 14,246 —

Total operating expenses 1,537,264 219,479

Operating (loss) income from continuing operations (942,307) 80,451

Other income and expense
Interest and accretion expense (Note 14) 299,741 128,142

     Interest income (Note 13) (21,671) (311)
Fair value gains and losses on derivative contracts (Note 13) 2,620 —
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (3,626) 4,056
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (Note 13) 128,574 —

Loss from continuing operations before tax (1,347,945) (51,436)

Income taxes (Note 12)
Current 37,795 9,911
Deferred (71,647) (31,922)

Net loss from continuing operations (1,314,093) (29,425)

Net loss from discontinued operations (Note 26) (1,601) (2,143)
Net loss for the year (1,315,694) (31,568)

Loss per share, from continuing operations (Note 16)
Basic loss per share (25.76) (0.81)
Diluted loss per share (25.76) (0.81)

Loss per share, including discontinuing operations (Note 16)
Basic loss per share (25.79) (0.87)
Diluted loss per share (25.79) (0.87)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dec 31,
2016

Dec 31,
2015

Loss for the year (1,315,694) (31,568)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Amounts that will be reclassified to consolidated statement of loss
Cumulative translation adjustment (343,529) (136,473)
Net investment hedge of GBP denominated loans (net of taxes of $15,955 and (2015 -
$4,796)) 105,559 32,454
Cross currency derivative financial instruments (net of taxes) (Note 13 (a)) (1,561) —
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (239,531) (104,019)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,555,225) (135,587)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Share Capital

Number of 
Shares Amount

Contributed
Surplus

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Retained 
Earnings/

(Deficit)

Total
Shareholders'

Equity
Balances, January 1, 2015 28,861,239 247,035 5,028 (274) 5,761 257,550
Issuance of Common Stock 20,896,708 1,015,234 — — — 1,015,234
Dividends (Note 15) — — — — (11,720) (11,720)
Exercise and vesting of stock based compensation 1,236,450 12,203 (6,563) — — 5,640
Share based compensation (Note 17) — — 16,248 — — 16,248
Taxes for share based compensation — — 8,843 — — 8,843
Net income for the year — — — — (31,568) (31,568)
Net investment hedge of GBP denominated loans (net
of taxes of $4,796) — — — 32,454 — 32,454
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (136,473) — (136,473)
Balances, December 31, 2015 50,994,397 1,274,472 23,556 (104,293) (37,527) 1,156,208

Dividends (Note 15) — — — — (7,652) (7,652)
Exercise and vesting of stock based compensation 95,159 2,703 (2,619) — — 84
Share based compensation (Note 17) — — 30,753 — — 30,753
Taxes for share based compensation — — (1,741) — — (1,741)
Net loss for the year — — — — (1,315,694) (1,315,694)
Net investment hedge of GBP denominated loans (net
of taxes of $15,955) — — — 105,559 — 105,559
Cross currency derivative financial instruments (net
of taxes) (Note 13 (a)) — — — (1,561) — (1,561)
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (343,529) — (343,529)
Balances, December 31, 2016 51,089,556 1,277,175 49,949 (343,824) (1,360,873) (377,573)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended
Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss from continuing operations (1,314,093) (29,425)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities:

Interest and accretion expense (Notes 14) 299,741 128,142
Interest income (Note 13) (21,671) (311)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 8) 184,758 76,287
Share based compensation expense (Note 17) 30,753 16,198
Non-cash inventory fair value adjustments (Note 7) 21,412 33,932
Fair value gains on purchase consideration (Note 21) (8,929) (99)
In-process research and development impairments (Note 8) 58,470 —
Impairments (Notes 8 & 9) 1,073,773 —
Income tax recovery (Note 12) (33,852) (22,011)
Loss on sale of equipment and other assets 74 338
Realized loss on foreign exchange forward contract — 5,126
Fair value loss on derivative contract liabilities (Note 13) 2,620 —
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 128,574 —
Contingent consideration paid (Note 21) (4,037) —
Income taxes paid (20,283) (16,220)
Other non-cash expense 1,103 —

Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 27) 6,088 (67,535)
Cash flows from operating activities - continuing operations 404,501 124,422
Cash flows from operating activities - discontinued operations 3,789 (2,417)
Net cash flows from operating activities 408,290 122,005
Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase consideration paid (30,677) (3,807,160)
Purchase of fixed assets and development costs (1,881) (2,048)
Proceeds from sale of assets — 10,000
Interest earned 966 —

Cash flows used in investing activities - continuing operations (31,592) (3,799,208)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (31,592) (3,799,208)
Cash flows used in financing activities

Proceeds from credit facilities 350,000 4,154,500
Deferred financing costs paid (20,275) (203,032)
Proceeds from exercise of options 84 6,233
Repayment of long-term debt (18,193) (880,104)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares — 805,140
Equity issuance costs paid — (21,289)
Loss on foreign exchange forward contract — (5,126)
Contingent consideration paid (Note 21) (143,170) (4,074)
Interest paid (251,734) (42,878)
Dividends paid (11,477) (10,060)

Net cash flows (used in) from financing activities (94,765) 3,799,310
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 281,933 122,107
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (39,464) (9,429)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 155,448 42,770

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 397,917 155,448
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Description of Business and General Information

Concordia International Corp. (formerly known as Concordia Healthcare Corp.) (the “Company”, “Concordia”, 
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an international specialty pharmaceutical company, owning 
or licensing, through its subsidiaries, a diversified portfolio of branded and generic prescription products. 
Concordia has three reportable operating segments, which consist of Concordia North America, Concordia 
International and Orphan Drugs, as well as a Corporate cost centre. On April 29, 2016, the shareholders of the 
Company approved a name change of the Company from "Concordia Healthcare Corp." to "Concordia 
International Corp."  The name change was effected by the Company on June 27, 2016.

Concordia North America has a diversified product portfolio that focuses primarily on the United States 
pharmaceutical market. Concordia North America operations are conducted through Concordia Pharmaceuticals 
Inc, S.à R.L. (“CPI”). CPI has a portfolio of branded products and authorized generic contracts. 

Concordia International operations are conducted through Concordia International (Jersey) Limited (formerly  
known as  Amdipharm Mercury Limited) and certain of its subsidiaries (“Concordia International”). Concordia 
International is an international specialty pharmaceutical company, owning or licensing a diversified portfolio 
of branded and generic prescription products, which are sold to wholesalers, hospitals and pharmacies in over 
90 countries. 

Both the Concordia North America and Concordia International segments have products manufactured and sold 
through an out-sourced production and distribution network and marketed internationally through a combination 
of direct sales and local partnerships. Manufacturing is outsourced to a network of contract manufacturers. 

Concordia’s Orphan Drugs segment operations are conducted through Concordia Laboratories Inc., S.à R.L. 
(“CLI”). CLI owns Photofrin® for the treatment of certain forms of rare cancer. In addition to the approved 
Orphan indications for Photofrin®, CLI is currently focusing on the use of Photofrin® for the treatment of lung 
cancer in line with its approved indications. 

The Corporate cost centre consists of centralized costs incurred by the Company, as ultimate parent company 
of the Group.

Concordia's business does not experience a significant amount of seasonal variation in demand.

The Company’s shares are listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “CXR” 
and are listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market® under the symbol “CXRX”.

The registered and head office of the Company is located at 277 Lakeshore Rd. East, Suite 302, Oakville, Ontario, 
L6J 1H9.

These financial statements include trademarks that are protected under applicable intellectual property laws and 
are the property of  Concordia or its affiliates or its licensors. Solely for convenience, the trademarks of  Concordia, 
its affiliates and/or its licensors referred to in these financial statements may appear with or without the ® or 
TM symbol, but such references or the absence thereof are not intended to indicate, in any way, that the Company 
or its affiliates or licensors will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their respective rights to 
these trademarks. Any other trademarks used in these financial statements are the property of their respective 
owners.
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2. Assessment of Liquidity and Management's Plans

The Company manages its capital structure to fund its ongoing operations and service our obligations which the 
Company manages through a process of budgeting and forecasting cash flows. The Company defines capital 
mainly as shareholders’ equity and long-term debt. In addition to the cash flows generated by operations, the 
Company relies on existing cash resources, debt and equity financing to operate its business. 

As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s liquidity was substantially comprised of $398 million of cash and 
cash equivalents and $60 million under an undrawn revolving credit facility (refer to Note 14). 

The Company incurred a loss from operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $1.3 billion, and has a 
shareholders’ deficiency of $378 million.  Cash flows from operating activities was $408 million in 2016, which 
is expected to decline in 2017 due a number of factors including competitive pressures in the Concordia North 
America segment.

Since inception, the Company has expanded significantly through acquisitions to become an international 
pharmaceutical company with a large portfolio of products in the North American, United Kingdom and other 
international markets with a total of approximately $3.7 billion of long-term debt. The Company’s long-term 
debt arrangements, as described in Note 14, are not currently subject to financial maintenance covenants. The 
Company currently has up to $60 million available to it in a revolving credit facility before it is subject to financial 
maintenance covenants. Principal payments of approximately $34 million are due in October 2017 on the maturity 
of the equity bridge loan and a total of approximately $43 million of mandatory term loan facilities payments 
are due in 2017 through the required quarterly principal payments. No other principal payments are required 
through to maturity on the Company's extended bridge facility,  unsecured notes and secured notes.  The long 
term debt arrangements reach maturity during the period commencing October 21, 2021 for the term loan facilities 
through to April 21, 2023 for the extended bridge facility and three senior notes (refer to Notes 14 and 20). 

In October 2016, the Company determined it was important to improve its liquidity position to provide more 
capital to support its business and to increase its cash reserves. Accordingly, the Company issued $350 million 
of Secured Notes on October 13, 2016 (refer to Note 14 (e)).  These cash resources provided the Company with 
additional liquidity as it deals with some of the challenges posed by the decline in its operating performance, 
high leverage, foreign exchange risks and business environment challenges in both the North American and 
international markets. Funds from ongoing operations, cash on hand and a portion of the proceeds from the 
Secured Notes offering were used to fund cash earn-out payments of approximately $206.5 million (GBP 144 
million) to the Vendors of Amdipharm Mercury Limited (refer to Note 5), whereby one half of the earn-out was 
settled in December 2016 and the other half was paid in February 2017 along with accrued interest. 

Given the declining performance of the Concordia North America segment, and related product impairments 
which contributed to the net loss from operations in the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company now has 
significantly greater reliance on the Concordia International segment’s cash flows to fund its long-term debt 
interest and principal payments which exposes the Company to significant currency risk (refer to Note 20). The 
majority of the Company’s long-term debt of approximately $3.7 billion is denominated in US dollars other than 
the GBP term loan, which as at December 31, 2016 had an outstanding balance of £495 million. To mitigate the 
risk of GBP/USD fluctuations, the Company entered into cross currency swaps as economic hedges of certain 
cash flows from its Concordia International segment denominated in GBP which will be used to fund certain 
interest and principal payments denominated in USD. As described in Note 13, these cross currency swaps have 
terms through to 2022 and 2023 and fix certain interest and principal payments over their term.

Management has evaluated whether material uncertainties exist relating to events or conditions as described in 
Note 4 and has considered the following in making that critical judgment:
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(a) The Company’s current operating budget and cash flows from operating activities in 2017 are expected to 
decline compared with 2016, however, the Company believes it will continue to generate positive cash flow 
from operations, which, when combined with its estimated cash and cash equivalents, the Company believes 
will provide liquidity that is in excess of required interest and principal payments due on its long-term debt 
for at least, but not limited to, the next twelve months. If the Company is able to achieve its operating budget 
for 2017, and after considering total purchase consideration payments of $105 million in February 2017, 
expected principal repayments of approximately $77 million in 2017 and considering interest payment 
obligations, the Company believes that its cash resources should exceed an estimated $200 million as at 
December 31, 2017.  Furthermore, this estimated cash balance is exclusive of the up to $60 million of cash 
currently available to the Company under the revolving credit facility before the Company is subject to 
financial maintenance covenants. 

(b) The Company’s business faces certain significant risks and uncertainties, which may impact its ability to 
achieve its 2017 operating budget. In addition to currency risk exposures referred to above and in Note 20, 
the Company continues to monitor the legislative changes for impacts to the business and has certain ongoing 
investigations being conducted by the UK Competition and Markets Authority (CMA), the outcome of 
which may impact pricing practices in its International segment, as well as impose penalties on the Company.  
The Company is also incurring legal costs to defend the class action proceedings which were commenced 
against the Company (refer to Note 19). While the outcome of both of these legal actions are unknown at 
this time, Management recognizes that it imposes certain risks and uncertainties on the Company’s operations 
and cash flows, which may, in turn, impact its operating budget in 2017 and beyond.  The Company believes 
that as at December 31, 2016, these developments are not expected to result in a material uncertainty with 
respect to its cash requirements for at least, but not limited to, the next 12 months.

(c) If the Company does not generate sufficient cash to service its long-term debt obligations, it may be required 
to refinance or restructure its debt, sell assets or seek to raise additional capital, which may be at less 
favourable terms. The Company’s first significant debt maturities are not due until October 2021. 
Notwithstanding the above factors, the Company is highly levered at the present time, and cannot currently 
provide any assurance with respect to its ability to refinance its long-term debt obligations when they become 
due in 2021 and beyond. The Company believes it will have adequate liquidity over the next twelve months 
to operate its business and meet its cash requirements based on current market conditions, but that a reduction 
of its long-term debt may be necessary prior to October 2021. However, the need to refinance or restructure 
the Company's debt at some point in the future does not constitute a material uncertainty at this time. 

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”). The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values, as described in (q) below. The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied throughout the period unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and have been presented in 
U.S. dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.
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(b) Basis of Consolidation 

The wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company are consolidated to produce the financial results for the 
consolidated corporation. All intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions 
between the subsidiaries are fully eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions 
that were recognized are also fully eliminated. 

These consolidated financial statements include the following wholly owned material subsidiaries of the 
Company: CLI, CPI, Concordia Financing (Jersey) Limited, Concordia Investments (Jersey) Limited, 
Amdipharm Holdings S.à R.L., Amdipharm AG, Amdipharm BV, Amdipharm Limited, Amdipharm 
Mercury Holdco UK Ltd., Amdipharm Mercury UK Ltd., Concordia Holdings (Jersey) Limited, Amdipharm 
Mercury International Limited, Concordia Investment Holdings (UK) Limited, Mercury Pharma Group 
Ltd., Abcur AB, Concordia International Rx (UK) Limited, Focus Pharma Holdings Limited, Focus 
Pharmaceuticals Limited, Mercury Pharma (Generics) Ltd., Mercury Pharmaceuticals (Ireland) Ltd., 
Mercury Pharma International Ltd., and Mercury Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with those followed by other members of the Company.

(c) Comparative Financial Information 

Certain prior period balances have been re-classified to conform with the current period financial statement 
presentation.

(d) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker.  

The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

(e) Business Combinations

Acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 have been accounted for as business 
combinations using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is 
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction costs are recognized in 
income and comprehensive income as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed are initially recognized at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred and the fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its 
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. 
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments 
are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Changes in fair value that 
are not considered measurement adjustments are recognized through the consolidated statement of loss. 
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during 
the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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Contingent consideration that is classified as a financial asset or a financial liability is remeasured at 
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in the consolidated 
statement of loss.

(f) Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency, and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. All of the Company’s 
significant subsidiaries report in U.S dollars with the exception of Concordia International and its subsidiaries 
which report primarily in Great British Pounds and certain others in Indian Rupees, Euros, South African 
Rand, United Arab Emirates Dirham, Hong Kong Dollars, Australian Dollars and Swedish Krona. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate of exchange prevailing 
at the date of each transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet dates. All 
differences are taken to the consolidated statements of income (loss). Non-monetary items measured at 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates in effect at the date when the fair value was determined. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the balance sheet dates, and their consolidated statements of income (loss) are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the average exchange rate for the period. The exchange differences arising on 
the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity (accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss)). On disposal or dissolution of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognized 
in equity relating to the particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of income 
(loss). 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held with financial institutions and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents as at December 31, 2016 includes deposits held with a major financial institution of 
$305,980 (2015 - $nil).

(h) Inventory 

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods. Inventory, other than inventory 
acquired through a business combination, is valued at the lower of cost based on weighted average cost and 
net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices less applicable selling expenses and 
costs to complete the sale. If the carrying value exceeds the net realizable value, a write-down is recognized. 
A reserve is taken on inventory for quantities not expected to be consumed. This reserve offsets the inventory 
balance. Inventories acquired through business combination are initially recognized at fair value.

(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  
Amortization is recorded on a straight line basis as follows:
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Acquired product rights and manufacturing processes  7-35 years
Intellectual property 20 years
Customer list 4 years
Supplier contracts 5 years
Distribution contracts 5 years
Software and other intangibles 3-5 years

The estimated useful life is reviewed at the end of each reporting period with the effect of any changes in 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

In-process research & development ("IPR&D") acquired in a business combination is capitalized as an 
indefinite-lived intangible asset and accordingly is  not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual 
basis or more frequently if there are indications that IPR&D may be impaired. When IPR&D is completed, 
the asset will be assigned a useful life and amortized, or when abandoned, written off as an impairment. 
Indefinite life intangible assets, including IPR&D, are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Costs incurred on development projects are recognized as intangible assets when technical feasibility has 
been met, management resources and intention to develop are committed, expenditures can be measured 
reliably and there is an expectation of future economic benefits. Other development expenditures are 
recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not 
recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

Intellectual property acquired in a business combination is recognized separately as an intangible asset if it 
meets the definition of an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38 and its fair value can be measured 
reliably.

All development costs with a finite useful life that have been capitalized are amortized from the 
commencement of the commercial production of the product on a straight-line basis over the period of its 
expected benefit.

(j) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of the underlying 
net assets in a business combination, and is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill 
is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications 
that goodwill may be impaired. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Company’s cash generating units (“CGU”) or group of CGU's, that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the acquisitions. If the recoverable amount of the CGU or group of CGU's is less than the carrying amount, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets 
of the CGU or group of CGU's.

(k) Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Depreciation is recorded 
on a straight line basis as follows:

Computers and equipment 3-7 years
Office furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
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Repair and maintenance expenditures that extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized and minor repair 
and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred to the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss.  The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Gains and losses on disposals 
are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within the 
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

(l) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Company reviews assets such as property and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. 

For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less the cost 
of disposal and value in use, (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset 
or CGU), as determined by management. 
 
Any impairment losses are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal 
of the impairment at each reporting date.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present (legal or constructive) obligations as a result of a past event will 
lead to a probable outflow of economic resources and amounts can be estimated reliably. Provisions are 
measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based 
on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated 
with the present obligation. Provisions are more prevalent within the Concordia North America segment 
when compared to the Concordia International segment. The provision level is also subject to factors such 
as product mix and customer mix which may result in higher levels of gross to net adjustment. Refer to 
Note 4, which provides further detail regarding the estimates involved in making provisions.

The Company performs evaluations to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records provisions 
for such contracts. All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations 
is considered remote, no liability has been recognized.

(n) Net Investment Hedge

The Company has designated its GBP (or £) denominated term loan (refer to Note 14) as a net investment 
hedge with its investment in Concordia International (refer to Note 5) as this loan was entered into at the 
time of the acquisition of Concordia International and formed part of the consideration transferred. This 
term loan is carried at amortized cost, however foreign currency translation adjustments of the financial 
liability are recorded in other comprehensive loss at each reporting period on a net of tax basis, along with 
the associated cumulative translation adjustment associated with the hedged investment. There have been 
no amounts recorded in the consolidated statement of loss with respect to ineffective portions of the hedge 
or subsequent changes from the initial designation of the net investment hedge.
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(o) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company's derivative financial instruments relate to cross currency swaps (refer to Note 13), and are 
carried at fair value. The Company does not hold derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes. The Company has designated certain cross currency swap agreements as qualifying hedging 
instruments and accounts for them as cash flow hedges pursuant to IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement." The Company also has cross currency swap agreements where hedge 
accounting has not been applied.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are reported in the consolidated statement of 
loss, except for foreign currency cash flow hedges that meet the conditions for hedge accounting. The portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instruments that are determined to be an effective hedge are recognized 
directly in other comprehensive loss, and the ineffective portion in the consolidated statement of loss. Gains 
or losses recognized in other comprehensive income are subsequently recognized in the statement of loss 
in the same period in which the hedged underlying transaction or firm commitment is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Company is required to document in advance the relationship 
between the item being hedged and the hedging instrument. The Company is also required to document and 
demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, which 
shows that the hedge will be highly effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing is performed 
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the hedge remains highly effective.

(p) Income Taxes

Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred taxes. These taxes are accounted for using the liability 
method. 

Current tax is recognized in connection with income for tax purposes, unrealized tax benefits and the recovery 
of tax paid in a prior period. The determination of income for tax purposes requires interpretation of the 
relevant rules and judgement therefore an unrealized tax benefit may arise in connection with taxation years 
that have not yet been reviewed by the relevant tax authority. If appropriate, an unrealized tax benefit will 
be realized in the reporting period in which the Company determines that realization is not in doubt. Current 
tax is measured at the tax rate applicable to the taxation period during which the income for tax purposes 
arose.

Deferred tax is recognized on the difference between the carrying amount of an asset or a liability, as reflected 
in the financial statements, and the corresponding tax base, used in the computation of income for tax 
purposes (“temporary difference”). A deferred tax liability is generally recognized for any temporary 
difference in respect of an asset where the carrying amount exceeds the tax base and in respect of a liability 
where the tax base exceeds the carrying amount. A deferred tax asset is generally recognized for any 
temporary difference in respect of an asset where the tax base exceeds the carrying amount, in respect of a 
liability where the carrying amount exceeds the tax base and to the extent that it is probable that income for 
tax purposes will be available from which the temporary difference can be deducted. Deferred tax is not 
recognized if a temporary difference arises in connection with goodwill or the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of an asset or liability in a transaction that affects neither income for tax purposes 
nor income for accounting purposes.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient income for tax purposes will be available from which 
the temporary difference can be deducted. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that are enacted or substantively enacted during the reporting period and reflects the tax consequences that 
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would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to realize 
the asset or settle the liability that gave rise to the temporary difference.

Income taxes are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss, except when they relate to an item that 
is recognized in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity, in which case, the taxes are also recognized 
in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity respectively. Where income taxes arise from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, these are included in the accounting for the business combination. 

(q) Financial Instruments

The Company classifies all financial instruments as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables or other liabilities. Financial assets held-to maturity, loans 
and receivables and financial liabilities other than those classified as FVTPL, are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-sale instruments are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).  Financial liabilities are 
classified as either financial liabilities classified as FVTPL or other financial liabilities. Financial liabilities 
are classified as FVTPL when the liability is either classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as FVTPL.  
A financial liability may be designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition if it forms part of a contract 
containing one or more embedded derivatives. Instruments classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value 
with unrealized gains and losses recognized in net income (loss).  Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs 
associated with all other financial liabilities are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  Financial assets are derecognized 
when the Company transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership or the contractual rights to the 
cash flows expire. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.
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The following table illustrates the classification of the Company’s financial instruments:

Financial
Instruments

Financial
assets at

amortized
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortized
cost FVTPL

Derivatives
used for

hedging -
FVTPL

Derivatives
used for

hedging -
FVOCI

As at Dec
31, 2016

Cash and cash
equivalents 397,917 — — — — 397,917
Accounts receivable 182,492 — — — — 182,492
Interest receivable 20,444 — — — — 20,444
Derivative contract
assets — — — 23,555 — 23,555
Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities — (169,493) — — — (169,493)
Provisions — (27,234) — — — (27,234)
Long-term debt — (3,545,777) — — — (3,545,777)
Purchase
consideration
payable — (92,182) (19,362) — — (111,544)
Derivative contract
liabilities — — — (27,854) (27,854)

600,853 (3,834,686) (19,362) (4,299) — (3,257,494)

Financial
Instruments

Financial
assets at

amortized
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortized
cost FVTPL

Derivatives
used for

hedging -
FVTPL

Derivatives
used for

hedging -
FVOCI

As at Dec
31, 2015

Cash and cash
equivalents 155,448 — — — — 155,448
Accounts receivable 193,194 — — — — 193,194
Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities — (158,486) — — — (158,486)
Provisions — (32,729) — — — (32,729)
Long-term debt — (3,321,326) — — — (3,321,326)
Purchase
consideration
payable — (5,404) (287,538) — — (292,942)

348,642 (3,517,945) (287,538) — — (3,456,841)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
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The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described, as follows, based on the lowest-level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Valuations based on directly or indirectly observable inputs in active markets for similar assets or 
liabilities, other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted interest or currency exchange rates; and

Level 3: Valuations based on significant inputs that are not derived from observable market data, such as 
discounted cash flow methodologies based on internal cash flow forecasts.

Derivative contract liabilities are considered as Level 2 financial instruments in the hierarchy. Contingent 
consideration payables are considered as Level 3 financial instruments in the hierarchy.

(r) Share-based Compensation

The Company has a stock option plan as described in Note 17 that allows for the issuance of stock options 
to employees, directors, officers, and others as determined by the the Company’s board of directors (the 
“Board of Directors”). Under IFRS, each option installment is treated as a separate option grant with 
graded-vesting features, forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised if actual forfeitures are 
likely to differ from previous estimates, and options granted to parties other than employees are measured 
at their fair value on the date goods or services are received. Over the vesting period of the option grants, 
the fair value is recognized as compensation expense and a related credit is recorded as reserve for share-
based compensation. The reserve for share-based compensation is reduced as options are exercised through 
a credit to share capital. The consideration paid by option holders is credited to share capital when the options 
are exercised. 

The Company has a long term incentive plan as described in Note 17. For each Restricted Share Unit 
(“RSU”), Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) or Performance Based RSU (“Performance Based RSU”) granted 
under the long-term incentive plan, the Company recognizes an expense equal to the market value of a 
Concordia common share at the date of grant based on the number of RSUs, DSUs and Performance Based 
RSUs expected to vest, recognized over the term of the vesting period, with a corresponding credit to reserve 
for share based compensation anticipated to be equity settled or a corresponding credit to a liability for those 
anticipated to be cash settled. Additional RSUs, DSUs or Performance Based RSUs are issued to reflect 
dividends declared on the common shares. Certain Performance Based RSUs are subject to market based 
vesting conditions and have been valued using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Compensation expense is 
adjusted for subsequent changes in management’s estimate of the number of RSUs, DSUs or Performance 
Based RSUs that are expected to vest and, for RSUs, DSUs or Performance Based RSUs anticipated to be 
cash settled, changes in the market value of Concordia common shares. The effect of these changes is 
recognized in the period of the change. Vested RSUs, DSUs and Performance Based RSUs are settled either 
in Concordia common shares or in cash or a combination thereof at the discretion of the Company.

(s) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the 
applicable net earnings by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 
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and all additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive common shares 
had been issued during the year.

(t) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of income (loss) when goods are delivered and title 
has passed, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods;

• the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; 

and 
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue represents the amounts receivable after the deduction of discounts, harmonized sales tax, value-
added tax, other sales taxes, allowances given, provisions for chargebacks, other price adjustments and 
accruals for estimated future rebates and returns. 

The Company operates in a number of different geographical segments, with different markets. Further 
detail by segment related to revenue recognition is described below:

Concordia North America segment

Revenue within the Concordia North America segment is primarily derived from two customer groups, 
those being wholesalers and Authorized Generic Partners (“AG Partners”). Revenue is recognized at the 
time of sale to the wholesaler and AG Partners as the following revenue recognition criteria have been met; 
1) the wholesalers and AG Partners are responsible for setting their sales price to the final customer and 
collecting on their receivables; 2) the Company can reliably measure the amount of revenue to be recognized 
(this includes the impact of gross to net adjustments, including expected returns, wholesaler and retail 
inventory levels, prescription data, current market trends, competitor activity and historical experience); 3) 
the wholesalers and AG Partners are responsible for managing their customers; and 4) costs associated with 
the sale have been incurred at the time the product is sold to the wholesaler and the AG Partner.
 
The Company also earns revenue from licensing and profit-sharing arrangements. Under these arrangements 
revenue is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. 
Arrangements determined on a time basis are recognized on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
agreement. Arrangements that are based on production, sales and other measures are recognized by reference 
to the underlying arrangement. 

Royalty income is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with royalty agreements. 

Concordia International segment

The Concordia International segment is similar to the Concordia North America segment, as revenue is 
recognized at the time of sale to the wholesalers, hospitals and pharmacies. The Concordia International 
segment is not subject to significant levels of gross to net adjustments. Revenue is recognized on either 
shipment or receipt by the customer depending on the contractual terms of the sales agreement.

Orphan drugs
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The Orphan Drugs segment is concentrated primarily within the United States and operates through 
distributors. The point of revenue recognition is at the time the distributors receive the product. Revenue is 
recognized at this time as the distributor has no right of return, except for expired product (at which point 
they are entitled only to a replacement product), and full risk of ownership of the product has been transferred.

(u) Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

The following pronouncements were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") or 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee. Those pronouncements that are not applicable or do not have a 
significant impact to the Company have been excluded from the summary below. 

(i) Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

The following pronouncements have not yet been adopted by the Company and are being evaluated to 
determine the resultant impact, as summarized below.

Revenue Recognition

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step 
revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires 
management to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial 
statements. While the Company has not fully evaluated the impact of adopting the standard, it believes there 
may be an impact, and will be evaluating the application of the standard and its potential impact on the 
Company's revenue recognition policies.

Financial Instruments

The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and 
will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model 
for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a 
substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for 
determining the classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business 
model in which an asset is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to 
all financial instruments, which will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. It also includes 
changes in respect of own credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be measured at fair value, so that 
gains caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer recognized 
in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, however is 
available for early adoption. In addition, the own credit changes can be early adopted in isolation without 
otherwise changing the accounting for financial instruments. The Company is currently evaluating the impact 
of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.

Financial Instruments Disclosures

IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”), has been amended by the IASB to require 
additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. The amendment to IFRS 7 is effective for periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this 
standard on the consolidated financial statements.

Share-based Payments

IFRS 2, "Share-based Payments" ("IFRS 2"), was amended by the IASB in June 2016 to clarify guidance 
on the classification and measurement of certain share-based payment transactions. The amendment gives 
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guidance on the accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a performance 
condition and the classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement features. The 
amendments to IFRS 2 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of adopting the amendments on the consolidated financial statements.

Leases

IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”), sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
leases. IFRS 16 provides revised guidance on identifying a lease and for separating lease and non-lease 
components of a contract. IFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for all lessees and requires a lessee 
to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of more than 12-months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. Under IFRS 16, lessor accounting for operating and finance leases will 
remain substantially unchanged. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, with earlier application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. The Company is currently evaluating 
the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements, however it does not expect 
the standard to have a significant impact due to the limited volume and magnitude of leases entered into by 
the Company.

(ii) Recent accounting pronouncements adopted during 2016

The Company continues to monitor changes to IFRS, including the amendments to IAS 1, “Presentation of 
Financial Statements”, and has implemented applicable IASB changes to standards, new interpretations and 
annual improvements.

The following pronouncements have been evaluated and adopted by the Company, with the resultant impact 
summarized below.

Statement of Cash Flows

IAS 7, "Statement of Cash Flows", was amended by the IASB with a narrow scope amendment in January 
2016 to introduce additional disclosure that will enable the users of the financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendment requires additional disclosure 
surrounding changes arising from cash flows such as drawdowns and repayments of borrowings, and non-
cash changes such as acquisitions, disposals and unrealized exchange differences. The amendment to IAS 
7 is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. The 
Company has implemented an early adoption of the amendment, which includes providing additional 
disclosure surrounding the changes in cash flows for long-term debt, refer to Note 14.

Income Taxes

IAS 12, "Income Taxes", was amended by the IASB with a narrow scope amendment in January 2016 to 
clarify the requirements for recognizing deferred tax assets on unrealized losses. The amendments clarify 
the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the 
asset's tax base. The amendments also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets. 
The amendments to IAS 12 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier 
application permitted. The Company has determined that the amendments do not have an impact to the 
Company.

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make a number of judgments, 
estimates and assumptions regarding recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Information about the judgments, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

Revenue Recognition

i. Chargebacks

The provision for chargebacks is a significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of revenue. In 
the United States, the Company sells its products directly to wholesale distributors. The wholesale 
distributors sell directly to independent pharmacies, managed care organizations, hospitals and group 
purchasing organizations (“indirect customers”). The difference between what price the Company sells to 
the wholesaler and what price the wholesaler sells to the indirect customer is called a chargeback. The 
provision for chargebacks is based on the historical sales mix of the wholesalers for their government and 
retail customers. As sales are made to large wholesale customers, the Company continually monitors the 
provision for chargebacks and makes adjustments when it believes that actual chargebacks may differ from 
estimated provisions.

ii. Returns

The provision for returns is a significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of revenue. The 
Company has a returns policy that allows wholesalers to return the product within a specified period prior 
to and subsequent to the expiration date. Provisions for returns are recognized in the period in which the 
underlying sales are recognized, as a reduction of sales revenue. The Company estimates provisions for 
returns based upon historical experience, representing management’s best estimate. While such experience 
has allowed for reasonable estimations in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future 
returns. The Company continually monitors provisions for returns and makes adjustments when it believes 
that actual product returns may differ from established reserves.

iii. Rebates

The provision for rebates is a significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of revenue. Rebates 
are granted to healthcare authorities and under contractual arrangements with certain customers. Products 
sold in the United States are covered by various programs (such as Medicaid and Medicare) under which 
products are sold at a discount. The Company estimates its provisions for rebates based on current contractual 
terms and conditions as well as the historical experience, changes to business practices and credit terms. 
While such experience has allowed for reasonable estimations in the past, history may not always be an 
accurate indicator of future rebate liabilities. The Company continually monitors the provision for rebates 
and makes adjustments when it believes that actual rebates may differ from established provisions. All 
rebates are recognized in the period in which the underlying sales are recognized as a reduction of sales 
revenue.

iv. Other price adjustments

The provision for other price adjustments is a significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of 
revenue. Other price adjustments are credits issued by the wholesaler to reflect various decreases in the 
selling price. The price that the Company sells to the wholesaler is called the Wholesale Acquisition Cost 
(or “WAC”). Decreases to WAC are discretionary decisions made by the wholesalers to reflect competitive 
market conditions. Amounts recorded for other price adjustments are based upon estimated decline in market 
prices. The Company regularly monitors these and other factors and re-evaluates the provision as additional 
information becomes available.
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v. Prompt pay

The provision for prompt pay is an estimate used in the recognition of revenue. Prompt pay are discounts 
offered to customers for making early payments on their invoices within a defined period of time, prior to 
the payment due date under the Company's normal payment terms. The Company estimates provisions for 
prompt pay based upon historical experience, representing management’s best estimate. The Company 
continually monitors provisions for prompt pay and makes adjustments when it believes that actual prompt 
pay discounts may differ from established reserves.

Share-based payments and compensation

The compensation expense related to share-based payments is determined using the Black-Scholes and Monte 
Carlo option pricing models. The assumptions used in the model are weighted average share price at the grant 
date, exercise price, volatility, dividend yield, expected option life, forfeiture rate and risk free interest rate.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company reviews amortized non-financial assets for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may be impaired. It also reviews annually non-
financial assets with indefinite life for impairment. If the recoverable amount of the respective non-financial 
asset is less than its carrying amount, it is considered to be impaired. In the process of measuring the recoverable 
amount, management makes assumptions about future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary 
and may cause significant adjustments.

Amortization of intangible and other assets

The amortization expense related to intangible and other assets is determined using estimates relating to the 
useful life of the related assets. 

Income taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. The integrated nature of the Company’s 
global operations gives rise to many transactions in the ordinary course of business in respect of which the 
determination of income for tax purposes may be uncertain. The Company uses judgment to determine its income 
for tax purposes which may impact the recognized amount of assets or liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities or the reported amount of revenue or expense during the reporting period. The Company evaluates 
these judgments based upon historical experience, current and expected future outcomes, third-party evaluations 
and various other assumptions believed to be reasonable in the circumstances.

The evaluation by the Company may result in an unrealized tax benefit in connection with taxation years that 
have not yet been reviewed by the relevant tax authority. The Company believes that the amount of unrealized 
tax benefits appropriately reflects the uncertainty of items that are or may in the future be under discussion, 
audit, dispute or appeal with a tax authority or which may otherwise result in uncertainty in the determination 
of income for tax purposes. The unrealized tax benefit is determined based on the Company’s estimate of the 
potential outcomes and is reviewed during each reporting period. If appropriate, an unrealized tax benefit will 
be realized in the reporting period in which the Company determines that realization is not in doubt. Where the 
finally determined outcome is different from the Company’s estimate, such difference will impact the Company’s 
income taxes in the reporting period during which such determination is made.

A deferred tax asset is generally recognized for any temporary difference in respect of an asset where the tax 
base exceeds the carrying amount and to the extent that it is probable that income for tax purposes will be 
available from which the temporary difference can be deducted and in respect of a liability where the carrying 
amount exceeds the tax base. The amount of the deferred tax asset recognized could be reduced if income or 
temporary differences from which the asset can be deducted do not materialize, which might occur due to various 
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factors, including adverse business conditions. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient income for tax 
purposes will be available from which the temporary difference can be deducted. The magnitude of any reduction 
of the amount of any temporary difference recognized is significantly influenced by the Company’s forecast of 
income for tax purposes.

Accounting for acquisitions

The Company assesses whether an acquisition should be accounted for as an asset acquisition or a business 
combination under IFRS 3.  This assessment requires management to make judgments on whether the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 and if the integrated set of activities, 
including inputs and processes acquired, is capable of being conducted and managed as a business and the 
Company obtains control of the business.  The Company’s acquisitions have been accounted for as business 
combinations.

Other areas of estimation include the determination and fair value measurement of the purchase price contingent 
consideration on business combinations, which includes the Company developing its best estimates under IFRS 
13, of projected earnings targets, the probability of the contingency being achieved, and the discount rate. 
Management is also required to make estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 
business combinations.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s cross currency swaps are carried at fair value at each reporting date. As observable prices are 
not available, fair values are determined using valuation techniques that refer to observable data. The critical 
estimates involved in calculating the fair value are USD forward rates relative to GBP, credit spreads and credit 
default rates.

Going Concern

The assessment of material uncertainties related to events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern involves significant judgment.  In making this assessment, 
management considers all relevant information, as described in Note 2 “Assessment of Liquidity and 
Management's Plans". Management has determined that there are no material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least the next twelve months.

5. Acquisitions

Products Acquisition

On June 1, 2016, the Company, through wholly owned subsidiaries, completed the acquisition of four generic 
products and their associated global rights (the "Products Acquisition"). The products acquired included Sodium 
Feredetate oral solution for the treatment of anemia, Trazadone oral solution for the treatment of depression, 
and antihistamine Alimemazine oral solution and tablets. The Company paid £21 million, funded through cash 
on hand on closing of the Products Acquisition. In addition, £7 million in earn-out payments based on certain 
performance and supply targets were accrued at December 31, 2016 and subsequently were paid on February 
6, 2017.

The purchase price allocation for the Products Acquisition is not final as the Company is in the process of 
concluding on its valuation of intangible assets. The revenue and net income earned from the acquired products 
was $9,958 and $9,373, respectively, post acquisition and on a pro forma basis revenue and net income was 
approximately $15,542 and $14,705, respectively, if the Company had acquired them on January 1, 2016. 
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Fair Value of Consideration Transferred 

Cash purchase consideration paid 30,677
Purchase consideration payable 9,691
Total Consideration 40,368

Assets Acquired 

The transaction has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired as of the acquisition date.

Amounts
Recognized

as of the
Acquisition

Date

Measurement 
period 

adjustments (c)

Amounts
Recognized
as of Dec 31,

2016
Acquired product rights (a) 37,011 73 37,084
Inventory (b) 3,357 (73) 3,284
Total fair value of consideration transferred 40,368 — 40,368

(a) Acquired product rights have expected useful lives of 7 years. 

(b) Includes a non cash fair value increase to inventory of $3,080, of which $2,769 has been recorded in cost of 
sales during the year ended December 31, 2016.

(c) The measurement period adjustments were made to reflect facts and circumstances existing as of the 
acquisition date, and did not result from intervening events subsequent to the acquisition date. During the 
measurement period, the Company recorded certain adjustments to the purchase price allocation including an 
increase to intangible assets of $73 and a decrease to acquired inventory of $73.

The Concordia International (Jersey) Limited (formerly known as Amdipharm Mercury Limited) Acquisition)

On October 21, 2015 (the “Closing Date”) the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, completed the 
acquisition of 100% of the outstanding shares of Amdipharm Mercury Limited (the “Concordia International 
Acquisition”) from Cinven, a European private equity firm, and certain other sellers (collectively the “Vendors”). 

The Concordia International Acquisition was completed for cash consideration of approximately £800 million 
(with a value on the closing date of $1.24 billion), 8.49 million common shares of the Company (with a value 
on the closing date of $230.8 million) and daily interest on the total cash consideration, that accrued from June 
30, 2015 to October 21, 2015 (with a value on the closing date of $47.7 million).  In addition, the Company was 
required to pay to the Vendors a maximum cash earn-out of £144 million (with a value at closing of $206.5 
million) based on Concordia International’s gross profit over a period of 12 months from October 1, 2015.  On 
September 30, 2016 the Company exercised its option to defer the payment of one-half of this earn-out to February 
1, 2017, whereby the deferred amount accrued interest from the date of the deferral on a daily basis at a rate of 
8% per annum. The first-half of the earn-out payment in the amount of £72 million was paid to the Vendors on 
December 19, 2016. The second-half of the earn-out payment in the amount of £73.5 million, which included 
interest of approximately £1.5 million, was paid on February 1, 2017.

The purchase price allocation for Concordia International was finalized during the fourth quarter of 2016.
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Fair Value of Consideration Transferred 

Cash purchase consideration paid 2,683,260
Common shares (8.49 million) 230,843
Purchase consideration payable 206,490
Total Consideration 3,120,593

Adjusted for the following:
Discharge of Concordia International long-term debt (1,396,434)
Discharge of other transaction liabilities (89,700)
Cash assumed on acquisition (76,100)
Total 1,558,359

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

The transaction has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method of accounting. 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the 
acquisition date, and updated through the measurement period.

Amounts
Recognized

as of the
Acquisition

Date

Measurement 
period 

adjustments (a)

Amounts
Recognized
as of Dec 31,

2016
Accounts receivable (b) 114,309 — 114,309
Inventory (c) 105,235 — 105,235
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,234 — 6,234
Fixed assets 4,087 — 4,087
Intangible assets (d) 2,499,171 (16,303) 2,482,868
Deferred income tax assets 319 — 319
Accounts payable (29,144) (1,056) (30,200)
Accrued liabilities (67,530) — (67,530)
Provisions (5,899) — (5,899)
Current income taxes payable (36,467) — (36,467)
Contingent consideration payable (e) (68,984) — (68,984)
Deferred income tax liabilities (f) (310,431) (6,068) (316,499)
Long-term debt (1,396,434) — (1,396,434)
Other transaction liabilities (89,700) — (89,700)
Total identifiable net assets 724,766 (23,427) 701,339
Goodwill (g) 833,593 23,427 857,020
Total fair value of consideration transferred 1,558,359 — 1,558,359

(a) The measurement period adjustments were made to reflect facts and circumstances existing as of the 
acquisition date, and did not result from intervening events subsequent to the acquisition date. During the 
measurement period, the Company recorded certain adjustments to the purchase price allocation including 
an increase to accounts payable of $1,056 and a decrease to intangible assets of $16,303, resulting in an 
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associated $6,068 increase to deferred tax liabilities.  The adjustments to intangible assets and associated 
deferred income tax liabilities were the result of finalizing certain valuation assumptions existing at the date 
of acquisition, including estimates of product cash flows. As a result of the above adjustments, goodwill 
was increased by $23,427.

(b) The fair value of trade accounts receivable acquired was $114,309, with the gross contractual amount being 
$114,875, of which the Company has established an initial reserve of $566 in respect of amounts which 
may be uncollectible. 

(c) Includes a fair value increase to inventory of $41,951, of which $23,308 was recorded in cost of sales by 
December 31, 2015 and the remaining amount of $18,643 was recorded in cost of sales during the three 
months ended March 31, 2016. 

(d) The following table summarizes the amounts and useful lives assigned to identifiable intangible assets:

Weighted-
Average

Useful Lives
(Years)

Amounts
Recognized

Acquired product rights and manufacturing process 20 2,149,871
Distribution contracts 5 34,370
Supplier contracts 5 140,680

In-process research and development
No

amortization 156,854
Other intangible assets 3-5 1,093
Total identifiable intangible assets acquired 2,482,868

(e) The Company assumed contingent consideration payable of $68,984, which included the earn-out on the 
acquisitions previously completed by Concordia International. 

(f) Deferred income tax liabilities have been recognized in connection with intangible assets and inventory 
using the substantively enacted tax rates at which the temporary differences were expected to be realized 
as of the Closing Date.

(g) The balance of goodwill that has been allocated to the Concordia International segment is the difference 
between the acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred and the values assigned to the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
The goodwill recorded represents the following:

• cost savings and operating synergies expected to result from combining the operations of Concordia 
International with those of the Company;

• the value of the continuing operations of Concordia International’s existing business (that is, the higher 
rate of return on the assembled net assets versus if the Company had acquired all of the net assets 
separately); and

• intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition.

The Covis Portfolio Acquisition

On April 21, 2015, the Company, through its subsidiary CPI, completed the acquisition of substantially all of 
the commercial assets of Covis Pharma S.à R.L. and Covis Injectables S.à R.L. (collectively, “Covis”) for $1.2 
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billion in cash (the “Covis Acquisition”) pursuant to the terms of an asset purchase agreement (the “Covis 
Purchase Agreement”). The drug portfolio acquired from Covis (the “Covis Portfolio”) consists of a portfolio 
of products, comprised of branded products and authorized generic contracts, that address medical conditions 
in various therapeutic areas.

The Company funded the acquisition through a mix of bank facilities, senior notes and equity. Accordingly, the 
Company entered into a credit agreement with RBC Capital Markets and a syndicate of lenders (“Credit 
Agreement”) having an aggregate principal amount of up to $700 million, consisting of a senior secured revolving 
credit facility (“Revolving Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $125 million and a senior secured 
term loan facility (“Term Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of $575 million. In addition, the Company 
also closed a private offering of $735 million of 7% Senior Notes due 2023 (the “Senior Notes”) issued pursuant 
to an indenture. In connection with the Covis Acquisition, the Company also closed a short form prospectus 
offering, on a “bought deal” basis, of 4,329,428 subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) which included 
the exercise by the underwriters of an over-allotment option of 15%, at a price of CAD$85.00 per Subscription 
Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of CAD$368 million to the Company. Upon closing of the Covis Acquisition, 
each holder of Subscription Receipts automatically received without payment of additional consideration or 
further action, one common share of Concordia for each Subscription Receipt held.

The allocation of total consideration was allocated to assets acquired and adjusted to final as follows. There were 
no measurement period adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2016.

Fair Value of Consideration Transferred 

Cash 1,200,000
Total Consideration 1,200,000

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

Amounts
Recognized as
of Acquisition

Date

Measurement 
Period 

Adjustments (a)

Amounts
Recognized as
of Dec 31, 2016

Inventory 6,424 10,698 17,122
Accounts receivable 616 (566) 50
Accrued liabilities (422) (100) (522)
Contingent liability (7,191) 7,191 —
Deferred tax liability (3,340) (888) (4,228)
Acquired product rights 1,195,560 (10,660) 1,184,900
Total identifiable net assets 1,191,647 5,675 1,197,322
Goodwill 8,353 (5,675) 2,678
Total fair value of consideration transferred 1,200,000 — 1,200,000

(a) The measurement period adjustments were made to reflect facts and circumstances existing as of the 
acquisition date, and did not result from intervening events subsequent to the acquisition date. These 
adjustments did not have a significant impact on the Company’s previously reported consolidated financial 
statements. During the measurement period, the Company recorded certain adjustments to the purchase 
price allocation including a decrease to acquired product rights of $10,660, an increase to the deferred tax 
liability of $888, an increase in accrued liabilities of $100, a decrease to contingent liability of $7,191, and 
a decrease to accounts receivable of $566. In addition the Company recorded a fair value increase of $10,698 
to inventory in the measurement period, which entire amount had subsequently been recorded in cost of 
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sales during the year ended December 31, 2015. As a result of all of the above, goodwill was decreased by 
$5,675.

Acquisition related costs of $12,556 were charged to the consolidated statement of income (loss) for the year 
ended December 31, 2015. The total amount of goodwill of $2,678 is calculated as the difference between the 
fair value of consideration transferred and the preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
Goodwill is primarily attributable to the benefits associated with the group of products acquired and the 
corresponding projected future cash flows to be earned.

On October 5, 2015, CPI sold its rights to three injectable products, Fortaz®, Zantac® and Zinacef®, which 
were acquired in the Covis Acquisition, for total consideration of approximately $10 million plus $1 million for 
purchased inventory. 

The Covis Portfolio revenues of $128,859 and net income of $45,190 are included in the consolidated statement 
of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2015, since April 21, 2015. 

On a pro-forma basis, Concordia’s consolidated revenues would have been higher by $475 million, gross profit 
higher by $339 million and net loss before tax, excluding the impact of inventory fair value adjustments ($34 
million) and additional intangible amortization ($110 million), would be reduced by $180 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2015 had the Concordia International Acquisition and Covis  Acquisition occurred on 
January 1, 2015. 

6. Accounts Receivable

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Accounts receivable 185,414 199,412
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,922) (6,218)
Total 182,492 193,194

Bad debt write-offs of $621 were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $1,610).

An aging of accounts receivable balances past due but not impaired is as follows:

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Amounts past due (net of provision)
Past due 1 - 30 days 8,288 6,112
Past due 31 - 60 days 2,413 758
Past due 61 - 120 days 3,175 905
Past due more than 120 days 1,712 —
Total 15,588 7,775

Amounts past due represent accounts receivable past due based on the customer's contractual terms. The net 
amounts past due of approximately $16 million, which is equivalent to 9% of the net accounts receivable balance 
as at December 31, 2016, has been assessed for recoverability by the Company. The majority of this balance 
relates to customers with a long trading history with the Company, whereby no issues of collection are expected.
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7. Inventory

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Finished goods 73,325 89,352
Raw materials 25,639 20,444
Work in process 14,429 7,753
Obsolescence reserve (20,586) (16,936)
Total 92,807 100,613

Inventory costs charged to cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2016 were $159,381 (2015 -  
$83,306), which includes $18,643 (2015 - $33,932) of non-cash fair value adjustments related to inventories 
acquired through the Concordia International Acquisition and $2,769 of non-cash fair value adjustments related 
to inventories acquired through the Products Acquisition disclosed in Note 5. The Company increased its reserve 
for obsolete inventory by $3,650 during the year ended December 31, 2016. There were no other inventory write-
downs charged to cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $nil).

8. Intangible Assets

Acquired
Product Rights

and
manufacturing

processes
Intellectual

Property
Distribution

Contracts
Supplier

Contracts IPR&D
All Other

Intangibles Total
Balance, January 1,
2015 436,863 31,105 — — — 2,200 470,168
Additions 3,204,669 — 35,340 135,429 308,545 1,295 3,685,278
Dispositions (10,339) — — — — — (10,339)
Amortization (67,047) (1,640) (1,354) (5,188) — (581) (75,810)
Impact of foreign
exchange (85,760) — (1,448) (5,550) (13,032) (75) (105,865)
Impairment — — — — — (1,690) (1,690)
Balance, December
31, 2015 3,478,386 29,465 32,538 124,691 295,513 1,149 3,961,742

Additions 37,084 — — — 3,392 1,157 41,633
Measurement period
adjustments (Note 5) 130,102 — (970) 5,251 (150,686) — (16,303)
Dispositions — — — — (1,103) — (1,103)
Transfer from
IPR&D 4,235 — — — (4,235) — —
Amortization (149,827) (1,640) (6,034) (24,900) — (418) (182,819)
Impact of foreign
exchange (344,675) — (4,850) (19,855) (24,811) (58) (394,249)
Impairment (1,070,711) — — — (58,470) — (1,129,181)
Balance, December
31, 2016 2,084,594 27,825 20,684 85,187 59,600 1,830 2,279,720

Intellectual property and acquired product rights including brands, trademarks and patents, are amortized on a 
straight line basis over 7 to 35 years representing management’s estimate of their useful lives. Residual values 
are estimated at $nil. Internally developed intangibles are not amortized until commencement of 
commercialization. Manufacturing process relates to specialized manufacturing know how related to acquired 
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product rights. Distribution contracts and supplier contracts are amortized on a straight line basis over 5 years. 
All other intangibles include customer list and software intangible.

Impairment of intangible assets

In accordance with the Company's accounting policy, IPR&D is tested for impairment annually, and also when 
there is an indicator of impairment. The remaining intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or 
changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Summary of impairments

For the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company recorded impairment losses of $1,070,711 (2015 - $nil) 
with respect to acquired product rights and manufacturing processes and $58,470 with respect to IPR&D (2015 
- $nil).

There have been no reversals of impairment losses or any previous impairments recorded with respect to acquired 
product right intangible assets.

Indicators of impairment

Second quarter of 2016

In the second quarter of 2016 and as part of the second quarter end financial close process, management determined 
that certain triggering events had occurred with respect to two North America segment products, Nilandron® 
and Plaquenil®, requiring management to perform tests for impairment on these products. The triggering events 
included the July 2016 launch of a generic competitive product for Nilandron® and notification from the 
Company's AG Partner regarding market competitive pressure associated with sales volumes and pricing with 
respect to Plaquenil® AG. 

The Company recorded a $306,189 impairment with respect to Nilandron® and a $260,887 impairment with 
respect to Plaquenil® in the statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. The carrying value of 
Nilandron® and Plaquenil® recorded as acquired product rights intangible assets were written down to $60,654
and $271,263, respectively as at June 30, 2016.

Key assumptions used are as follows:

• Discount Rate: 10.4% to 11.4% 
• Estimated product cash flows, including price and volume assumptions based on historical trends

Sensitivity analysis

An increase/decrease in the discount rate by 1% would have the impact to increase/decrease the total impairment 
to Nilandron® by $5,135 and $6,195, respectively, and Plaquenil® by $27,101 and $33,181, respectively.

A 1% increase/decrease to the revenue growth assumptions would have the impact to decrease/increase the total 
impairment to Nilandron® by $5,435 and $4,510, respectively, and Plaquenil® by $31,373 and $25,819, 
respectively.

Fourth quarter of 2016

IPR&D

The Company completed its annual impairment testing on IPR&D during the fourth quarter of 2016. 

As part of the Company's annual impairment test on IPR&D it was determined that an impairment charge on 
these assets was required in the amount of $58,470.  The impairment relates to projects that have been abandoned, 
or certain IPR&D projects with lower present day future forecasts compared with those at the time of the 
Concordia International Acquisition. The calculation of the recoverable amount of IPR&D was determined using 
discounted cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management (level 3 of fair value 
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hierarchy) and a terminal growth assumption of -5%. The key assumptions and estimates used in determining 
the value were related to revenue growth assumptions, and the discount rate of 13.2% applied to the cash flow 
projections. 

An increase/decrease in the discount rate by 1% would have the impact to increase/decrease the total impairment 
by $2,661 and $3,052, respectively.

A 1% increase/decrease to the revenue growth assumptions would have the impact to decrease/increase the total 
total impairment by $1,118 and $1,246, respectively.

Concordia North America

In the fourth quarter of 2016 and as part of the fourth quarter end financial close process, management determined 
that certain triggering events had occurred with respect to seven North America segment products, Donnatal®, 
Plaquenil®, Uroxatral®, Dyrenium®, Dibenzyline®, Ulesifa® and Parnate® requiring management to perform 
a test for impairment. The triggering events included pricing pressure and increased competition resulting in a 
decreased forecast of future net cash inflows from previous budgets as well as notifications from the Company's 
AG Partner on certain market competitive pressures. 

In relation to Donnatal®, based on key assumptions including market competitive pressures reducing revenue 
in future periods and an 11% discount rate, no impairment charge was required to the carrying value of the 
associated intangible asset. 

For the remaining products the Company recorded impairment charges using a fair value less costs of disposal 
model in the statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. The impairment charges recording during 
the fourth quarter of 2016 and the resulting carrying values subsequent to the impairment charges were as follows:

Impairment

Remaining
Carrying

Value as at
Dec 31, 2016

Plaquenil® 219,354 47,089
Uroxatral® 38,544 20,567
Dyrenium® 23,056 19,621
Dibenzyline® 10,518 33,342
Parnate® 8,009 7,225
Ulesfia® 7,457 —
Total 306,938 127,844

Key assumptions of the models are as follows:

• Discount rate: 11%
• Estimated product cash flows, including price and volume assumptions based on historical trends
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The following table presents a sensitivity analysis to show the impact on the impairment charges for changes in 
certain assumptions:

Discount rate
Revenue growth

assumption
-1% +1 -1% +1%

Plaquenil® (1,660) 1,537 1,946 (1,803)
Uroxatral® (552) 588 641 (684)
Dyrenium® (776) 697 1,350 (1,228)
Dibenzyline® (1,529) 1,390 1,420 (1,290)
Parnate® (234) 253 305 (280)
Ulesfia® — — — —

Concordia International

In the fourth quarter of 2016 and as part of the fourth quarter end financial close process, management determined 
that certain triggering events had occurred with respect to certain products within the Concordia International 
segment. These triggering events require management to perform a test for impairment. The triggering events 
included pricing pressure and increased competition resulting in a decreased forecast of future net cash inflows 
from previous budgets. The Company recorded impairment charges using a fair value less costs of disposal 
model, in the statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2016. The impairment charges recording during 
the fourth quarter of 2016 and the resulting carrying values subsequent to the impairment charges were as follows:

Impairment

Remaining
Carrying

Value as at
Dec 31, 2016

Levothyroxine Sodium 61,594 90,159
Prednisolone 43,521 58,738
Hydrocortisone 26,129 8,042
Carbimazole 12,088 63,471
Tranylcypromine Sulphate 13,379 13,537
Dicycloverine 11,835 15,883
Dipipanone Cyclizine 9,904 17,696
Nefopam 8,306 21,479
Others 1,272 —
Total 188,028 289,005

Key assumptions of the models are as follows:

• Discount rate: 11%
• Estimated product cash flows, including price and volume assumptions based on historical trends

The Company also impaired other intangibles associated with manufacturing processes by $8,669 during the 
fourth quarter of 2016 as a result of the revenue declines within certain products as described above.
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The following table presents a sensitivity analysis to show the impact on the impairment charges for changes in 
certain assumptions:

Discount rate
Revenue growth

assumption
-1% +1 -1% +1%

Levothyroxine Sodium (5,417) 4,783 7,810 (8,852)
Prednisolone (3,499) 3,089 4,701 (5,328)
Hydrocortisone (401) 355 571 (648)
Carbimazole (3,909) 3,450 5,256 (5,957)
Tranylcypromine Sulphate (790) 698 1,020 (1,156)
Dicycloverine (947) 836 1,130 (1,281)
Dipipanone Cyclizine (1,160) 1,022 513 (581)
Nefopam (1,303) 1,151 1,626 (1,842)

9. Goodwill

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Opening balance 824,529 36,259
Additions — 836,271
Measurement period adjustment (Note 5) 23,427 —
Impairment (3,062) (7,923)
Impact of foreign exchange (136,964) (40,078)
Total 707,930 824,529

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented within Note 23.

In accordance with the Company's accounting policy, the carrying value of goodwill is assessed annually as well 
assessed for impairment triggers at each reporting date to determine whether there exists any indicators of 
impairment.

When there is an indicator of impairment of non-current assets within a CGU or group of CGUs containing 
goodwill, the Company tests the non-current assets for impairment first and recognizes any impairment loss on 
goodwill before applying any remaining impairment loss against the non-current assets within the CGU.

Summary of Impairments

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded goodwill impairment losses of $3,062 associated 
with the Concordia North America segment. An impairment loss of $7,923 recorded in 2015 relates to the 
Company's wind down of its former Specialty Healthcare Distribution Division and its subsidiary Complete 
Medical Homecare, Inc. (refer to Note 26).

Third quarter of 2016

During the third quarter of 2016, the Company identified a triggering event requiring the Company to perform 
goodwill impairment testing. The triggering event was mainly the result of the decline of the Company's share 
price through to September 30, 2016, which was reflective of the reduced earnings in the Concordia North 
America segment. As a result of the impairment testing performed, the Company recorded an impairment loss 
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of $3,062 during the third quarter of 2016, representing the entire remaining amount of goodwill associated with 
the Concordia North America segment.

Annual Impairment Test

The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing on the goodwill remaining in the Concordia 
International group of CGUs and the Orphan Drugs group of CGUs, which have goodwill carrying values of 
$679,964 and $27,966, respectively.  The recoverable amount of the Concordia International group of CGUs 
was calculated using fair value less costs of disposal ("FVLCD"), and the Orphan Drugs group of CGUs 
recoverable amount was calculated based on VIU.

Concordia International

The calculation of recoverable amount of the Concordia International group of CGUs was determined using 
discounted cash flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by management covering a five-year 
period (level 3 of fair value hierarchy) and a terminal growth assumption of 2%. The key assumptions and 
estimates used in determining the FVLCD are related to revenue and gross margin assumptions, which are based 
on the financial forecast and assumed growth rates, working capital assumptions, the effective tax rate of 13%
and the discount rate of 12.1% applied to the cash flow projections. As a result of the impairment testing performed, 
it was determined that the recoverable amount of the Concordia International group of CGUs of $2,416,263
exceeded the carrying value of the Concordia International group of CGUs of $2,168,765.

The recoverable amount would decrease by $213,573 if the discount rate were to increase by 1%, and would 
increase by $260,850 if the discount rate were to decrease by 1%. If the terminal growth rate were to increase 
or decrease by 1%, the recoverable amount would increase by $152,502, or decrease by $124,968, respectively.

Orphan Drugs

The calculation of recoverable amount of the Orphan Drugs group of CGUs was determined using discounted 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period (level 3 
of fair value hierarchy) and a terminal growth assumption of -2%. The key assumptions and estimates used in 
determining the VIU are related to revenue and gross margin assumptions, which are based on the financial 
forecast and assumed growth rates, and the discount rate of 14.8% applied to the cash flow projections. As a 
result of the impairment testing performed, it was determined that the recoverable amount of the Orphan Drugs 
group of CGUs of $67,600 exceeded the Orphan Drugs group of CGUs carrying value of $63,201.

The recoverable amount of the Orphan Drugs group of CGUs would decrease by $5,531 if the discount rate 
were to increase by 1%, and would increase by $6,315 if the discount rate were to decrease by 1%. If the terminal 
growth rate were to increase or decrease by 1%, the recoverable amount would increase by $3,069, or decrease 
by $2,724, respectively.

10. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Trade payables 35,021 38,608
Accrued liabilities 69,855 70,560
Interest payable on long-term debt (Note 14) 44,280 49,318
Interest payable on Currency Swaps (Note 13) 20,337 —
Total 169,493 158,486
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11. Provisions 

The following table describes movements in the Company’s provisions balance by nature of provision: 

Chargebacks
/Rebates/

Co-pay Returns
Inventory

management
Prompt

pay Total
Balance, January 1, 2015 12,011 8,121 1,420 247 21,799
Additions 146,834 16,226 22,035 6,288 191,383
Utilization (137,965) (16,809) (19,960) (5,719) (180,453)
Balance, December 31, 2015 20,880 7,538 3,495 816 32,729

Additions 106,331 30,081 22,395 6,961 165,768
Utilization (112,495) (29,293) (22,498) (6,977) (171,263)
Balance, December 31, 2016 14,716 8,326 3,392 800 27,234

The closing balance relates to provisions made to estimate the liabilities arising from chargebacks, rebates, 
returns and other price adjustments recorded as a reduction of revenue, as explained in Note 4. Payments are 
expected within 12 months from the balance sheet date. Invoices received for such charges and estimates are 
shown in the accounts payable when received. The provision is for the uninvoiced portion of the charges and 
estimates.

12. Income Taxes

Significant components of the current and deferred income tax reflected in the consolidated statements of loss 
are as follows: 

2016 2015
Current income tax expense 37,795 9,911

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) in respect of:
Origination & reversal of temporary differences (64,271) (8,633)
Change in tax rates during the period (7,376) (23,289)

(71,647) (31,922)
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (33,852) (22,011)

Income taxes that are required to be reflected in equity, instead of in the consolidated statements of loss, are 
included in the consolidated statements of changes in (deficit) equity.

Current and deferred income tax referred to above is recognized based on management’s best estimate of the 
tax rates expected to apply to the income, loss or temporary difference.

The Company is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions with varying tax rates. Other than a United 
Kingdom legislated reduction of their tax rate to 17% (applicable after March 31, 2020) that impacts the 
Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities, there was no material change to the statutory tax rates in 
the taxing jurisdictions where the majority of the Company’s income for tax purposes was earned or where its 
temporary differences or losses are expected to be realized or settled.
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Although tax rates may not have changed materially, except as noted above, the Company’s acquisition growth 
combined with the impact of commercial decisions and market forces have resulted in a redistribution of income 
for tax purposes amongst taxing jurisdictions.

The Company continues to believe the amount of unrealized tax benefits appropriately reflects the uncertainty 
of items that are or may in the future be under discussion, audit, dispute or appeal with a tax authority or which 
otherwise result in uncertainty in the determination of income for tax purposes. If appropriate, an unrealized tax 
benefit will be realized in the reporting period in which the Company determines that realization is not in doubt. 
Where the final determined outcome is different from the Company’s estimate, such difference will impact the 
Company’s income taxes in the reporting period during which such determination is made.

A reconciliation of the amount of income taxes reflected above compared to the amount of income taxes that 
would result by multiplying loss before income taxes by the legislated tax rate applicable to the Company in 
Canada is as follows:

2016 2015
Loss before income taxes (1,347,945) (51,436)

Expected expense / (recovery) at the Company's Canadian tax rate 26.5% (357,205) (13,631)
Effect of tax rates outside of Canada 261,981 (15,952)
Change in tax rates during the period (7,376) (23,289)
Non-deductible and non-taxable items 23,193 4,742
Capitalized expenditures 178 9,279
Change in deferred income tax assets not recognized 42,511 13,800
Other items 2,866 3,040
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (33,852) (22,011)

Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated balance 
sheets are as follows:

2016 2015
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) in respect of:
Losses and credits 987 333
Intangible assets (179,028) (272,646)
Other items (2,218) 482
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net (180,259) (271,831)

Deferred income tax assets 979 2,271
Deferred income tax liabilities (181,238) (274,102)
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), net (180,259) (271,831)

A deferred income tax asset has not been recognized for certain temporary differences that may be available to 
reduce income subject to tax in a taxation period subsequent to the period covered by these financial statements. 
The amount of such temporary differences, that is the amount before applying the relevant tax rate, which is not 
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statements of loss, is as follows:



Concordia International Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Stated in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per share amounts and where otherwise stated)

[41]

2016 2015
Losses and credits 505,660 280,527
Other items 51 803
Total unrecognized temporary differences 505,711 281,330

The deferred income tax assets in connection with the Company’s losses and credits that may be available to 
reduce income subject to tax in a taxation period subsequent to the period covered by these financial statements, 
is as follows:

2016 2015
Expiring within 15 years 1,608 2,744
Expiring between 15 and 20 years 90,967 24,771
No expiration 46,925 50,799
Total deferred income tax asset in respect of losses and credits 139,500 78,314

Total in North America 92,433 27,123
Total in Europe 44,426 49,067
Total in other jurisdictions 2,641 2,124
Total deferred income tax asset in respect of losses and credits 139,500 78,314

The integrated nature of the Company’s global operations gives rise to many transactions in the ordinary course 
of business in respect of which the determination of income for tax purposes may be uncertain. Transactions 
that arise between multiple taxing jurisdictions are subject to review by these jurisdictions, where a decision of 
one taxing authority may not agree with the decision of another. The Company is committed to mitigating 
uncertainty that may arise in connection with such transactions and to this end has prepared documentation that 
complies with local legislation and is in accordance with international guidelines, such as those of the 
Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development. Refer to the Income taxes section of the Critical 
Accounting Estimates and Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty of these notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding the Company’s judgment and use of 
estimates relevant to income taxes.

The Company’s global operations requires a corporate structure that includes affiliated legal entities that are 
collectively subject to the authority of numerous taxing jurisdictions. Certain transactions may arise which create 
a temporary difference in connection with an affiliated legal entity. The realization of this temporary difference 
may result in income tax. As at December 31, 2016 the cumulative temporary difference in connection with 
affiliated legal entities for which a deferred income tax liability has not been recognized is $nil (2015 - $18,678). 
As at December 31, 2016, the Company has recognized $2,103 (2015 - $nil) deferred income tax liability in 
connection with the realization of such a temporary difference on the basis that it is probable that such a temporary 
difference will be realized in the foreseeable future.

13. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company's derivative financial instruments consist of cross currency swap contracts (the "Currency 
Swaps") entered into to reduce the Company's exposure to exchange rate fluctuations between GBP and USD.

The Company has entered into the Currency Swaps as economic hedges of certain cash flows from its Concordia 
International segment denominated in GBP and long term debt repayments denominated mainly in USD. The 
Company determines for each derivative contract entered into whether hedge accounting will be applied at 
inception, which is based on the facts and circumstances of each contract. The application of hedge accounting 
requires valuation techniques using market data that also consider movements in credit ratings and spreads. On 
the first derivative contract further described below, the Company applied hedge accounting on inception of the 
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contract. As a result of volatility in market credit risk factors subsequently, the Company opted to not apply 
hedge accounting on the second derivative contract (further described below in (b)) and during the fourth quarter 
of 2016 further movements in credit ratings and spreads caused the first derivative contract to become ineffective 
under hedge accounting. Management believes that despite the Company's inability to apply and maintain hedge 
accounting, the derivative contracts are designed to continue to mitigate the Company’s foreign currency risk 
and fixing certain payments related to its long term debt commitments.

Payments and contractual obligations under the Currency Swaps are with the same counterparty, however are 
settled on a gross basis. Therefore, the fair value of the pay and receive portions along with interest payable and 
receivable have been presented on a gross basis.

(a) The Company entered into a cross currency swap contract effective August 17, 2016 (the “August 2016 
Currency Swap”). The August 2016 Currency Swap reduces the Company’s exposure to exchange rate 
fluctuations between GBP and USD. 

The August 2016 Currency Swap has a term through to April 15, 2023 and converts certain GBP cash flows 
to USD over the term of the August 2016 Currency Swap, thus fixing the interest rate and exchange on GBP 
cash flows used to fund a portion of the interest and principal payments of the Covis Notes (refer to Note 
14 (d)). The August 2016 Currency Swap has the following terms:

• $382 million principal amount, interest received rate of 10.65%, semi-annual receipts of $20,681

• GBP 296.9 million principal amount, interest paid rate of 10.29%, semi-annual payments of GBP 15,538

• Implicit rate of foreign exchange of 1.2865 USD per GBP

• Contractual repricing on October 13, 2020

The Company had applied hedge accounting at the inception of the contract for the August 2016 Currency 
Swap. However, hedge accounting has been discontinued subsequent to September 30, 2016 due to increased 
hedge ineffectiveness, which has resulted in the hedge no longer qualifying for hedge accounting. The 
payments and receipts associated with the August 2016 Currency Swap have been reflected in the 
consolidated statement of loss for the year within interest and accretion expense and interest income, 
respectively. The August 2016 Currency Swap contract has a fair value of $23,555 as at December 31, 2016. 
As a result of the discontinuation of hedge accounting, a fair value gain of $24,861 on the August 2016 
Currency Swap has been reflected within fair value gains and losses on derivative contracts in the 
consolidated statement of loss for the year.

Prior to the discontinuation of hedge accounting, the hedge was considered to be highly effective and 
accordingly the changes in fair value were reflected in other comprehensive income which cumulatively 
amounted to a fair value loss of $1,623. As a result of the de-designation of the hedge relationship, the fair 
value loss cumulatively reflected in other comprehensive income is being recycled to the consolidated 
statement of loss over the remaining term of the August 2016 Currency Swap contract. Accordingly, $62
of the fair value loss has been recorded in fair value gains and losses on derivative contracts in the consolidated 
statement of loss during the year, with the remaining balance of $1,561 continuing to be reflected in 
accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2016.

Hedge ineffectiveness is the amount arising when the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
does not exactly offset the cumulative gain or loss on the hedged item attributed to the hedged risk. The 
amount of ineffectiveness is based on changes in forward rates utilizing the hypothetical derivative method, 
where changes in fair value of the hypothetical derivative and the hedging instrument are measured 
cumulatively from the designation date of the hedge relationship to the assessment date. The following are 
the sources of ineffectiveness in the hedge accounting relationship:

• The existence of an early termination option held by the counterparty. This feature is not reflected in the 
hypothetical derivative.
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• The Company’s non-performance risk, as reflected in the hypothetical derivative, through the exclusion 
of a credit value adjustment for this risk.

• The counterparty’s credit risk, as reflected in the hypothetical derivative, through the exclusion of a credit 
value adjustment for this risk.

• The currency basis spread implied in the actual derivative has been excluded from the hypothetical 
derivative.

During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company recorded interest income of $15,369 and recorded 
an interest expense of $14,607 related to the August 2016 Currency Swap. 

(b) The Company entered into a cross currency swap contract effective November 3, 2016 (the “November 
2016 Currency Swap”). The November 2016 Currency Swap minimizes the Company’s exposure to 
exchange rate fluctuations between GBP and USD. 

The November 2016 Currency Swap has a term through to April 1, 2022 and converts certain GBP cash 
flows to USD over the term of the November 2016 Currency Swap, thus fixing the interest rate and exchange 
on GBP cash flows used to fund the interest and principal payments of the Secured Notes (refer to Note 14 
(e)). The November 2016 Currency Swap has the following terms:

• $350 million principal amount, interest received rate of 9.00%, semi-annual receipts of $15,750

• GBP 286.6 million principal amount, interest paid rate of 9.95%, semi-annual payments of GBP 14,257

• Implicit rate of foreign exchange of 1.2213 USD per GBP

• Contractual repricing on October 1, 2020

The Company has not applied hedge accounting for the November 2016 Currency Swap. The payments and 
receipts associated with the November 2016 Currency Swap have been reflected in the consolidated statement 
of loss for the period within interest and accretion expense and interest income, respectively. The November 
2016 Currency Swap contract has a fair value of $27,854 as at December 31, 2016. The fair value loss of 
$27,481 on the November 2016 Currency Swap from inception to December 31, 2016 has been reflected 
within fair value loss on derivative contract liabilities in the consolidated statement of loss for the year. The 
remaining portion of fair value loss of $373 as at December 31, 2016, arising from the impact of foreign 
exchange, has been reflected in other comprehensive income for the year.

During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company recorded interest income of $5,075 and recorded 
an interest expense of $5,730 related to the November 2016 Currency Swap.

The fair values of the Currency Swaps are subject to interest rate price risk resulting from market fluctuations 
in interest rates. The fair values of the Currency Swaps are also exposed to currency risk as a portion of the 
contracts are denominated in GBP. The impacts of changes in the interest rate and GBP/USD exchange rate on 
the fair value of the derivative contracts are included below:

Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Impact of a 1% increase in interest rates on the fair value of the
Currency Swaps (1,074) n/a
Impact of a 1% decrease in interest rates on the fair value of the
Currency Swaps 1,188 n/a
Impact of a 10 basis point increase in the GBP/USD exchange rate
on the fair value of the Currency Swaps 486 n/a
Impact of a 10 basis point decrease in the GBP/USD exchange rate
on the fair value of the Currency Swaps (486) n/a
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Unrealized foreign exchange loss for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $128,574.  The primary component 
of the unrealized foreign exchange loss is the recognition of accumulated unrealized foreign exchange losses on 
certain inter-company loans associated with the Company's investment in the Concordia International segment. 
Prior to the entering into the cross currency swaps contracts foreign exchange translation gains and losses on 
these inter-company loans were not included in the statement of loss given the loans were considered to form 
part of the permanent investment in those subsidiaries, all such loans are eliminated on consolidation. In entering 
into the cross currency swaps, certain inter-company loans became designated as hedged items, and subject to 
on-going repayment. Accordingly, the inter-company loans were no longer considered to be permanent 
investments in the related subsidiaries. The unrealized foreign exchange losses represent the total loss on 
translation of these loans from the date of the Concordia International segment acquisition.

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents

Included within interest income on the consolidated statement of loss is interest income of $1,227 (2015 – $311) 
earned on deposits held with major financial institutions, which have been classified as cash equivalents within 
the consolidated balance sheet.

14. Long-term Debt

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Term Loan Facilities (a)

 - USD term loan 1,089,000 1,100,000
 - GBP term loan 609,099 737,258
 - Revolver — —
Bridge Facilities (b) 134,444 135,000
9.5% Senior Notes (c) 790,000 790,000
7% Senior Notes (d) 735,000 735,000
9% Senior Secured Notes (e) 350,000 —
Balance outstanding 3,707,543 3,497,258
Less: deferred financing costs (161,766) (175,932)
Total long-term debt 3,545,777 3,321,326
Less: current portion (76,492) (18,745)
Long-term portion 3,469,285 3,302,581

(a) The Company completed the Concordia International Acquisition as discussed in Note 5. To finance the 
Concordia International Acquisition, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Concordia 
International Credit Agreement") on October 21, 2015 pursuant to which a syndicate of lenders made 
available secured term loans in the aggregate amounts of $1.1 billion in one tranche (the “USD Term Loan”) 
and £500 million in a separate tranche (the “GBP Term Loan”, and together with the USD Term Loan, the 
“Term Loans”).  In addition, the Concordia International Credit Agreement provides for, and made available 
to the Company, a secured revolving loan of up to $200 million that has not been drawn to date, that matures 
in October 2020.  All obligations of the Company under the Term Loans are guaranteed by all current and 
future material subsidiaries of the Company and include security of first priority interests in the assets of 
the Company and its material subsidiaries. The Term Loans mature on October 21, 2021, have variable 
interest rates and require quarterly principal repayments. During 2016, the Company made principal 
payments of $11,000 and £5,000 on the USD Term Loan and GBP Term Loan, respectively. In addition 
commencing in 2017, the Term Loans may require certain principal repayments calculated by reference to 
the Company’s excess cash flow as defined in the Concordia International Credit Agreement, calculated 
annually in respect of the prior year. No payments are required to be made during 2017 with respect to these 
excess cash flow terms. Interest rates on the Term Loans are calculated based on LIBOR plus applicable 
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margins, with a LIBOR floor of 1%. Interest expense on the Term Loans for the year ended December 31, 
2016 was $99,713 (2015 - $24,486). Commencing in 2017 the quarterly principal repayments on the Term 
Loans increase from a rate of 0.25% to 0.625%, and in 2019 increase to 1.25%.

(b) On the Closing Date a syndicate of lenders also provided the Company with a senior unsecured equity bridge 
term loan facility of $135 million (the “Extended Bridge Loans”) and a senior unsecured equity bridge 
term loan facility of $45 million (the “Equity Bridge Loans” and together with the Extended Bridge Loans, 
the “Bridge Facilities”). All obligations of the Company under the Bridge Facilities, subject to certain 
customary exceptions, are guaranteed by all material subsidiaries of the Company. The Extended Bridge 
Loans have a seven year term to maturity and an interest rate of 9.5% for two years.  If the Extended Bridge 
Loans are not repaid on or prior to October 21, 2017, the interest rate will increase to 11.5% and the lenders 
holding the Extended Bridge Loans will have the right to convert the Extended Bridge Loans into a five-
year bond with an interest rate of 11.5%. The Equity Bridge Loans have a two year term to maturity and an 
interest rate of 9.5%. The Bridge Facilities can be repaid in full or in part at any time. In December 2015 
the Company made a principal payment of $45,000 on the Bridge Facilities which was allocated pro rata 
between the outstanding principal of the Bridge Facilities. Interest expense on the Bridge Facilities was 
$12,991 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $4,551). As at December 31, 2016 the Equity Bridge 
Loans with a principal balance of $33,611 have been presented as current portion of long-term debt as they 
mature during the fourth quarter of 2017.

(c) On the Closing Date, the Company issued at par $790 million 9.5% senior unsecured notes due October 21, 
2022 (the “October 2015 Notes”). The October 2015 Notes require no payment of principal throughout 
their term. Interest on the October 2015 Notes is payable semi-annually on June 15th and December 15th 
of each year.  Interest expense on the October 2015 Notes was $75,050 for the year ended December 31, 
2016 (2015 - $15,472). 

(d) In connection with the Covis Acquisition completed on April 21, 2015, the Company issued at par $735 
million 7.00% senior unsecured notes due April 21, 2023 (the “Covis Notes”).  The Covis Notes require no 
payment of principal throughout their term. Interest on the Covis Notes is payable semi-annually on April 
15th and October 15th of each year. Interest on the Covis Notes was $51,450 for the year ended December 31, 
2016 (2015 - $37,609).

(e) On October 13, 2016, the Company issued at par $350 million 9.00% senior secured first lien notes due 
April 1, 2022 (the "Secured Notes"). The Secured Notes require no payment of principal throughout their 
term. Interest on the Secured Notes is payable semi-annually on April 1st and October 1st of each year.  
Interest expense on the Secured Notes was $7,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $nil). 

The Company is currently not subject to the financial maintenance covenants under the Concordia International 
Credit Agreement. These financial maintenance covenants are applicable only in the event that the aggregate 
principal amount of outstanding revolving loans under the Concordia International Credit Agreement is greater 
than 30 percent of the aggregate amount, or $60 million, of the available revolving facility. As the Company has 
not drawn on the revolving facility, the financial maintenance covenants under the Concordia International Credit 
Agreement do not apply at this time. Notwithstanding the aforementioned the Company is required to comply 
with customary non-financial covenants and each agreement that governs the Company’s debt contains cross 
default provisions in the event of non-compliance. 

The fair value of long-term debt as at December 31, 2016 was $2.2 billion (2015 - $3.3 billion).
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The following table describes movements in the Company’s long-term debt balance:

Balance, January 1, 2016 3,321,326
Additions 334,787
Repayments (18,193)
Accretion of deferred financing fees 29,371
Impact of foreign exchange (121,514)
Balance, December 31, 2016 3,545,777

Interest expense

2016 2015
Interest expense payable in cash 246,204 91,228
Interest expense on Currency Swaps (Note 13) 20,337 —
Non-cash items:
    Accretion of deferred financing fees 30,064 8,086
    Accelerated accretion of deferred financing fees — 26,323
    Other non-cash interest 3,136 2,505
Interest and accretion expense 299,741 128,142

15. Share Capital

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. 

Number of
Common

Shares $
Balances as at January 1, 2015 28,861,239 247,035
Issuance of Common Shares 20,896,708 1,015,234
Exercise of stock options 1,207,250 10,237
Vesting of RSUs 29,200 1,966
Balances as at December 31, 2015 50,994,397 1,274,472

Exercise of stock options 12,500 173
Vesting of RSUs 82,659 2,530
Balances as at December 31, 2016 51,089,556 1,277,175

The Company declared dividends during the year ended December 31, 2016 of $7,652 (2015 - $11,720). On 
August 12, 2016, the Company announced the suspension of its annual dividend payments.
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16. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

2016 2015
Net Income (loss) from continuing operations for the period attributable to
shareholders (1,314,093) (29,425)

Weighted average number of common shares in issue 51,022,748 36,184,480
Adjustments for:
Dilutive stock options 334,694 1,050,922
Dilutive unvested shares 440,940 222,159

Weighted average number of fully diluted shares 51,798,382 37,457,561

Earnings (loss) per share, from continuing operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share (25.76) (0.81)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (25.76) (0.81)

Earnings (loss) per share, including discontinuing operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share (25.79) (0.87)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (25.79) (0.87)

17. Share Based Compensation

Employee Stock Option Plan 

The Company has an incentive stock option plan that permits it to grant options to acquire common shares to 
its directors, officers, employees and others. The maximum number of common shares which may be reserved 
for issue under the stock option plan cannot exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
Company on a non-diluted basis (which maximum number is inclusive of any common shares reserved for 
issuance pursuant to the Company’s LTIP (as defined below)). The exercise price at which any option may be 
exercised to acquire a common share of the Company must be not less than the lesser of (i) the closing trading 
price of the common shares on the date of grant and (ii) the volume-weighted average price of the common 
shares on the TSX for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant. 

As at December 31, 2016, 728,266 stock options (2015 – 471,466) were available for grant under the stock 
option plan.
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Information with respect to stock option transactions for the year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 
2015 is as follows:

Number of
Stock

Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Balance, January 1, 2015 2,002,280 $ 8.72
Granted during the year 1,698,735 41.80
Cancelled during the year (12,500) 2.40
Exercised during the year (1,284,530) 5.02
Balance, December 31, 2015 2,403,985 $ 37.07

Weighted-average exercise price of options 
exerciseable as at December 31, 2015 $ 11.73

Balance, January 1, 2016 2,403,985 $ 37.07
Granted during the year 185,000 21.02
Forfeited during the year (241,800) 39.00
Cancelled during the year (200,000) 67.90
Exercised during the year (12,500) 10.32
Balance, December 31, 2016 2,134,685 $ 32.73

Weighted-average exercise price of options 
exerciseable as at December 31, 2016 $ 23.79

The Black-Scholes model was used to compute option values. Key assumptions used to value the grants during 
the year ended December 31, 2016 are set forth in the table below:

Number of options granted 185,000
Market price 2.02 - 26.43
Fair value of options granted 1.32 - 13.81

Assumptions:
Risk-Free Interest Rate 1.38% - 1.45%
Expected Life 5
Volatility 66% to 82%

Exercise price for each of the stock options issued agreed to the market prices at the date of grant.

Volatility for options granted is derived from historical trading prices.

All the stock options issued have different vesting terms ranging from immediate vesting to vesting over a period 
of 3 years.  Contract terms of options issued range and have a life of 7-10 years.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the total compensation charged against income with respect to all stock 
options granted was $20,268 (2015 – $9,688).  The compensation charged against the income statement during 
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the year ended December 31, 2016 includes the impact of the accelerated vesting of stock options held by a 
former officer of the Company.

For the options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2016, the weighted average market price on the 
date of exercise was $10.32.

As at December 31, 2016 outstanding stock options were as follows:

Year of Expiry
Exercise

Price

Number of
Stock

Options Exercisable
2022 35.66 911,500 299,667
2023 2.02 - 26.43 285,000 112,500
2024 5.88 - 31.50 539,000 341,500
2025 32.99 - 78.36 399,185 112,232

2,134,685 865,899

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The Company has a long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”). Under the terms of the LTIP, the Board of Directors 
may grant units (“Units”), which may be either RSUs or DSUs to officers, directors, employees or consultants 
of the Company. Each Unit represents the right to receive one common share in accordance with the terms of 
the LTIP.

During the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company authorized for issuance under the LTIP a total of 
2,204,899 RSUs with market prices between $2.83 and $37.07 with vesting terms over 3 years. The weighted 
average fair value of the RSUs at grant date was $13.64.

The Company authorized for issuance a total of 1,027,803 performance based RSUs on January 7, 2016 and 
February 3, 2016 with market prices on the date of grant of $37.17 and $26.37, respectively. On August 8, 2016 
the Board of Directors resolved to cancel 828,430 of these performance based RSUs (and a corresponding 6,584 
RSUs paid as dividend equivalent amounts). Subsequently, the Board of Directors resolved to convert 116,893 
of these remaining performance based RSUs to RSUs with no performance conditions with vesting terms over 
3 years. In addition, 23,891 of these performance based RSUs vested in connection with the departure of the 
Company's former CFO and 58,589 have been cancelled in connection with the departure of other employees 
of the Company. As a result, the Company has recorded an expense during the fourth quarter of 2016 relating 
to these RSUs. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded share based compensation expense of $10,485
(2015 - $6,510) related to the RSUs accounted for on the basis that they will be equity-settled, with a corresponding 
credit to shareholders’ equity.  The compensation charged against the income statement during the year ended 
December 31, 2016 includes the impact of the accelerated vesting of RSUs held by a former officer of the 
Company, offset by the impact of forfeitures during the fourth quarter of 2016.

Certain performance based RSUs are subject to non-market based performance conditions. As at December 31, 
2016 the Company assessed the actual and forecasted performance underlying these outstanding performance 
based RSUs, and based on that assessment, no vesting or expense has been recorded with respect to these 
performance based RSUs during the year. 
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The Company’s outstanding RSUs are as follows:

Number of
RSUs

Balance, January 1, 2015 —
Issued during the year 254,138
Cancelled during the year (4,776)
Vested during the year (29,200)
Balance, December 31, 2015 220,162

Balance, January 1, 2016 220,162
Issued during the year 2,204,899
Cancelled during the year (1,022,117)
Vested during the year (138,782)
Balance, December 31, 2016 1,264,162

18. Related Party Transactions

The Company had the following related party transactions during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015

Legal fees paid or payable to a firm affiliated with a director 30 53
Total 30 53

Legal fees include professional services for advice relating to intellectual property matters. As at February 9, 
2016, the firm affiliated with the director ceased providing legal services to the Company, apart from clerical 
and administrative work related to the transfer of files.

Certain current employees of the Concordia International segment had an equity interest in the Concordia 
International segment at the time of its sale to the Company.  As a result, pursuant to the share purchase agreement 
entered into by the Company in connection with the Concordia International Acquisition, these employees 
received a portion of the consideration paid by the Company to the Vendors of the Concordia International 
segment (including the earnout consideration paid in December 2016 and February 2017, respectively).

19. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments  

The Company has operating leases relating to rental commitments for its international office locations, an aircraft 
lease and computer and electronic equipment leases. The leases typically run for a period of months up to five 
years.  
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The below table sets forth the Company’s obligations under operating leases: 

Minimum 
Lease 

Payments
2017 4,148
2018 3,969
2019 3,413
2020 1,242
2021 638
Thereafter 296

13,706

Guarantees 

All directors and officers of the Company are indemnified by the Company for various items including, but not 
limited to, all costs to defend lawsuits or actions due to their association with the Company, subject to certain 
restrictions.  The Company holds directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any potential 
future lawsuits or actions. 

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into agreements that include indemnities in favour 
of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, confidentiality agreements, engagement letters with 
advisors and consultants, leasing contracts, license agreements, information technology agreements and various 
product, service, data hosting and network access agreements. These indemnification arrangements may require 
the applicable Company entity to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the counterparties as a result 
of breaches in representations, covenants and warranties provided by the particular Company entity or as a result 
of litigation or other third party claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparties as a 
consequence of the relevant transaction. 

In connection with the acquisition of Zonegran®, the Company guaranteed the payment, performance and 
discharge of the purchaser's payment and indemnification obligations under the asset purchase agreement and 
each ancillary agreement entered into by the purchaser in connection therewith that contained payment or 
indemnification obligations. Pursuant to the Covis Purchase Agreement, the Company guaranteed the purchaser's 
obligations under the Covis Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement entered into by the 
Company in connection with the Concordia International Acquisition, the Company guaranteed the obligations 
of the purchaser under the share purchase agreement and related transaction documents. 

Litigation and Arbitration

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in various legal and administrative proceedings, which 
include product liability, intellectual property, commercial, antitrust, government and regulatory investigations, 
related private litigation and ordinary course employment-related issues. From time to time, the Company also 
initiates actions or files counterclaims. The Company could be subject to counterclaims or other suits in response 
to actions it may initiate. The Company believes that the prosecution of these actions and counterclaims is 
important to preserve and protect the Company, its reputation and its assets. Certain of these proceedings and 
actions are described below.

Unless otherwise indicated the Company cannot reasonably predict the outcome of these legal proceedings, nor 
can it estimate the amount of loss, or range of loss, if any, that may result from these proceedings. An adverse 
outcome in certain of these proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial 
condition and results of operations, and could cause the market value of its common shares and/or debt securities 
to decline. 
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The Company, and certain of its former and current executive officers are the subject of various class action 
complaints relating to the Company’s August 12, 2016 press release, whereby the Company revised its 2016 
guidance.  The complaints allege that the Company issued false and misleading statements to investors and/or 
failed to disclose that: the Company was experiencing a substantial increase in market competition against its 
drug Donnatal®, and other products; as a result, Concordia’s financial results would suffer, and Concordia would 
be forced to suspend its dividend; and as a result Concordia’s statements about its business, operations and 
prospects were materially false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis at all relevant times. The class 
action lawsuits have been consolidated into a single case and a motion to dismiss this action was filed by the 
Company on February 20, 2017.  

The Company and certain of its former and current executive officers are also subject to a class action complaint 
alleging that the Company made false and/or misleading statements, as well as, failed to disclose material adverse 
facts about the Company's business operations and prospects, in the Company's Registration Statement, 
Prospectus and Supplemental Prospectus issued in connection with the Company's secondary offering on 
September 30, 2015. Specifically, the claim alleges that the statements were false and/or misleading and/or failed 
to disclose that: (i) the Company was experiencing a substantial increase in market competition against 
Donnatal®, and other products; (ii) consequently the Company's financial results would suffer and the Company 
would be forced to suspend its dividends; and (iii) as a result of the foregoing, the defendant's statements about 
the Company's business operations and prospects were false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 
The Company has filed a motion to have this matter transferred to the Federal court hearing the class actions 
described immediately above.  

The Company and certain of its former and current executive officers and certain members of the Board of 
Directors are subject to a securities class action filed in Quebec, Canada. The statement of claim alleges that the 
Company made materially false and misleading statements, and failed to disclose material information, from 
November 12, 2015 to August 11, 2016. This class action has not yet been certified nor has leave to bring a 
statutory claim under securities legislation yet been granted.   

In all of the above class actions, the Company has retained counsel and intends to vigorously defend itself. 

On October 25, 2016, the Company announced that the UK Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) 
commenced an investigation into various issues in relation to the UK pharmaceutical sector, and that the 
Concordia International segment was part of the inquiry. The CMA’s investigation includes matters that pre-
date Concordia’s ownership of the Concordia International segment and relates to the Company’s pricing of 
certain products. The Company is fully cooperating with the investigation and the CMA has not reached a view 
as to whether or not it may proceed with its investigation to any finding of a competition law violation.  

On March 3, 2017, the Company announced that the CMA issued a statement of objections to a third party and 
one of the Company’s subsidiaries in relation to the supply of 10mg hydrocortisone tablets in the UK between 
2013 and 2016. A statement of objections is a formal statement by the CMA that it considers that a competition 
infringement may have occurred. The Company intends to respond in detail to the statement of objections and 
continues to cooperate fully with the CMA in the investigation. This investigation includes matters that pre-date 
the Company’s ownership of the Concordia International segment.  

During the first quarter of 2016, the Company became aware that a third party had notified wholesalers, through 
listing services, of its intent to distribute and sell in certain US regions what the Company believes is an illegal 
copy of Donnatal® that has not been approved by the FDA. On January 6, 2016, the Company commenced a 
lawsuit against the third party and its principal owner claiming damages from such conduct, and on April 29, 
2016 and May 3, 2016 commenced proceedings against two listing services for the continued listing of the 
products in their database. In May 2016, this non-FDA approved product was introduced into certain US regions. 
In a similar lawsuit commenced against Method Pharmaceuticals, LLC ("Method") and its principal owner, the 
Company received a favorable jury verdict on April 21, 2016 and was awarded damages in the amount of $733. 
On March 2, 2017, the United States District Court - Western District of Virginia, Charlotteville Division, granted 
the Company's motion for enhanced damages in part, to amend the judgment against Method and its principal 
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owner to reflect an award of damages in the total amount of approximately $2.2 million. On October 4, 2016 
and November 16, 2016, the Company dismissed its claims against the listing services on a without prejudice 
basis, respectively. The Company continues to pursue the undismissed lawsuit vigorously, and believes that this 
product has no right to be on the market given the regulatory history of Donnatal®. Donnatal® is one 
phenobarbital and belladonna alkyloid product that has a right to a DESI hearing and has distinct legal rights to 
be actively marketed.  

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company agreed to settle a previously disclosed arbitration proceeding 
commenced by a former financial advisor to the Company, whereby the financial advisor had claimed it was 
owed approximately $12.3 million in connection with the Covis Acquisition and $26 million in connection with 
the Concordia International Acquisition, plus accrued interest on such amounts. As part of the settlement, the 
financial advisor released all claims against the Company and the Company agreed to pay a settlement amount 
of $12.5 million, which has been recorded in litigation settlement along with $0.96 million associated legal costs.

20. Financial Risk Management 

The Company’s activities expose it to certain financial risks, including currency risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk.

Currency Risk

The Company is exposed to currency risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. The Company 
operates primarily in USD, GBP and Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, 
recognized assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

A portion of the Company’s business is with customers in continental Europe and other foreign markets with 
transactions completed in foreign currencies. The Company’s policy, where considered appropriate, is to 
minimize all currency exposures on any balance not expected to mature within 60 days of its arising.

The Company’s Canadian and Barbados offices incur a small number of transactions in Canadian dollars and 
Barbados dollars, respectively, and have small bank balances, the totals of which are considered to have an 
insignificant effect on financial reporting. The Company has not entered into any foreign exchange derivative 
contracts to hedge the currency risk surrounding Canadian dollars and Barbados dollars.

The Company does not believe it is exposed to currency risk on its net assets denominated in Barbados dollars 
as the currency is fixed to the U.S. dollar.  The Company, however, is exposed to currency risk through its net 
assets denominated in Canadian dollars, the effect of which is insignificant. 

The table below shows the extent to which Company has monetary assets (liabilities) in currencies other than 
the functional currency of the Company.

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Amounts in USD
GBP 95,943 145,152
Euro 13,024 12,998
Indian Rupees 9,600 12,083
Canadian Dollars (4,183) (2,082)
Other 30,583 25,679
Total 144,967 193,830

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company entered into the Currency Swaps to mitigate the foreign 
exchange risk between the USD and GBP, refer to Note 13 for further details.
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Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The long term debt which bears interest at floating rates is subject to interest 
rate cash flow risk resulting from market fluctuations in interest rates. Contingent consideration payable and 
certain long-term debt bear interest at a fixed rate of interest, and as such are subject to interest rate price risk 
resulting from changes in fair value from market fluctuations in interest rates. A 1% appreciation (depreciation) 
in the interest rate would result in the following: 

2016 2015
Impact of a 1% increase in interest rates for contingent

purchase consideration payable on net loss (166) (1,665)
Impact of a 1% decrease in interest rates for contingent

purchase consideration payable on net loss 177 1,760
Impact of a 1% increase in interest rates above LIBOR floor

for long-term debt on net loss (18,009) (6,331)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligation. Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to significant 
concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, other receivables and 
favourable derivative financial instruments. The Company’s investment policies are designed to mitigate the 
possibility of deterioration of principal, enhance the Company’s ability to meet its liquidity needs and provide 
high returns within those parameters. Management monitors the collectability of accounts receivable and 
estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts. As at December 31, 2016, the allowance for doubtful accounts 
was $2,922 (2015 – $6,218). 
Concentrations of credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk primarily 
consist of accounts receivable. 
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its accounts receivable on an on-going basis. As of December 31, 
2016 the Company’s three largest U.S. wholesale customers account for approximately 28% or $51 million of 
net trade receivables and 24% or $194 million of total revenue. The Company does not consider there to be 
additional concentration risk within the Concordia International or Orphan Drugs segments.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability obligations 
as they become due.  The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to determine funds required 
to support the Company's normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis.  Since inception, the Company 
has financed its cash requirements primarily through issuances of securities, short-term borrowings and issuances 
of long-term debt.  The Company controls liquidity risk through management of working capital, cash flows 
and the availability and sourcing of financing.  
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The following tables summarize the Company’s significant contractual undiscounted cash flows as at 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

As at Dec 31, 2016

Financial Instruments
< 3

months
3 to 6

months
6 months
to 1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 5
years Thereafter Total

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 169,493 — — — — — 169,493
Provisions 19,441 2,786 1,996 965 2,046 — 27,234
Income taxes payable 4,229 6,453 35,119 — — — 45,801
Long-term debt (a) 10,720 10,720 55,052 42,881 1,612,335 1,975,835 3,707,543
Interest on long-term debt 26,623 104,337 140,466 261,298 744,511 181,220 1,458,455
Purchase consideration payable 105,072 — 503 2,503 6,295 7,377 121,750
Derivative financial instruments(b) — (2,056) 1,707 7,019 150 — 6,820

335,578 122,240 234,843 314,666 2,365,337 2,164,432 5,537,096

As at Dec 31, 2015

Financial Instruments
< 3

months
3 to 6

months
6 months
to 1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 5
years Thereafter Total

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 158,486 — — — — — 158,486
Provisions 20,676 7,216 4,837 — — — 32,729
Income taxes payable 41,987 — — — — — 41,987
Long-term debt (a) 4,596 4,596 9,187 45,932 751,865 2,681,082 3,497,258
Interest on long-term debt 35,160 79,170 153,100 264,398 487,798 575,957 1,595,583
Purchase consideration payable 28,015 11,650 231,506 12,417 20,074 28,267 331,929

288,920 102,632 398,630 322,747 1,259,737 3,285,306 5,657,972

(a) Long-term debt cash flows include an estimate of the minimum required annual excess cash flow sweep 
(refer to Note 14 (a)).
(b) Derivative financial instruments reflect the interest income, interest expense and principal amounts payable 
to and receivable from the counterparty under the contracts.

21. Financial Instruments – Fair Value Estimation

Accounting classifications and fair values

The fair value of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. For the financial assets and 
liabilities of the Company, the fair values have been estimated as described below:

Cash and cash equivalents - approximates to the carrying amount;
Long-term debt - mainly approximates to the carrying amount in the case of 

floating interest rate debt;
Receivables and payables - approximates to the carrying amount
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The following table presents the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in 
the fair value hierarchy: 

As at Dec 31, 2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Derivative financial instrument — 23,555 — 23,555
— 23,555 — 23,555

Financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Purchase consideration — 92,182 19,362 111,544
Derivative financial instrument — 27,854 — 27,854

— 120,036 19,362 139,398

As at Dec 31, 2015
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss

Purchase consideration — — 292,942 292,942
— — 292,942 292,942

The current portion of purchase consideration as at December 31, 2016 is $104,039 (2015 - $253,600).        

Measurement of fair values

Purchase Consideration Valuation Technique
Fair Value
Hierarchy

Discount
Rate

Purchase
Consideration
as at Dec 31,

2016
Concordia International (a) Discounted cash flows Level 2 8% 88,000
Pinnacle earn-out (b) Discounted cash flows Level 3 15% 3,979
Pinnacle annual payments (c) Present value Level 2 15% 4,182
Focus (d) Discounted cash flows Level 3 15% 3,936
Boucher & Muir (e) Discounted cash flows Level 3 15% 806
Primegen (f) Discounted cash flows Level 3 15% 2,108
Products Acquisition (g) Discounted cash flows Level 3 15% 8,533
Total purchase consideration 111,544
Less: current portion (104,039)
Long-term portion 7,505

The valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values associated with purchase consideration 
and derivative financial instruments, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used are outlined below.

(a) As part of the consideration for the October 21, 2015 acquisition of Concordia International, the Company 
was obligated to pay the Vendors of Concordia International a maximum cash earn-out of £144 million 
(with a value at closing of $206.5 million) based on Concordia International’s future gross profit over a 
period of 12 months from October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2016. Accordingly, a contingent consideration 
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liability was recorded in the amount of £144 million, which represented its fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Purchase consideration of £72 million ($88.6 million) was paid in December 2016, which reduced the fair 
value of the purchase consideration liability. The remaining purchase consideration of £72 million ($88.6 
million), plus approximately £1.5 million ($1.85 million) in interest, was paid in February 2017. 

(b) As part of the consideration for the acquisition of Pinnacle Biologics Inc. (“Pinnacle”), the Company 
recorded a contingent consideration liability for its obligation to make additional payments to the former 
owners of Pinnacle. The liability represents the fair value of up to $5,000 of additional payments based on 
the achievement of certain milestones related to clinical trials and earn-out payments calculated as 15% of 
worldwide sales of Photofrin® in excess of $25,000 over the 10 calendar years following the Company’s 
acquisition of Pinnacle. The expected payment is determined by considering the possible scenarios of trial 
results, sales thresholds, and the amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario. 
The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration would decrease if the annual gross profit growth 
rates were lower and would also decrease if the market representative interest rate was lower.

(c) As part of the consideration for the acquisition of Pinnacle, the Company is obligated to make 10 annual 
payments of $1,000, with the first payment made on December 31, 2014. The obligation is subordinated 
and is not subject to interest. The obligation has been recorded at the present value of required payments. 
The estimated fair value would increase if the market representative interest rate was higher.

(d) On the acquisition of Concordia International, the Company assumed the Focus Pharma Holdings Limited 
purchase consideration. The valuation of the purchase consideration liability is dependent on gross profit 
thresholds for 15 months ending December 2015 and the twelve months ending December 2016, subject to 
a cap of £7 million and £4 million respectively. The expected payment is determined by considering the 
possible scenarios of gross profit threshold, receiving marketing authorizations and ensuring continuity of 
supply of the products, the amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario. 
Purchase consideration of £2 million and £12.4 million was paid in January 2016 and March 2016, 
respectively, which reduced the fair value of the purchase consideration liability. The estimated fair value 
of the contingent consideration would decrease if the annual gross profit growth rates were lower and would 
also decrease if the market representative interest rate was lower.

(e) On the acquisition of Concordia International, the Company assumed the Boucher & Muir purchase 
contingent consideration. The valuation of the purchase consideration liability is dependent on EBITDA 
thresholds for 12 months ending June 2016 and 2017, subject to a cap of Australian Dollar 3 million per 
year. The expected payment is determined by considering the possible scenarios of EBITDA threshold, the 
amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario. The estimated fair value of the 
contingent consideration would decrease if the EBITDA amounts were lower and would also decrease if 
the market representative interest rate was lower.

(f) On the acquisition of Concordia International, the Company assumed the Primegen Limited purchase 
contingent consideration. The valuation of the purchase consideration liability is dependent on revenue 
thresholds for the 12 months ending June 2016 subject to a cap of £10 million, excluding milestones for 
Nefopam revenues for  the12 months ending June 2016 which are subject to a cap of £2.5 million. The 
valuation is also dependent on approval of launch ready marketing authorizations subject to a cap of £10 
million, as well as revenue share on Nefopam equal to 25% of all sales achieved above £2.5 million for 
each of the first 3 years after launch of the product. The expected payment is determined by considering the 
possible scenarios of receiving marketing authorizations and ensuring continuity of supply of the products, 
the amount to be paid under each scenario and the probability of each scenario. Purchase consideration of 
£12.5 million was paid in the second quarter of 2016 for the approval of marketing authorizations and 
meeting certain revenue targets, as well as £10 million paid in August 2016 toward existing product sales, 
which reduced the fair value of the purchase consideration liability. The estimated fair value of the contingent 
consideration would decrease if the annual revenue growth rates were lower and marketing authorizations 
are not granted, and similarly the fair value would also decrease if the market representative interest rate 
was lower.
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(g) As part of the consideration for the Products Acquisition, the Company recorded a contingent consideration 
liability for its obligation to pay a cash earn-out if certain performance and supply targets were achieved. 
The liability represents the fair value of a cash earn-out up to a maximum of £7 million, determined by an 
EBITDA threshold for the 7 months ending January 31, 2017. The cash earn-out of £7 million was paid in 
February 2017.

The Company entered into the August 2016 Currency Swap, with an obligation to pay £296,930 over the term 
of the contract maturing on April 15, 2023, at an interest rate of 10.294%. The Company will receive USD 
$382,000 over the term of the contract maturing on April 15, 2023, at an interest rate of 10.650%. The valuation 
method used for the derivative financial instrument was a discounted cash flow regression model, which considers 
USD forward rates relative to GBP, interest rates, credit spreads and credit default rates, as well as other market 
factors. The USD to GBP exchange rate at inception of the contract on August 17, 2016 was 1.2865. The USD 
to GBP exchange rate at December 31, 2016 was 1.2305. The estimated fair value would increase or decrease 
if the market representative interest rate was lower or higher, respectively. The estimated fair value would increase 
or decrease if the USD to GBP exchange rate was higher or lower, respectively.

The Company entered into the November 2016 Currency Swap, with an obligation to pay £286,580 over the 
term of the contract maturing on April 1, 2022, at an interest rate of 9.95%. The Company will receive USD 
$350,000 over the term of the contract maturing on April 1, 2022, at an interest rate of 9.00%. The valuation 
method used for the derivative financial instrument was a discounted cash flow regression model, which considers 
USD forward rates relative to GBP, interest rates, credit spreads and credit default rates, as well as other market 
factors. The USD to GBP exchange rate at inception of the contract on November 3, 2016 was 1.2213. The USD 
to GBP exchange rate at December 31, 2016 was 1.2305. The estimated fair value would increase or decrease 
if the market representative interest rate was lower or higher, respectively. The estimated fair value would increase 
or decrease if the USD to GBP exchange rate was higher or lower, respectively.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values

The following table presents movement from the opening balance to the closing balances for Level 3 fair 
values:

Purchase
consideration

Balance as at January 1, 2015 25,108
Acquisition of Concordia International 206,490
Assumed on acquisition of Concordia International 68,984
Paid during the year (3,557)
Write-off during the year (2,452)
Recognized in consolidated statement of income (loss) (1,631)
Balance as at December 31, 2015 292,942

Balance as at January 1, 2016 292,942
Transfer to Level 2 (92,182)
Paid during the year (147,207)
Additional purchase consideration during the year (Note 5) 8,691
Recognized in consolidated statement of income (loss) (8,407)
Impact of foreign exchange (34,475)
Balance as at December 31, 2016 19,362
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Transfers between Level 3 and Level 2 occur when valuation techniques change from using unobservable inputs 
to observable inputs.

As part of the consideration for the October 21, 2015 acquisition of Concordia International, the Company was 
obligated to pay the Vendors of Concordia International a maximum cash earn-out of £144 million based on 
Concordia International’s gross profit over the 12 month period from October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2016. 
As at and prior to September 30, 2016, cash earn-out payments were valued based on internal cash flow forecasts 
for future gross profit during this 12 month period. This resulted in a Level 3 fair value due to the use of 
unobservable inputs. However, upon the completion of the 12 month period of October 1, 2015 to September 
30, 2016, an agreement was reached with the Vendors of Concordia International as to the final cash earn-out 
amount owed by the Company and therefore the amount is no longer contingent. The revised valuation technique 
uses observable inputs. Accordingly, the fair value measurement was reclassified to Level 2.

Other than described above, there were no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

22. Capital Management

The Company’s capital management objectives are to safeguard its ability to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, by ensuring it has sufficient cash resources to fund its activities, to pursue 
its commercialization efforts and to maintain its ongoing operations. The Company includes long-term debt and 
shareholders’ equity in the definition of capital. 

The below table sets forth the Company’s capital structure:

As at Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Long-term debt (Note 14) 3,707,543 3,497,258
Shareholders' Equity (377,573) 1,156,208

3,329,970 4,653,466

23. Segmented Reporting

Operating Segments
 

The Company has three reportable operating segments: Concordia North America, Concordia International and 
Orphan Drugs, as well as a Corporate cost centre. A brief description of each is as follows:

Concordia North America

The Concordia North America segment has a diversified product portfolio that focuses primarily on the United 
States pharmaceutical market. These products include, but are not limited to, Donnatal® for the treatment of 
irritable bowel syndrome; Zonegran® for the treatment of partial seizures in adults with epilepsy; Nilandron® 
for the treatment of metastatic prostate cancer; Lanoxin® for the treatment of mild to moderate heart failure and 
atrial fibrillation; and Plaquenil® for the treatment of lupus and rheumatoid arthritis. Concordia North America’s 
product portfolio consists of branded-products and authorized generic contracts. The segment’s products are 
manufactured and sold through an out-sourced production and distribution network. 

Concordia International 

Concordia International is comprised of the Concordia International group of companies acquired by Concordia 
on October 21, 2015, which consists of a diversified portfolio of branded and generic products that are sold to 
wholesalers, hospitals and pharmacies in over 90 countries. Concordia International specializes in the acquisition, 
licensing and development of off-patent prescription medicines, which may be niche, hard to make products. 
The segment’s over 200 products are manufactured and sold through an out-sourced manufacturing network and 
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marketed internationally through a combination of direct sales and local distribution relationships.  Concordia 
International mainly operates outside of the North American marketplace. 

Orphan Drugs

The Orphan Drugs segment's primary focus is its sole product Photofrin®, that has FDA approval and orphan 
drug status in respect of esophageal cancer and high-grade dysplasia in Barrett’s esophagus. In addition, 
Photofrin® is FDA approved for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. Concordia's Orphan Drug segment 
uses a third party supply chain to produce and distribute Photofrin®, except for distribution in the U.S. territory, 
which distribution is completed by an affiliate of the Company. The Company is currently focusing on the use 
of Photofrin® for the treatment of lung cancer in line with its approved indication. 

Corporate

The Corporate cost centre represents certain centralized costs including costs associated with the Company's 
head office in Canada and costs associated with being a public reporting entity.  

The following tables set forth operating income (loss), goodwill, total assets and total liabilities by reportable 
operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

Concordia
North

America
Concordia

International
Orphan

Drugs Corporate
Year ended Dec 31,

2016

Revenue 248,235 557,514 10,410 — 816,159
Cost of sales 36,294 181,239 3,669 — 221,202
Gross profit 211,941 376,275 6,741 — 594,957

Operating expenses
General and administrative 7,591 26,356 2,688 19,820 56,455
Selling and marketing 20,618 27,126 3,389 — 51,133
Research and development 6,351 24,602 9,684 — 40,637
Acquisition related,
restructuring and other 2,900 13,608 2,937 16,523 35,968
Share based compensation (38) — — 30,791 30,753
Amortization of intangible
assets 50,856 130,306 1,640 17 182,819
Impairment 877,076 255,167 — — 1,132,243
Depreciation expense 58 1,671 8 202 1,939
Change in fair value of
purchase consideration — 866 (21,289) 11,494 (8,929)
Litigation settlements 14,246 — — — 14,246
Total operating expenses 979,658 479,702 (943) 78,847 1,537,264

Operating income (loss),
continuing operations (767,717) (103,427) 7,684 (78,847) (942,307)
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Concordia
North

America
Concordia

International
Orphan

Drugs Corporate
Year ended Dec 31,

2015

Revenue 268,299 115,721 10,204 — 394,224
Cost of sales 34,425 57,949 1,920 94,294
Gross profit 233,874 57,772 8,284 — 299,930

Operating expenses
General and administrative 8,137 5,812 2,271 13,477 29,697
Selling and marketing 14,220 6,700 2,566 — 23,486
Research and development 4,894 4,232 5,866 — 14,992
Acquisition related,
restructuring and other 6,610 4,167 479 45,951 57,207
Share based compensation 176 — 257 15,765 16,198

Exchange listing expenses — — — 1,051 1,051
Amortization of intangible
assets 48,213 25,957 1,640 — 75,810
Depreciation expense 43 334 21 79 477
Change in fair value of
purchase consideration 56 — 7,334 (6,829) 561
Litigation settlements — — — — —
Total operating expenses 82,349 47,202 20,434 69,494 219,479

Operating income (loss),
continuing operations 151,525 10,570 (12,150) (69,494) 80,451

Income (loss) from continuing operations before tax includes the total Operating income (loss) from continuing 
operations above plus other income and expense which do not form part of any reportable operating segment.
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Concordia
North

America
Concordia

International
Orphan

Drugs Corporate Total
As at Dec 31, 2016

Goodwill, continuing
operations — 679,964 27,966 — 707,930

Total assets, continuing
operations 757,749 2,585,654 70,009 318,162 3,731,574

Total liabilities,
continuing operations 41,982 454,394 15,033 3,597,738 4,109,147

As at Dec 31, 2015
Goodwill, continuing
operations 3,062 793,501 27,966 — 824,529

Total assets, continuing
operations 1,694,543 3,473,160 75,571 32,516 5,275,790

Total liabilities,
continuing operations 8,600 655,564 50,620 3,411,014 4,125,798

Geographic Information

The Company has major operations in Barbados, Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom. The 
following table sets forth revenue by geographic location based on contracted entity (excluding inter-
company transactions):

For the year ended Dec 31, 2016

Barbados Canada
United 
States

United
Kingdom

All other
countries Total

Revenue 249,651 — 8,993 386,404 171,111 816,159

For the year ended Dec 31, 2015

Barbados Canada
United 
States

United
Kingdom

All other
countries Total

Revenue 269,081 — 9,422 77,594 38,127 394,224

Product Revenue by Category

Concordia North America and Orphan Drug  

2016 2015
Branded 194,475 240,330
Authorised Generics and other 64,170 38,173
Total 258,645 278,503
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Concordia International

2016 2015
Branded 192,995 43,241
Generics 364,519 72,480
Total 557,514 115,721

The following table sets forth assets and liabilities by geographic location (excluding inter-company balances 
and investments in subsidiaries):

As at Dec 31, 2016

Barbados Canada
United 
States

United
Kingdom

All other 
countries(1) Total

Current assets 118,957 317,473 13,269 101,279 163,046 714,024
Non-current assets 681,304 689 14,228 1,246,298 1,075,031 3,017,550
Total assets, continuing
operations 800,261 318,162 27,497 1,347,577 1,238,077 3,731,574

Current liabilities 44,523 129,139 2,293 95,348 151,756 423,059
Non-current liabilities 10,199 3,468,599 — 155,511 51,779 3,686,088
Total liabilities,
continuing operations 54,722 3,597,738 2,293 250,859 203,535 4,109,147

As at Dec 31, 2015

Barbados Canada
United 
States

United
Kingdom

All other 
countries(1) Total

Current assets 131,503 30,836 11,853 176,297 131,706 482,195
Non-current assets 1,611,628 1,683 14,591 2,057,300 1,108,393 4,793,595
Total assets, continuing
operations 1,743,131 32,519 26,444 2,233,597 1,240,099 5,275,790

Current liabilities 44,159 104,963 1,146 326,330 32,774 509,372
Non-current liabilities — 3,319,920 — 241,771 54,735 3,616,426
Total liabilities,
continuing operations 44,159 3,424,883 1,146 568,101 87,509 4,125,798

Notes:
(1) All other countries is comprised primarily of Australia, India, Ireland, Jersey, Netherlands and Sweden.

24. Directors and key management compensation

Compensation, consisting of salaries, bonuses, other benefits, severance and director fees to key management 
personnel and directors for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $7,928 (2015 – $7,549). 

Share based compensation expense recorded for key management and directors, for the year ended December 31, 
2016 amounted to $11,465 (2015 – $8,842). The stock based compensation for the period includes the accelerated 
vesting of stock options and RSUs held by a former officer of the Company.
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25. Nature of expenses

The nature of expenses included in cost of sales and operating expenses are as follows:

2016 2015
Production, manufacturing and distribution costs 221,202 94,294
Salaries, bonus and benefits 50,605 27,766
Sales and marketing expenses 38,431 9,418
Research and development expenses 34,411 14,992
Share-based compensation 30,753 16,198
Amortization and depreciation 184,758 76,287
Impairments 1,132,243 —
Change in fair value of purchase consideration (8,929) 561
Professional fees including acquisition and restructuring 41,899 57,207
Travel expenses 8,272 4,551
Rent and facilities 2,709 1,014
Litigation settlements 14,246 —
Other expenses 7,866 11,485
Total 1,758,466 313,773

26. Discontinued operations

In December 2015, the Company decided to wind down operations of its former Specialty Healthcare Distribution 
Division and its subsidiary Complete Medical Homecare, Inc. (“CMH”) which distributed diabetes testing 
supplies and other healthcare products. CMH was legally terminated on December 16, 2016, and consequently 
the wind up of CMH was completed in December 2016.

Net loss from the discontinued operation includes:

2016 2015
Revenue 23 7,756
Expenses 522 10,667
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations (499) (2,911)
Income tax expense (recovery) 1,102 (768)
Net loss from discontinued operations (1,601) (2,143)
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27. Non-cash working capital

Changes in non-cash working capital is comprised of:

2016 2015
Accounts receivable 12,392 (55,458)
Inventory (9,893) (6,370)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10,801 (14,738)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,380) (2,054)
Provisions (5,637) 10,930
Other liabilities (195) 155
Changes in non-cash working capital 6,088 (67,535)
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